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Dear Shareholders,
Business Partners and Customers,

In this annual report, we take a look back at a year of enor-
mous challenges for net mobile AG (net-m). In the past 2012 
financial year, we worked intensively on our profitability and 
our strategic refocus on the smartphone and tablet segment, 
in addition to the ongoing operating development of our sub-
sidiaries. Driven by the huge changes in the telecommunica-
tions market, we have had to adapt ourselves and our ser-
vices to the new conditions on the market and invest in new 
product solutions. We generated sales of EUR 126 million in 
the 2012 financial year. This marked an increase of 17 % as 
against the previous financial year. A  further milestone for 
net mobile AG in 2012 was the integration into the group of 
net-m privatbank 1891 AG and the subsequent squeeze-out. 
Thanks to its full banking licence, we can now tap the market 
for innovative mobile payment solutions. Other key areas of 
activity in the 2012 financial year were the ongoing develop-
ment of “Google Carrier Billing” (GCB) in line with the rising 
requirements of OTT players and the further internationalisa-
tion of the net-m Group. 

We are highly optimistic for the future as our cross-media 
approach means that our product portfolio boasts the right 
products and services for the booming smartphone and tab-
let market. According to BITKOM Research, the German ICT 
market will expand by a further 1.4 % to EU R  153 billion in 
2013. T hus, the I CT  market will again significantly outpace 
the economy as a whole. Thanks to the unwavering demand 
for high-quality smartphones and tablets, continuing sales 
growth is anticipated on both of these markets. 

Unit sales increases in smartphones and tablet computers 
are also firing mobile data service sales. I n 2013, these are 
expected to rise by 10 % to EUR 9.4 billion. Moreover, smart-
phone and tablet users are increasingly willing to pay for 
additional programmes – so-called apps. 38 % of users are 
already prepared to pay extra for apps. We believe that this 
more than confirms our strategy of continuing to invest in 
new and innovative products.

Furthermore, there is the growing share of full video content 
in mobile data traffic. I n particular, the rapid rise in mobile 
video use is placing ever higher demands on the flexibility 
and scalability of the underlying network infrastructure. I n 
Germany alone, mobile data traffic will increase 21-fold by 
2016. Here it is all the more important to expand mobile tele-
communication networks in Germany so that customers can 
use our “Mobile TV” application and always experience the 
best quality no matter where they are.

Given the excellent market outlook, net mobile A G is plan-
ning to continue its path of systematically focusing on smart-
phone and tablet technology, optimising m- and e-commerce 
payment methods and full video content in the 2013 financial 
year. net mobile A G will further advance its strong growth 
momentum with the full support of our major shareholder 
NTT DOCOMO in future as well. 

2012 was an important year for net mobile AG in many re-
spects – a year in which we repeatedly counted on the per-
sonal commitment, drive and talents of all our employees. We 
would like to thank everyone for this. Our thanks also go to 
the shareholders, customers and partners of net mobile AG 
for their support and confidence in the past financial year. 
Let it be said that we will continue to expand our position as a 
leading provider of mobile value-added services and payment 
solutions. We would especially like to thank our customers all 
over the world for their trust in net mobile AG and our innova-
tive products.

Let’s stay connected! 

Theodor Niehues�
Chairman of the Executive Board�
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Dear Shareholders,

All in all, net mobile A G enjoyed a positive development in 
the financial year 2012. A lthough the company is still lag-
ging behind its plans, the turnaround in revenue and result 
is pleasing. The Group’s research and development activities 
remained at a high level. 

One of the focuses of the company in 2012 was on further 
intensifying the cooperation with various Group companies 
of the NTT  DOCOMO  Group and on the full acquisition of 
net-m privatbank 1891 AG, Düsseldorf (previously Bankverein 
Werther AG). In addition, the focus on the smartphone tech-
nology was consistently continued. 

In the financial year 2012, the Supervisory Board comprised 
Mr Hajime Kii as Chairman and Mr Hiroyuki Sato as Deputy 
Chairman. The term of office of the Supervisory Board mem-
ber Mr Alexander Straub ended with the closure of the An-
nual General Meeting on 26 May 2011. At the request of the 
Executive Board of the company, M r A lexander S traub was 
appointed as member of the Supervisory Board by court or-
der dated 15 May 2013. The Supervisory Board in its complete 
composition after completion upon court order confirmed all 
Supervisory Board resolutions passed after the expiry of the 
term of office of Mr Straub, in which he participated, including 
in particular all resolutions passed in the financial year 2012 
and repeated the adoption of the respective resolutions.

The S upervisory Board performed its tasks in the financial 
year 2012 according to statutory law and the articles of asso-
ciation of the company. The Supervisory Board consulted with 
the Executive Board of the company on a regular basis with 
regard to the management of the company and supervised its 

activities. The Supervisory Board was involved in all decisions 
with fundamental importance for the company. The Executive 
Board reported to the Supervisory Board on a regular basis, 
both in writing and orally, promptly and comprehensively, 
with regard to the forecasts for the company, the develop-
ment of the day-to-day business, the strategic development 
and the current situation of the Group. Deviations from fore-
casts were explained in detail. The Executive Board discussed 
with the Supervisory Board the strategic focus of the compa-
ny. In addition, the Supervisory Board extensively discussed 
with the Executive Board the most significant transactions on 
the basis of its reports, in particular the squeeze-out of the 
minority shareholders of net-m privatbank 1891 AG as well as 
the capital increase in December 2012.

The Executive Board submitted various measures to the Super-
visory Board for approval upon which the Supervisory Board re-
solved after careful examination and consultation. The Supervisory 
Board was in particular involved in the decisions regarding the 
full acquisition of net-m privatbank 1891 AG. 

Altogether, four Supervisory Board meetings were held in the 
financial year 2012. In addition, to the extent necessary, the 
Supervisory Board took resolutions by written consent.
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Furthermore, the chairman of the Supervisory Board was, in 
addition to the Supervisory Board meetings, in regular con-
tact with the Management Board and was regularly informed 
about the current development of the business and any sig-
nificant transactions. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
discussed in separate meetings with the Executive Board the 
strategy of the company, the perspectives and the future fo-
cus on the different segments of the company.

Committees

The Supervisory Board has not installed any committees.

Key aspects of the Supervisory Board’s activity 

The turnover, profit and loss and the employee development 
of the company, the different segments and the Group, the fi-
nancial situation and the most important acquisitions and di-
vesture projects were regularly discussed in the Supervisory 
Board meetings. The Executive Board reported on a regular 
basis and comprehensively on the forecasts of the company, 
its strategic development, the day-to-day business and the 
current situation of the Group. T he S upervisory Board re-
ceived on a regular basis reports on the developments of the 
company. 

In the first Supervisory Board meeting of the financial year 
2012 on 6 February 2012, the budget for the business year 
2012 was intensively discussed. I n addition, the Supervisory 
Board resolved on the outsourcing of a small non-strategic 
platform as well as a new lease agreement for the Düsseldorf 
office that led to a relocation of the office within the city of 
Düsseldorf.

In the balance sheet Supervisory Board meeting on 14 May 
2012, the annual financial statements and the consolidated 
financial statements 2011 were extensively discussed and ap-
proved. 

Further, the S upervisory Board approved various issues in 
writing such as the consent to an increase of the credit lines 
up to a total of EUR 32 million. Furthermore, the agenda and 
the proposed resolutions for the A nnual General M eeting 
2012 were adopted by written circulation procedure.

In the Supervisory Board meeting on 9 July 2012, the  Execu-
tive Board presented the current situation of the company 
and discussed present and future strategic challenges with 
the S upervisory Board. Further, the S upervisory Board ap-
proved a participation of net-m privatbank 1891 A G (previ-
ously Bankverein Werther AG) in Sigma Bank Malta.

On 19 July 2012, the Supervisory Board approved to initiate a 
squeeze-out at net-m privatbank 1891 AG, Düsseldorf, by writ-
ten circulation procedure. 

The Executive Board then informed the Supervisory Board in 
the meeting on 26 September 2012 extensively on the appro-
priate cash compensation pursuant to section 327b para. 1 
sentence 1 of the German Stock Corporation Act, which it in-
tended to determine for the transfer of the shares of the mi-
nority shareholders of net-m privatbank 1891 AG to net mobile 
AG as the main shareholder. In this context, the Supervisory 
Board reviewed in particular the external evaluation report 
drawn up for the determination of the cash compensation.
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Finally, in December 2012 the S upervisory Board approved 
the issue of 218,229 new shares of net mobile AG to DOCOMO 
Deutschland GmbH in the context of a capital increase using 
parts of the Authorised Capital of the company, excluding the 
statutory subscription rights of the shareholders, due to which 
the company generated liquid funds of EUR 1,707,003.91.

Intensive review of the financial statements of net 
mobile AG and the group financial statements 2012

KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft as auditors elect-
ed by the Annual General Meeting audited the annual financial 
statements for the financial year 2012 and the management 
report of net mobile AG as of 31 December 2012 and the con-
solidated financial statements for the financial year 2012 and 
the group management report as of 31 December 2012. This 
review has not led to any objections and unqualified opinions 
have been issued by the auditors. The consolidated financial 
statements and the group report were prepared on the basis 
of the international accounting standards (IFRS) as they ap-
ply in the EU and in accordance with additionally applicable 
commercial law regulations pursuant to section 315a of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB). The annual financial state-
ments were prepared in accordance with the regulations of 
the German Commercial Code. T he auditors performed the 
audit according to and in compliance with the German stan-
dards of the I nstitute of P ublic A uditors in Germany (IDW) 
for orderly audits. The described presentations and the au-
diting report of KPMG A G Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
were made available to the Supervisory Board members for 
their review first in draft form and later again in finalised and 
signed versions in a timely manner. T he presentations and 
the auditing reports of the auditors in draft form were inten-
sively discussed in the meeting of the Supervisory Board on 

2 April 2013, in which Mr Robert Kuntz and Mr Carsten Nölgen 
of KPMG A G Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft participated. 
The auditors informed the Supervisory Board that there were 
no circumstances that might give rise to a conflict of interest 
and that no other services apart from their audit of the finan-
cial statements had been performed. The auditors reported on 
the main results of the audit, the review of the internal con-
trol system and the risk management system and they came 
to the conclusion that such systems do not have significant 
weaknesses. T he E xecutive Board explained in this meet-
ing the annual financial statements of net mobile A G and 
the consolidated financial statements and the existing risk 
management system. In addition, the auditors explained the 
scope, the focus and the costs of the audit, answered ques-
tions and were available to provide additional information.

After its own thorough examination, the Supervisory Board 
did not have any objections against the annual financial state-
ments or the consolidated financial statements or the respec-
tive management reports each in their respective finalised 
versions and concurred with the audit result of the auditors 
after presentation of the signed auditing reports along with 
audit certificates. On May 30 May 2013, the Supervisory Board 
approved the annual financial statements and the consolidat-
ed financial statements prepared by the Executive Board by 
way of a written resolution procedure. The annual financial 
statements are thus adopted.

Controlled entity report

For the financial year 2012, the Executive Board has prepared 
a report on relationships with affiliated companies (controlled 
entity report). The auditos, KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsge-
sellschaft, have reviewed the controlled entity report, issued 

6

annual report 201 2



a written statement about the findings of the review and 
issued the following unqualified opinion:

“On the basis of our diligent examination and judgement, we 
hereby confirm that:

�1.	 the factual statements in such report are accurate;

2.	�the consideration paid by the company for the transactions 
specified in the report was not unreasonably high.”

The controlled entity report and the audit report were made 
available to the Supervisory Board members first in draft form 
and later again in finalised and signed versions in a timely 
manner and were intensively discussed in the meeting of the 
Supervisory Board on 2 April 2013 and were independently ex-
amined by the Supervisory Board. The auditors were present 
in the discussion of the Supervisory Board on the controlled 
entity report, and reported on the main results of the audit. 
Based on its own review, the Supervisory Board had no objec-
tions regarding the final declaration of the Executive Board in 
the controlled entity report, and no objections against the con-
trolled entity report in its final version as a whole. By way of a 
written resolution procedure on 30 May 2013, the Supervisory 
Board therefore concurred with the findings of the audit of the 
controlled entity report by the auditor.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the members of 
the E xecutive Board, the employees and the works council 
of net mobile AG and all Group companies for their work and 
efforts. They contributed once more to a successful year of 
net mobile AG.

For the Supervisory Board

Hajime Kii �
Chairman

Tokyo and Düsseldorf, 30 May 2013
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Group management report 
for the period from 
1 January to 31 December 2012

A)	��MA CROECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT /�
GENERAL ECONOMIC CONDITIONS

Sovereign debt crisis continues to dominate in 2012 / 
Germany remains on growth path�

Steady growth in Germany would be unthinkable without 
growth in Europe. Germany is both the anchor of stability and 
the growth driver within the European Union. This applies for 
its stable monetary and financial regime, its public finances 
and its willingness to implement reforms. The German federal 
government will further strengthen the fundamental growth 
forces and create the conditions for a continuous process 
of positive economic development in Germany. T he frame-
work for this remain the successful principles of the social 
market economy. T he growth forces in Germany are intact 
and people are benefiting from the upturn in various ways. 
The domestic economy is increasingly becoming the pillar of 
economic growth. T his reduces the country’s susceptibility 
to external risks, and hence is advantageous for Germany’s 
trading partners.

Economic activity in Germany saw a return to the level prior 
to the economic and financial crisis of spring 2008, mean-
ing that the post-crisis catch-up process has been even more 
dynamic than the German federal government forecast one 
year ago. The upturn was extremely strong, including com-
pared with the international peer group. However, the level 
of indebtedness of a number of industrialised nations has led 
to considerable uncertainty on the capital markets. This also 
had a tangible impact on the outlook for the German econo-
my, with growth slowing as a result. I n 2012, price-adjusted 
gross domestic product (GDP) increased by 0.7 % (1). According 
to the International Monetary Fund (IMF), Germany is expect-
ed to see GDP growth of 0.9 % in 2013 (2). 

The IMF has lowered its global growth forecasts and now ex-
pects the global economy to grow by just 3.6 % (2) in the cur-
rent year. According to the IM F, this less positive outlook is 
due in particular to the uncertainty affecting the markets. The 
crisis in the euro zone and the political turbulence in the USA 
need to be tackled in order to prevent a substantial downturn 

in global growth. Growth in the US economy remains weak at 
around 2 % (3). In terms of the economic outlook, it is impor-
tant that decisive political action is taken to stabilise confi-
dence in the euro zone and the USA. 

Japan has enjoyed economic growth as a result of the re-
construction efforts following the earthquake. Although this 
growth slowed in 2013, a return to stronger economic expan-
sion is expected in the long term. Growth in Asia has declined 
slightly but remains strong compared with the rest of the 
world. India is suffering from a downturn in investment, while 
Brazil is making every effort to counteract the economic 
slowdown. The IMF cites average growth rates of 5.3 % (2012) 
and 5.6 % (2013) for the emerging economies (4). The forecast 
for I ndia in particular has been lowered significantly, while 
the forecast for China has only been cut slightly.

Two-thirds of German high-tech companies (65 %) recorded 
higher sales in the third quarter (5). “Although the debt crisis 
in Europe and the strained situation on the financial markets 
have left their mark on the ICT markets, the industry remains 
remarkably stable compared with the economy as a whole,” 
commented BITKOM CEO Dr. Bernhard Rohleder.

German ICT market grows by 2.8 % in 2012�

According to forecasts by the German Federal Association for 
Information Technology, Telecommunications and New Media 
(BITKOM), the German market for information and communi-
cations technology (ICT) will record growth of 2.8 % (6) in 2012, 
thereby generating total sales of EUR 152 billion. In its previ-
ous forecast in spring 2012, BITKOM stated that it expected 
the ICT market to grow by just 1.6 %. “The large number of in-
novations, from new tablet computers through to smart grids, 
is leading to strong demand in the ICT market. The positive 
trend among BITKOM companies is having a stabilising effect 
on the economy as a whole,” commented BITKOM president 
Prof. Dieter Kempf. The assessment of the market is based on 
the latest forecasts by the European Information Technology 
Observatory (EITO).
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In the telecommunications sector, BITKOM  is forecasting 
strong sales growth of 3.4 % to a total of EUR 66.4 billion (6). 
One of the reasons for this development is the sustained 
boom in smartphone sales. Smartphone sales in Germany in-
creased by 45.7 % to EUR 7.9 billion (7), thereby accounting for 
93 % of the total mobile phone market (EUR 8.5 billion). This 
meant that more smartphones than feature phones were sold 
in Germany, and smartphones now make up seven out of ten 
mobile phones sold.

�
3.2 million tablet computers were sold �
in Germany in 2012�

http://www.bitkom.org/de/presse/30739_73736.aspx

The spread of smartphones increased significantly in 2012. 
According to BITKOM, 38 % (8) of all German citizens over the 
age of 14 own a smartphone.

The figure at the start of 2012 was 34 %. Two-thirds of those 
under 30 years of age now own a smartphone, an increase 
of 14 %age points since the start of the year. According to a 
BITKOM survey, around 89 % of all Germans over the age of 
14 use a mobile phone, whether for work or privately. Mobile 
telephony is also enjoying strong growth among senior citi-
zens. A BITKOM survey clearly shows that two-thirds (65 %) 
of all Germans over 60 years of age owned a mobile phone in 
2011, whereas this figure increased to three-quarters (76 %) 
in 2012 (8).

Around 23 million smartphones were sold �
in Germany in 2012

http://www.bitkom.org/de/presse/30739_73193.aspx

According to forecasts by the market research institute EITO, 
around 23  million (9) smartphones were sold in Germany in 
2012, an increase of 43 % compared with the previous year. 
“Only” 16 million smartphones were sold in 2011. Around 70 % 
of all mobile phones sold in 2012 were smartphones. Accord-
ing to BITKOM, standard mobile phones without touchscreens 
will largely disappear over the next two years, with their mar-
ket share declining to around 10 %. Smartphones are avail-
able in various price and performance categories and are 
increasingly superseding conventional mobile phones. The av-
erage price for a smartphone in Germany is currently EUR 342.

The shake-up on the mobile phone market becomes even 
clearer when looking at revenue development. In 2012, smart-
phones alone generated sales of EUR 7.9 billion, thereby ac-
counting for 93 % of the total mobile phone market (EUR 
8.5 billion). Towards the end of the last decade, the German 
mobile phone market stagnated at an annual sales volume of 
around EUR 4 billion until smartphones and the accompany-
ing expansion of the mobile broadband network gave a boost 
to innovation (9).

Forecasts suggest that the upward trend in the tablet market 
will continue. A total of 3.2 million tablet computers were sold 
in 2012, an increase of 52 % as against the previous year (10). 
Revenue also increased, with tablet sales in Germany amount-
ing to EUR 1.6 billion, up 41 % on the previous year (6).
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In addition to smartphones, most tablet PCs also have wire-
less I nternet access through a mobile phone connection. 
These high-quality devices are operated by a touch-sensitive 
screen, which allows for the use of mobile I nternet applica-
tions, navigation services or games. One in every eight Ger-
mans (13 %) (10) already uses a tablet computer. This represents 
around 9.1 million people. “Tablet computers have quickly es-
tablished themselves on the market since the launch of the 
first commercially successful devices in 2010,” commented 
BITKOM president Prof. Dieter Kempf. According to a BITKOM 
survey, 15 % of all men have tablet devices compared with a 
figure of just 10 % for women. T ablets are most commonly 
used by people between 30 and 44 years of age: one in every 
five people in this category (20 %) owns a tablet computer. 
The figure for 18- to 29-year-olds is 10 %, while tablet owner-
ship among those over 60 years of age is just 6 %.

All in all, the mobile telecommunications sector is currently 
in a phase of rapid change due to the new smartphone and 
tablet devices. Until recently, content and services for mobile 
phones were still selected and provided by the mobile phone 
operators. H owever, this market has now been made much 
more flexible by the availability of applications (apps) and ser-
vices from third-party providers on the operating systems of 
modern devices. In the last few years, this new focus in the 
mobile telecommunications sector has generated billions in 
sales. Where there is consumer interest, new products and 
services programmed as “apps” can enjoy significant mar-
ket penetration and high revenues within a few weeks and 
months. 

More than 15 million (11) Germans now have the small grammes 
installed on their mobile phone or smartphone, compared 
with just 10 million users in 2011. The owners of compatible 
devices have an average of 17 apps installed on their phone. 
“The app market is only just beginning to establish itself and 
has huge upside potential,” notes René Schuster, member of 
the BITKOM Presiding Committee.

Apple customers have downloaded a total of 40 billion ap-
plications from the iTunes S tore (12), with 20 billion of these 
downloads coming in 2012 alone. This underlines the extent 
to which app development has taken off. Apple reached the 
milestone of 25 billion app downloads in March 2012. Since 
2008, users of Google Play have downloaded 25 billion apps 
from the Play Store. Around 10 billion of these programmes 
have been downloaded since May 2012 (13).

As previously, development in the area of telecommunica-
tions services was extremely varied in the year under review. 
Revenue from mobile data services increased by 13 % (6) to 
EUR 8.5 billion, whereas revenue from mobile calls fell by 4 % 
to EUR 12.8 billion. Landline “Voice Services”  saw a further 
downturn, with revenue falling by as much as 7.5 % to EUR 
11.3 billion. O ne of the main reasons for this development 
is the stringent intervention on the part of the government 
regulatory bodies. 

The encouraging sales figures are providing further impetus 
for the employment market. According to the latest figures, 
a total of 876,000 people were employed in the ICT industry 
in 2011, with a further increase of 1.2 % to 886,000 forecast 
for 2012. This meant that ICT companies created 10,000 new 
jobs in 2012, thereby contributing not only to the stabilisation 
of the economy, but also to the expansion of the employment 
market (6).

For 2013, BITKOM is forecasting further growth in the German 
ICT market of 1.6 % to EUR 154.3 billion. The telecommunica-
tions market is set to increase by 0.5 % to EUR 66.7 billion in 
the same period (6). 

http://www.bitkom.org/de/presse/30739_72915.aspx

Despite the European financial and banking crisis, the global 
ICT market remains on a stable growth path. Global sales are 
expected to increase by 5.1 % (14) to EUR 2.57 trillion. There are 
substantial regional differences in terms of the development 
of the individual markets. A ccording to the EITO , sales are 
booming in the emerging economies but largely stagnating 
in Western Europe. In the industrialised nations, the trend to-
wards mobile data usage is generating additional revenue in 
the telecommunications sector.
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The emerging economies will account for more than a quar-
ter (27 %) of global ICT demand this year (15), and this figure 
will rise to almost half by 2020. In 2012, the Chinese market 
grew by around 12 % to EUR 220 billion, thereby replacing Ja-
pan as the world’s second-largest demand market for ICT (15).

“Mobile P ayment” is also becoming more significant in the 
context of this development. With “Mobile P ayment”, the 
amount to be paid is charged via smartphone. A ccording 
to an international study by GfK Custom Research, German 
consumers are generally open to the concept of mobile pay-
ment. Around 56 % (16) of German consumers consider such 
payment solutions to be appealing. However, there are signifi-
cant differences between the individual countries. Consum-
ers in China (82 %) and Brazil (73 %) are far less enthused 
by the idea of mobile payment. However, it should be noted 
that extensive payment systems using credit cards and bank 
cards are considerably less well established in these coun-
tries. Gartner’s “Mobile P ayment, Worldwide, 2009–2016” 
forecasts a market volume of almost 620 billion dollars by 
2016 (17).

A differentiated view of the situation is also necessary in Ger-
many, where men are more interested in “Mobile Payment” 
than women. A ge is also an important factor: according to 
a fK study from 2011, 75 % (18) of 16- to 24-year-olds consider 
such payment solutions to be appealing, whereas the figure 
for people between 25 and 54 years of age is around 58 %. 

The high technological requirements of the necessary soft-
ware platforms and the strict requirements of regulatory 
bodies mean that only highly specialised, financially strong 
companies can access the market. 

In particular, internationally oriented corporations – like the 
net mobile Group – will probably be able to establish them-
selves as experts on a long-term basis. As a result of a high 
level of investment in technology and structure – notably 
including the integration of net-m privatbank 1891 AG – the 
net mobile Group has created an excellent basis from which 
to benefit from developments and trends in the area of 
mobile payments as a globally operating company. The new, 
platform-based sales structures for attractive mobile services 
mean that providers now also have the opportunity to launch 
a wide range of services and products on the market indepen-
dently of mobile network operators.
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B)	P osition of the Group

1.	� Development of the net mobile AG Group /
Course of business

The net mobile Group is a leading international full-service 
provider of mobile and interactive value-added services and 
payment solutions. It also offers products in the area of mobile 
content, as well as landline telephony and service numbers. 
The company was formed in November 2000 and is regarded 
as an innovation leader in its market. Its full managed service 
approach encompasses consultation, design, applications, 
content, billing, transport and technical implementation. The 
net mobile AG also provides apps for smartphones and com-
plete solutions as a white label app store provider, including 
app aggregation, in-app payment and store payment. A s a 
partner to all the major music labels and the owners of rights 
for the film, television and games industry, the net mobile 
Group also ensures full content and royalty management.

Its more than 500 customers worldwide include national and 
global mobile telecommunications providers, media compa-
nies, portals, branded companies and TV channels for which 
it provides end-to-end mobile interactive TV services. 

The net mobile Group consists of net mobile AG and the sub-
sidiaries net-m privatbank 1891 A G, Düsseldorf, net mobile 
minick GmbH, H amburg, First T elecom GmbH, First Com-
munication GmbH, SN T  elecom GmbH, all Frankfurt / Main, 
net mobile V erwaltungs A G, net mobile S chweiz A G, both 
Zürich / Switzerland, net mobile U K Ltd, London / United 
Kingdom, net mobile M inick S pain S LU, M adrid / Spain, and 
GOLDkiwi Media S.A., Diegem / Belgium.

The acquisition in full of net-m privatbank 1891 AG, Düssel-
dorf (formerly Bankverein Werther AG, Bielefeld) was imple-
mented as planned in the 2012 financial year. At the General 
Meeting on 21 N ovember  2012, the shareholders of net-m 
privatbank 1891 A G approved the squeeze-out at a price of 
EUR 6.49 per share. The transaction was entered in the com-
mercial register at the start of the 2013 financial year. A c-
cordingly, minority interests are still reported in net mobile’s 
consolidated financial statements for 2012 in connection with 
this acquisition.

The Executive Board is satisfied with the development in the 
past financial year. E arnings improved significantly against 
the previous year; however, the planned growth in sales 
was not quite achieved in full. This was primarily due to the 
self-imposed restriction on supporting our partners’ busi-
ness models in anticipation of the tightening of regulatory 
controls, as well as the regulatory restrictions on market-
ing opportunities. The continued growth and the significant 
improvement in the gross profit margin are encouraging, al-
though the latter was achieved in part due to non-recurring 
income of around EUR 5.2 million.

The chosen path of systematically orienting the company to-
wards the challenges of tomorrow, primarily by addressing 
the new opportunities presented by smartphones, is also sup-
ported by the main shareholder.

At the time of writing, the Group’s development and its com-
plete focus on new technologies are not yet complete and 
will continue to impact on earnings over the coming finan-
cial years. Earnings will also significantly be affected by the 
planned adjustment to the organisational structure in the 
2013 financial year.

2.	S ituation report

2.1.	 Results of operations�

All in all, the Group enjoyed positive development. S ales 
increased by kEUR  18,116 or around 17 % to kEUR  124,764. 
This was driven in particular by the areas “Digital Enabling“ 
and “Online & TV“. net-m privatbank 1891 A G contributed 
sales of kEUR 2,529 in the 2012 financial year (previous year: 
kEUR 601).

In the year under review, non-recurring transactions had a 
positive effect, accounting for a sales volume of EUR 5.2 mil-
lion (previous year: EU R  0). T hese transactions are licence 
transactions that are generally accompanied by only a low 
cost of materials. Gross margin increased from 15.2 % to 
19.1 %.
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In 2012, the “Payment & Interactive” segment recorded a de-
terioration in sales of kEUR  504 to kEUR  73,555. S egment 
earnings fell substantially by kEUR 2,357 to kEUR 2,043, al-
though it should be noted that extraordinary income of EUR 
3.4 million was reported in the 2011 financial year due to the 
remeasurement of shares in net-m privatbank 1891 AG.

The “Digital Enabling” segment improved its sales significant-
ly by kEUR 16,169 to kEUR 21,729. Segment earnings also rose 
sharply by kEUR 8,225 to kEUR 59. In the previous year, earn-
ings were adversely affected by write-downs in particular.

The “Voice” segment also recorded sales growth of 
kEUR 2,927 to kEUR  19,347 in the 2012 financial year. Seg-
ment earnings improved by kEUR 1,049 year-on-year but re-
mained negative at kEUR 219. 

The “Online & TV” segment, which is reported separately for 
the first time, generated sales of kEUR 10,133 and strong posi-
tive segment earnings of kEUR 2,206 in 2012. In the previous 
year, the sales allocated to this segment were primarily re-
ported in the “Payment & Interactive” segment.

Staff costs increased by kEUR 4,653 to kEUR 18,930. In line 
with this, own development work capitalised also rose by 
kEUR  2,713, from kEUR  3,871 to kEUR  6,584. Depreciation 
and amortisation expense declined by kEUR  5,109 year-on-
year; this was largely due to the write-downs that impacted 
earnings in the amount of kEUR 5,501 in the previous year. 
Adjusted for this amount, depreciation and amortisation ex-
pense increased slightly by kEUR 392.

Other operating expenses increased by kEUR  539 to total 
kEUR 11,612. One of the main cost drivers was consulting and 
audit expenses, which rose by kEUR 353. This was primarily 
due to increased expenses in connection with the acquisition 
of the subsidiary net-m privatbank 1891 AG and the squeeze-
out that was implemented in order to achieve this. 

Compared with the previous year, the income and expenses 
of net-m privatbank 1891 AG are included in consolidation for 
the full year for the first time. This explains the significant 
year-on-year increase in expenses, among other things. 

Net financial income improved by kEUR 527 year-on-year to 
kEUR 847, This is mainly due to the decrease of foreign cur-
rency losses to kEUR 56 (previous year: kEUR 476) as well as 
the extraordinary depreciation in the previous year which was 
necessary for the carriying amount on the shares in invest-
ment companies and loans to these investment companies 
amounting to kEUR 305. Additionally, the interest result de-
teriorated to a result of kEUR 790 (previous year: kEUR 601).

Accordingly, the consolidated net loss for the year improved 
significantly by kEUR 9,539 to kEUR 962. This development 
was driven in particular by income from non-recurring trans-
actions totalling around kEUR 5.2 in the year under review 
and the write-downs that were required to be recognised in 
the previous year in the amount of EUR 5.5 million, as well as 
costs of kEUR 650 relating to the acquisition of net-m privat-
bank 1891 AG in the previous year.

2.2.	Net assets�

The net mobile Group reported another significant increase 
in its total assets of kEUR 25,413 to kEUR 156,604.

In the 2012 financial year, the company maintained its high 
level of investment in property, plant and equipment and in-
tangible assets. T otal investments excluding investments in 
financial assets amounted to kEUR  19,985 (previous year: 
kEUR  9,123). I nvestments in financial assets amounted to 
kEUR  2,128 (previous year: kEUR 2,392). 

Advance payments primarily involve costs for the outstanding 
implementation of new products and additional components 
of the SAP platform that was established in 2010. A platform 
right has been sold to a subsidiary of our associate 8 E le-
ments Ltd, Hong Kong. As the purchase price of kEUR 650 is 
due on a long-term basis, the corresponding receivable was 
reported as a financial asset. Further assets were sold to our 
associate H 2O E ntertainment GmbH. T hese were also pro-
vided to the company as a long-term loan and are reported in 
financial assets.

net mobile AG has now increased its equity interest in its 
subsidiary net-m privatbank 1891 AG to 100 %. The squeeze-
out applied for by the company was approved by the General 
Meeting of net-m privatbank 1891 A G on 21 N ovember  and 
entered in the commercial register at the start of the 2013 
financial year. T he purchase price for the squeeze-out was 
EUR 6.49 per share. O pposition proceedings against the 
squeeze-out price of EUR 6.49 have been filed in court; the 
impact of these proceedings cannot currently be estimated.
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In the year under review, net mobile AG resolved to issue 
218,229 shares as part of a capital increase. The shares were 
subscribed by DOCOMO  Deutschland GmbH  at a purchase 
price of EUR 7.79 per share, meaning that the issue price was 
higher than the current market price and the average mar-
ket price for the last ten days prior to the announcement of 
the capital increase. The subscribed capital of net mobile AG 
will increase from kEUR 12,229,987 to kEUR 12,448,207 as 
a result. As the capital increase only came into force with 
its entry in the commercial register in 2013, there was no 
change in subscribed capital compared with the previous 
year.

Total equity therefore amounted to kEUR  54,968 (previous 
year: kEUR 56,298). This includes a consolidated net loss of 
kEUR 962 (previous year: kEUR 10,501). The equity ratio de-
clined from 42.9 % to 35.1 % as a result of the significant in-
crease in total assets. In addition to substantial investments, 
the rise in total assets was due to the increase in loans to af-
filiated companies and the higher level of customer deposits 
at net-m privatbank 1891 AG. 

2.3.	Financial position�

net mobile AG ended the 2012 financial year with cash and 
cash equivalents of kEUR 30,827 (previous year: kEUR 25,162). 
In addition, liabilities to banks amounted to kEUR  28,246 
(previous year: kEUR 7,534). A significant proportion of the 
cash and cash equivalents are held by our subsidiary net-m 
privatbank 1891 AG and hence can only be used by the rest of 
the net mobile Group to a limited extent. To finance its busi-
ness operations, net mobile AG has credit facilities with a to-
tal volume of EUR 32 million, EUR 9 million of which has been 
extended with a term of one year. T he commitment of the 
lenders is based on the condition that net mobile AG is part 
of the NTT  DOCOMO  Group. I n order to finance its further 
development, net mobile AG has secured increased credit 
commitments totalling EU R 40  million for the 2013 finan-
cial year, EUR 10.5 million of which has been extended with 
a term of one year. net mobile AG is included in the global 
cash management system of the NTT DOCOMO Group with 
effect from 1 April 2013. As part of global cash management, 
net mobile AG has access to a shareholder loan in the amount 
of EUR 40 million; however, this loan may be terminated at 
three months’ notice. On 24 April 2013, DOCOMO Deutschland 
GmbH  has assured net mobile AG in written form to finan-
cially support the Group through global cash management. 
The support is valid for a period of one year from the date 
of the preparation of the financial statements as of 31 De-
cember 2012, under the condition that DOCOMO Deutschland 
GmbH will remain the main shareholder of net mobile AG.

The resulting intercompany invoicing also means a reduction 
in interest costs.

The net mobile Group closed the 2012 financial year with net 
cash flow from operating activities of kEUR 4,983 (previous 
year: kEUR 437). Net cash flow from investing activities was 
negative again and amounted to kEUR 20,924 (previous year: 
kEUR 8,050), while net cash flow from financing activities 
was positive and amounted to kEUR 21,600 (previous year: 
kEUR 30,727), largely as a result of borrowings. All in all, the 
Group’s cash and cash equivalents increased by kEUR 5,665 
as against the previous year.

3.	I nternal organisation�

Section 91 of the German Stock Corporation Act requires the 
Executive Board to adopt suitable organisational measures, 
particularly in terms of establishing a monitoring system, to 
enable developments threatening the continued existence 
of the company to be detected at an early stage. However, 
a one-sided focus on risks cannot do justice to the business 
of net mobile AG, as its business risk entails both risks and 
opportunities. 

Each year, net mobile AG prepares planning on a monthly ba-
sis in accordance with the experience gained by the product 
and segment managers. Deviations are identified by means 
of a regular monthly variance analysis and discussed with the 
managers. Management of liquidity is carried out by means of 
long-term liquidity planning and daily monitoring of liquidity 
flows. A systematic controlling process, which was expanded 
further with the launch of the SAP system, is used to calculate 
key figures on a daily basis and monitor and discuss changes. 
The technical systems of net mobile AG are monitored and 
serviced by a team that is available 24 hours a day and sev-
en days a week. Deviations and irregularities are monitored 
and identified using automatic processes. In order to further 
improve the transparency of its economic development, the 
company decided to introduce an SAP E  RP  system in 2011. 
The implementation of the basic modules is now complete. 
The company is currently pressing ahead with the further 
development of the management information system based 
on the BusinessObjects software solution with the necessary 
resources. The aim of this expansion is to increase transpar-
ency and improve the Executive Board’s options for control-
ling the company. T he additional information that this will 
generate will strengthen the ability of the E xecutive Board 
to recognise risks at an early stage and to use opportunities 
more systematically.
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4.	 Research and development�

All in all, the company’s research and development activities 
remained at a high level in the year under review. I n-house 
development costs exceeded the EU R-6-million barrier for 
the first time (previous year: EUR 3.8 million). The net mobile 
Group believes that its specific business model means that 
development activities should be conducted primarily on an 
in-house basis, as this generates the greatest value added for 
the company and its shareholders. I n addition to internally 
developed software, the acquisition of customer rights and 
third-party billing functions remain central to the net mobile 
Group’s economic success. With its business model, net mobile 
can use its generally strong financial position to generate ad-
ditional income. A total of 96 people were employed in the 
area of research and development as of 31 December  2012 
(previous year: 72).

The intelligent billing system was systematically developed 
and expanded to include additional functions. Further devel-
opments included the billing functions of voice applications 
and the expansion of the statistics tool. Another focal point 
was the connection of alternative payment methods, such 
as credit cards and wallets. The development of the “Voice” 
platform concentrated on increasing service quality and on 
solutions for business clients. Substantial investments were 
also made in improving blacklisting with a view to generating 
optimal income for the company and its customers. 

Development activities in the area of “Digital Distribution” fo-
cused on the further development of video and moving image 
applications. This related in particular to the “Mobile TV“ so-
lution, where corresponding applications were developed for 
the Android and IOS operating systems. A streaming service 
for video chat applications was also realised. One particular 
focal point was the optimisation of portals and the underly-
ing systems for smartphone technology. Considerable efforts 
were made to adjust the existing portals to meet the new re-
quirements.

Development activities in the area of “Transport and Platform 
Services” focused on expanding international connections. 
In Spain, connections to a local mobile phone operator were 
optimised further. Preparations were made for additional di-
rect connections in other countries, while the provision of 
payment activities via third parties was also expanded. The 
area of “Google Carrier Billing” has established itself as a 
further area of activity. Contracts were concluded with addi-
tional mobile network operators and the first customers went 
live (including O 2 Germany, T elefonica in S pain and S FA  in 
France). Significant expansions in this area were also realised 
for NTT DOCOMO.

5.	O utlook�

For the first time, the net mobile Group is forecasting a slight 
downturn in business activity in the 2013 financial year. This is 
primarily due to the company’s focus on optimising profitabil-
ity and the increased regulatory intervention in the Group’s 
core markets. I n addition, the E xecutive Board is currently 
evaluating potential adjustments at a strategic and process 
level.

In light of the company’s overall orientation, the manage-
ment is forecasting negative earnings amounting to a few mil-
lion euros and reduced sales for 2013 as a whole. Following the 
completion of its reorientation, the company expects to return 
to higher sales and positive earnings in 2014.
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C)	�SI GNIFICANT RISKS AND OPPORTUNI-
TIES OF FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

As an international company, the Group is subject to a large 
number of opportunities and risks that are inherent to all of 
its business activities. For this reason, effective risk manage-
ment is an important factor in safeguarding the company’s 
future in the long term. 

There were the following changes in the risk structure com-
pared with the previous year. Ongoing change in the markets 
means that it is important to maintain a high level of innova-
tive strength and to ensure that these innovations can be fi-
nanced accordingly. Business liability insurance has also been 
concluded for selected customers.

One aspect that remains highly relevant for the risk struc-
ture is the fact that the Group’s financing is dependent to a 
large extent on net mobile AG’s inclusion in the NTT DOCOMO 
Group and on the continued provision of existing and new 
loans in future. With regard to the intensive integration of 
net mobile AG and its subsidiaries within the NTT DOCOMO 
Group, the management does not currently foresee any 
acute risk that could jeopardise the continued existence of 
the net mobile Group. H owever, the future development of 
the company will depend on its ability to generate sustain-
able positive earnings and cash flows in future. I f the NTT 
DOCOMO  Group fails to provide financial support in future 
and sufficient funding cannot be obtained from banks, loans 
from affiliated companies or similar measures, the contin-
ued existence of the company could be jeopardised due to a 
strained liquidity situation.

The acquisition by the NTT DOCOMO Group also provides the 
company with extensive opportunities to enter new markets 
that it has not previously served. All in all, the continued de-
velopment of the Group is fundamentally dependent on the 
strategy of the NTT DOCOMO Group.

1.	 Risks of future development

1.1.	T echnical risks�

The increasing transaction volume and rapid technological 
change require an ongoing adjustment of the performance 
of the technical systems. I n view of the complexity of the 
technical systems, a breakdown of the systems or parts of the 
systems for a prolonged period cannot be completely ruled 
out. Moreover, the maintenance of technical performance de-
pends on the financial feasibility of the required investments. 
The net mobile Group counters this operational risk with 
measures aimed at enhancing system stability. Furthermore, 
extensive monitoring is carried out during ongoing operation. 
In order to enhance product safety, new products are tested 
in live operation using a test system without impairing the 
systems in doing so. I nsurance to protect against the total 
breakdown of the systems has been taken out for selected 
customers, but not for all products and customer groups.

1.2.	S ettlement risks

Owing to the high level of complexity involved, the settlement 
of copyrights and payment transactions poses operational 
risks as a result of licence fees being recognised at levels that 
are too high or too low. This would lead to potential claims on 
the part of rights owners. Copyrights are particularly impor-
tant in the music sector. For example, the net mobile Group 
provides music downloads and ring tones and processes pay-
ments. The complexity of these transactions also gives rise to 
settlement risks of the kind whereby the misinterpretation of 
transaction codes results in payments being made to market-
ing partners and customers for which no income is generated. 
The net mobile Group counters this risk with a strong focus 
on processing, dual control and an SAP-based ERP system. 
Furthermore, each copyright owner can track the course of 
all transactions using a transparent data warehouse system 
from the time an order is placed to when the licensing fees 
are paid.
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1.3.	P olitical risks

Legal risks resulting from changes in the political environ-
ment have increased further. I n Germany, for instance, the 
Federal Network Agency and the Federal Ministry for Food, 
Agriculture and Consumer P rotection have significantly 
stepped up their activities aimed at preventing illegal adver-
tising in recent years. Furthermore, carriers have again ex-
panded the catalogue of requirements concerning the moni-
toring of mobile payments.

In order to increase consumer confidence in the new services 
and counter a further tightening of the legal guidelines, the 
mobile telecommunications sector drew up a Code of Con-
duct for Value-added Services on 5 July 2006. As a volun-
tary commitment, this Code of Conduct defines industry-wide 
guidelines for the provision of value-added services via SMS, 
MMS or online. Mobile phone operators, service and content 
providers and mediators jointly drew up and implemented 
the guidelines by October 2006. The signatories of the Code 
of Conduct, which include the four German mobile network 
operators in addition to net mobile AG, therefore far exceed 
the consumer protection standards presently required by the 
legislator. If, however, further legal intervention and hence a 
further restriction of business volume should arise, then this 
could lead to a (potentially significant) reduction in market 
volume.

1.4.	 Risk of default

The net mobile Group is primarily confronted with a certain 
risk of default in terms of direct business with end customers. 
The management tries to reduce this risk by means of a black-
listing system that continuously monitors the user behaviour 
of end customers and limits the maximum capacity for using 
the services of the net mobile Group on the basis of previ-
ous experience with said end customers. For the collection 
of open receivables, the management makes use of profes-
sional collection institutions, which are continually checked 
in a benchmarking process. In the other business areas, the 
risk in many cases exists to a lesser extent as the business 
model of the net mobile Group generally allows for a surplus 
of the accounts payable to customers in relation to the ac-
counts receivable. Nevertheless, default on major individual 
receivables may have a considerable impact on earnings.

1.5.	 Dependency on a few major customers

The net mobile Group generates a large share of its revenues 
via cooperation partners. These partners support us in mar-
keting our products. Some of the existing customers are of 
relatively major importance for the Company, which gives 
rise to certain dependencies. A s is customary with compa-
rable companies, the majority of sales are achieved with a 
relatively small number of customers. H owever, in order to 
counter the risk of being too greatly dependent on individual 
partners, the net mobile Group is improving its cooperation 
with the other cooperation partners and expanding its cus-
tomer base.

1.6.	 Currency risks

Owing to its increasing internationalisation over the past 
few years, e.g. via the majority interest in net mobile AG held 
by DOCOMO  Deutschland GmbH  and the acquisition of the 
minick Group, the net mobile Group has built up extensive 
business relations abroad. Receivables, liabilities and liquid 
funds not denominated in the Company’s functional currency 
(euro) pose currency risks. Larger amounts from interna-
tional goods and services transactions, primarily with foreign 
Group companies, e.g. in Switzerland, Japan, the USA and the 
UK, are traded in foreign currencies.

1.7.	 Dependence on the major shareholder

As a result of its financing structure, net mobile AG is depen-
dent on its major shareholder NTT DOCOMO INC., since the 
credit agreements and overdraft facilities negotiated with 
banks require the Company to belong to the NTT DOCOMO 
Group. The Company takes this into account by close consul-
tation on all decisions with the representatives of the major 
shareholder in the Supervisory Board. According to the Ex-
ecutive Board, capital measures for improving liquidity and 
financing the acquisition of net-m privatbank 1891 AG are ex-
amples of the long-term support underlying net mobile AG. 

Effective from 1 April 2013, the net mobile Group is integrat-
ed into the NTT DOCOMO Group’s global cash management 
system. Because of this, the net mobile Group has access to 
credit facilities in the mid-tens of millions. On 24 April 2013, 
DOCOMO  Deutschland GmbH  has assured net mobile AG in 
written form to financially support the Group through global 
cash management. T he support is valid for a period of one 
year from the date of the preparation of the financial state-
ments as of 31 December  2012, under the condition that 
DOCOMO Deutschland GmbH will remain the main sharehold-
er of net mobile AG. Management views this integration as a 
further indication of the NTT  DOCOMO  Group’s support for 
the net mobile Group.
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1.8.	 General banking risks

The consolidation of net-m privatbank 1891 AG into the Group 
gives rise to banking risks that could influence the results of 
operations. net-m privatbank 1891 AG has set up a risk man-
agement system that complies with the requirements of the 
supervisory authorities.

Risk-bearing capacity:
net-m privatbank 1891 AG assesses the suitability of its inter-
nal capital to cover current and future risks primarily from a 
profit and loss perspective. Risk cover comprises commercial 
law equity, undisclosed reserves and charges and the forecast 
net profit for the year.

The aim of the statement of risk-bearing capacity is to ascer-
tain the extent to which the Bank is able to bear unexpected 
losses from risks. This is demonstrated by ongoing compari-
son of quantified risk potential and available risk cover. Risk-
bearing capacity exists when all (significant) risks are covered 
on an ongoing basis by appropriate risk cover. 

From the risk cover it derives the bank’s overall risk limit, 
which is distributed to counterparty risk, market price risk 
(including interest rate risk), operating risks and the liquidity 
risk. Other risks are considered insignificant. 

The measurement of risk cover against potential risks en-
sures that sufficient liable equity is available in accordance 
with banking supervisory agreements to maintain operating 
business even if these risks are incurred. Risk-bearing capac-
ity was maintained at all times in all scenarios. I n order to 
ensure the reasonableness of the bank’s overall risk limit, de-
rived from the calculated risk cover amount and its business 
objectives, the risk cover amount is checked through risk con-
trolling during the course of the year.

Also in the past financial year, adherence to the regulatory re-
quirements regarding the reasonableness of equity reserves 
was secured.

Counterparty risks:
The risk that a business partner is not able to meet all or part 
of its contractually agreed commitments represents a signifi-
cant risk for net-m privatbank 1891 AG.

The targets and planning outlined in the business strategy 
are implemented for the credit business through the credit 
risk strategy, which is part of the bank’s credit risk handbook, 
as well as the regulations for the credit business processes, 
rating procedures, and for the reporting and monitoring of 
the credit business. T he credit risk strategy represents the 
qualitative guidelines for the bank’s credit risk policy and, as 
a result, supplements and operationalises the business and 
risk strategy. 

The bank’s credit handbook contains the structure of the 
credit business, the processes for lending decisions, risk mon-
itoring and the expected development of the credit portfolio. 
The bank’s risk handbook regulates the risk-bearing capacity 
and the calculation of counterparty risks, the introduction of 
new products, and the risk-driven condition structure of the 
Bank. 

Decisions about approval of loans are taken on the basis of 
clearly defined competencies. T hese correspond with the 
amount of the credit commitment being approved. 

Early identification of the counterparty risk is primarily en-
sured by monitoring the customer’s payment history. T he 
small, manageable size of the net-m privatbank 1891 AG cred-
it portfolio and the short information and decision channels 
allow for borrowers to be considered on an individual case 
basis. Further measures are regularly introduced where nec-
essary. Four times a year, the credit portfolio is analysed in 
an extensive credit risk report and provided to the decision-
makers and the Supervisory Board. 

In the quarterly assessment of risk-bearing capacity, the 
expected loss and credit value at risk are calculated for the 
credit portfolio. 

An automatic dunning procedure is in place. Conspicuous 
loans are monitored specially in an intensive monitoring sys-
tem.

Appropriate issuer and counterparty limits exist to reduce 
investment risks. There are no derivative counterparty posi-
tions. net-m privatbank 1891 AG tries to minimise these risks 
through broad distribution of risk and restrictive lending.
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Market price risks:
Market price risks are the danger of losses from changing 
market prices. These risks include foreign exchange risks, in-
terest rate risks and currency risks. The interest rate risk aris-
ing from bank-wide changes to payment dates represents the 
most significant market price risk for the bank. There were no 
trading book positions according to section 1a KWG (Kredit-
wesengesetz – German Banking Act).

The interest rate risk includes interest risks arising from vari-
ous fixed interest rates in customer and own business. This 
also includes the measurement of own business. The bank’s 
foreign currency items are closed items. As a result, it is con-
sidered that there is no market price risk in connection with 
foreign currency items. 

The interest rate risk at bank level is regularly assessed using 
a simulation calculation on the basis of item-specific inter-
est adjustment parameters. The simulation calculation takes 
into account the impact on net interest income of current 
and expiring transactions, and the effects of interest rates 
on the bank’s result in accordance with commercial law. For 
this purpose, all the bank’s balance-sheet and non-balance-
sheet items which affect the interest rate risk are taken into 
account. Interest rate changes are measured on the basis of 
the shifts and turns in the yield curve. The shifts in the inter-
est rate curve increase or decrease the current interest rate 
level by the reported basis points. In addition, the impact on 
earnings of the scenarios of the DGRV (Federation for Ger-
man Cooperatives), which stem from current regulatory re-
quirements, have been included in the calculations.

Liquidity risks:
The liquidity risk refers to the current or future danger of in-
solvency or higher refinancing costs. The liquidity manage-
ment by net-m privatbank 1891 AG incorporates all measures, 
procedures and processes that secure liquidity at all times 
and limit the liquidity risk. 

The development of liquidity is continuously monitored. The 
Bank ensures constant solvency using planning and simula-
tion calculations of inflows and outflows of funds. A daily li-
quidity forecast is produced for short-term purposes. Incom-
ing and outgoing funds in accounts are managed daily with 
the aim of maintaining an optimal level. With regard to struc-
tural liquidity, future liquidity requirements are set against 
available liquidity coverage. An operating risk limit is estab-
lished to utilise the liquidity cover potential. 

The primary cause of liquidity risks are changes in customer 
behaviour, which can lead to unexpected outflows. I nflows 
and outflows of funds are therefore monitored regularly. Free 
funds are invested primarily in liquid tradable papers and 
bank deposits. The current and future liquidity situation is re-
corded, analysed and reported to the Executive Board daily in 
the context of the internal reporting system. 

The development of key liquidity indicators in accordance 
with the Liquidity Directive is monitored monthly. The mini-
mum regulatory requirements were fulfilled without excep-
tion in 2012.

20

annual report 201 2



Operational risks:
Operational risks include the possibility of losses due to insuf-
ficient systems and controls, as a result of human and techni-
cal failure, management error and external influences, such 
as natural disasters.

Based on the definition of the Basel Committee on Banking 
Supervision, operational risks can be defined as the “danger 
of direct or indirect losses arising as a result of the inadequa-
cy or failure of internal procedures, people and systems or 
as a result of external events”. Legal risks are also included 
in the risk report. Damage to property can only be consid-
ered operational risks if the damage incurred is clearly and 
exclusively due to the failure of internal procedures, people 
or systems.

Operational risks include other operating risks, unexpected 
negative developments, legal risks, and investment risks. net-
m privatbank 1891 AG separates these risks into damage risks 
and income risks. For the damage risk, the damage database 
is used. 

In order to limit operational risks due to damage risks, dam-
age is identified and assessed decentrally in individual areas. 
Each case of damage is recorded. Damage above a particular 
size is reported immediately to the Executive Board. Damag-
es are collected at a bank-wide level quarterly and reported 
in a damage report, which informs the Executive Board about 
the current state of operational damage. I n addition, a risk 
inventory is carried out once a year in which operational risks 
are recorded. 

The procedures outlined in the organisational guidelines are 
regularly revised and monitored by the internal audit depart-
ment. T he documentation of the audit results in the corre-
sponding reports is used to eliminate any deficits that have 
been identified.

Data backup in the IT area takes place on an ongoing basis 
at the external data centre mandated by the bank. The com-
puter-based systems were functioning at all times during the 
reporting year. 

In order to avoid legal risks, all legal obligations and the le-
gal and decision-making capability of the counterparty are 
closely monitored. Where possible, standardised contracts 
in line with industry standards are used. Where necessary, in 
individual cases, additional legal advice is sought from recog-
nised legal firms with a relevant specialism.

2.	O pportunities of future development

2.1.	I nternationalisation

The internationalisation strategy successfully implemented 
for years represents a major opportunity for the Group. As 
a result, the Group plans to press ahead further with its ex-
pansion into foreign markets in the future. The takeover by 
DOCOMO Deutschland GmbH serves to facilitate and support 
the internationalisation strategy significantly. Furthermore, 
the Group is considering further consolidating and expanding 
its market position by means of acquisitions and investments. 
However, these steps will be implemented only if the Execu-
tive Board expects them to result in a clear improvement in 
the results of operations combined with high added value for 
the net mobile Group. 

2.2.	Cooperation

Cooperation with – in part multinational – media, brand ar-
ticle and entertainment corporations such as Universal Mu-
sic Deutschland and U niversal I nternational serves to open 
up major opportunities for the net mobile Group to achieve 
strong growth internationally. The services and applications 
already introduced very successfully in the German market 
can be speedily implemented and marketed internationally. 
This also represents a significant opportunity arising from 
the merger with DOCOMO Deutschland GmbH. The music por-
tal in particular, in addition to the games portal and the adult 
entertainment platform currently being developed, is offering 
the Group considerable potential for an international rollout 
through partners and investment companies.
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2.3.	Positive economies of scale

Gross income growth and profitability are closely linked to 
each other in the business model of the net mobile Group. For 
technological reasons, positive economies of scale arise with 
an expansion of the business volume. T hese economies of 
scale are reflected in increased profit contributions. As long 
as no increase in fixed costs for the further development of 
the systems is necessary, the percentage of gross profit made 
up of selling and administrative expenses decreases with in-
creasing business volume so that the margins rise sharply.

2.4.	�Paid use of the billing systems by third parties

There are also business opportunities for the net mobile 
Group in the highly complex copyright billing systems. In re-
cent years, the Company has invested heavily in the transpar-
ency of its billing systems and developed a special position in 
the market. Additional sources of income can arise through 
the paid use of these systems by third parties. Competitors 
can also have their content billing processed by the net mobile 
Group, for example. In the past financial year, the joint activi-
ties with the music industry were stepped up further.

2.5.	Developed platforms 

In the opinion of the Executive Board, the platform developed 
for music and games has given the Group a significant com-
petitive advantage. The net mobile Group is one of the few 
providers in the German market to possess all the necessary 
rights for the marketing of real tones and full-track music. 
Furthermore, due to the acquisition of the E-Plus games por-
tal, the net mobile Group has unique access to the content in-
dustry with regard to games for mobile telephones. Both the 
music and mobile game portals and the adult entertainment 
platform can be marketed as white label solutions. By market-
ing these platforms locally and internationally, the company 
can participate both in services and the sales proceeds gen-
erated. The platform enables the Company to make a swift 
entry into new markets with attractive growth prospects.

2.6.	�Further business opportunities due to the 
acquisition of net-m privatbank 1891 AG

The acquisition of net-m privatbank 1891 A G has increased 
the business opportunities for the net mobile Group. S ince 
it is now possible to offer regulated banking transactions to 
net mobile Group customers, the opportunity has arisen to 
create new business areas, particularly in the “Payment & In-
teractive” segment.

2.7.	�O pportunities arising from the majority interest�
of DOCOMO Deutschland GmbH

The takeover of the net mobile Group by DOCOMO Deutschland 
GmbH in 2009 serves to strengthen the joint position in the 
international mobile communications business. The close co-
operation resulting from this should entail further significant 
growth impetus for both companies. DOCOMO  Deutschland 
GmbH’s strong position in the field of innovative mobile ser-
vices will pose an advantage for the net mobile Group in the 
expansion of its service portfolio. As well as global alliances, 
DOCOMO  Deutschland GmbH  will also contribute synergies 
from the provision of services to companies from a diverse 
range of sectors. T ogether, we will jointly strive to provide 
mobile value-added services across the globe. We continue 
to expect higher business volume, less expensive financing 
opportunities, synergies and economies of scale.
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D.	�S ignificant events after the end 
of the financial year

The capital increase resolved and contributed in Decem-
ber 2012 was entered into the commercial register in 2013. 
The squeeze-out at the subsidiary net-m privatbank 1891 AG 
was likewise entered into the commercial register in 2013. 
From 1 April 2013, the net mobile Group is integrated into the 
NTT DOCOMO Group’s global cash management system.

E.	� CLOSING DECLARATION BY THE 
EXECUTIVE BOARD IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH SECTION 312 (3) AKTG

As the Executive Board of net mobile AG, we hereby declare 
that based on the circumstances that were known to us at 
the time of performance or omission of transactions subject 
to reporting requirements, no legal transactions detrimental 
to the Company have been conducted and no measures have 
been undertaken or omitted to the detriment of the Company. 

Düsseldorf, 17 May 2013

Theodor Niehues 		 Frank Hartmann 		

Dieter Plassmann 	E dgar Schnorpfeil 

Kai Markus Kulas 
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GAMES, Applications



Consolidated STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2012

in EUR Note* 2012 2011

Sales (19) 124,764,335.14 106,648,072.20

Thereof bank business 2,529,198.79 601,163.81

Cost of sales (19) – 100,948,527.12 – 90,426,301.38

Thereof bank business – 1,523,824.32 – 260,571.20

Gross margin 23,815,808.02 16,221,770.82

Selling costs (20) – 5,026,805.81 – 5,288,316.38

Research and development costs (21) – 6,882,720.98 – 4,129,347.69

General administration costs (22) – 1,707,155.05 – 6,339,260.68

EBITDA before valuation adjustments 10,199,126.18 464,846.07

Valuation adjustments (23) – 446,774.90 – 1,952,332.51

Valuation financial assets (24) 0.00 3,423,389.30

EBITDA after valuation adjustments 9,752,351.28 1,935,902.86

Amortisation and depreciation (25) – 9,023,330.19 – 14,132,603.03

Other expenses (26) – 626,540.87 – 409,902.92

EBIT 102,480.22 – 12,606,603.09

Interest income (27) 50,111.21 193,659.47

Interest expenses (27) – 839,722.76 – 795,534.82

Financial income (28) 0.00 0.00

Financial expenses (28) – 60,918.51 – 776,788.47

Results from associated companies (29) 3,527.67 4,766.40

Financial result – 847,002.39 – 1,373,897.42

Consolidated net loss before income taxes – 744,522.17 – 13,980,500.51

Income taxes (30) – 217,867.28 3,479,290.59

Consolidated net loss including non-controlling interests – 962,389.45 – 10,501,209.92

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the Company – 920,839.66 – 10,504,773.80

Non-controlling interests – 41,549.79 3,563.88

Deviations resulting from currency volatility	 – 69,416.95 68,198.50

Unrealised gains (losses) from assets held for sale

Changes of unrealised gains and losses 0.00 – 62,093.91

Deferred tax liabilities 0.00 – 1,006.47

0.00 – 63,100.38

Defined-benefit plan actuarial losses	

Change in unrealised actuarial losses – 162,450.83 0.00

Deferred tax assets 13,568.25 0.00

– 148,882.58 0.00

Other comprehensive income – 218,299.53 5,098.12

Total comprehensive income – 1,180,688.98 – 10,496,111.80

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company – 1,139,139.19 – 10,499,675.68

Non-controlling interests – 41,549.79 3,563.88

* The notes are related to the explanations in section 4 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Note* 2012 2011

Earnings per share (31)

Numerator

Consolidated net loss including non-controlling interests in EUR – 962,389.45 – 10,501,209.92

Denominator

Number of shares outstanding at the beginning of the fiscal year 12,229,978 8,466,910

Number of new shares issued in fiscal year 0 3,763,068

Number of shares outstanding at the end of the year 12,229,978 12,229,978

Average number of shares outstanding 12,229,978 9,407,677

Adjusted number of shares outstanding 12,229,978 9,407,677

Undiluted and diluted result per share in EUR – 0.08 – 1.12

* The notes are related to the explanations in section 4 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ASSETS

in EUR Note* 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

A.	 Non-current Assets

I.	P roperty, plant and equipment (1) 3,432,280.79 3,034,492.81

II.	 Intangible assets (2) 29,199,818.76 19,120,701.43

III.	 Goodwill (3) 30,961,694.22 31,101,113.75

IV.	N on-current financial assets (4) 9,487,687.47 7,928,016.86

V.	 Deferred tax assets (5) 4,169,166.53 4,239,357.76

77,250,647.77 65,423,682.61

B.	 Current assets

I.	 Inventories (6) 1,445,745.95 145,472.20

II.	T rade receivables (7) 31,966,243.84 26,854,744.50

III.	O ther financial assets (8) 14,156,946.21 11,104,037.74

IV.	O ther non-financial assets (8) 876,549.28 1,451,882.62

V.	T ax assets (9) 80,300.20 94,082.60

VI.	 Cash and cash equivalents (10) 30,827,412.98 25,162,087.25

79,353,198.46 64,812,306.91

C.	 Assets to be disposed (11) 0.00 955,450.55

156,603,846.23 131,191,440.07

* The notes are related to the explanations in section 4 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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LIABILITIES

in EUR Note* 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

A.	 Equity (12)

I.	 Shared capital 12,229,978.00 12,229,978.00

II.	 Capital reserves 43,169,769.47 53,889,278.92

III.	 Consolidated year results – 920,839.66 – 10,501,209.92

IV.	 Minority interests 489,088.29 680,327.66

 54,967,996.10 56,298,374.66

 

B.	 Non-current liabilities

I.	 Financial liabilities (13) 5,622,877.53 13,586,880.15

II.	P ension obligations (14) 1,142,222.00 922,260.00

 6,765,099.53 14,509,140.15

 

C.	 Current liabilities

I.	P rovisions (15) 689,950.00 759,534.02

II.	�A ccounts payable (16) 29,855,019.84 26,321,470.89

III.	L iabilities to banks (17) 28,246,467.29 7,533,965.91

IV.	O ther financial liabilities (18) 36,079,313.47 25,768,954.44

94,870,750.60 60,383,925.26

156,603,846.23 131,191,440.07

* The notes are related to the explanations in section 4 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Attributable to owners of the Company

in EUR

Shared 
capital 

  

Capital 
reserves  

 Accumulated 
deficit  

Currency  
translation 

reserve 

Other  
reserve 

Total 
 

Consolidated  
net loss  

Non-controlling 
interests  

Equity  
total  

As of 1 Jan. 2012 12,229,978.00 72,339,105.48 – 18,397,574.32 – 52,252.24 0.00 53,889,278.92 – 10,501,209.92 680,327.66 56,298,374.66

Rebooking prior-year loss 0.00 0.00 – 10,501,209.92 0.00 0.00 – 10,501,209.92 10,501,209.92 0.00 0.00

Group profit or loss 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 – 920,839.66 – 41,549.79 – 962,389.45

Minority interests 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 – 149,689.58 – 149,689.58

Currency profit / loss 0.00 0.00 0.00 – 69,416.95 0.00 – 69,416.95 0.00 0.00 – 69,416.95

Actuarial gain / loss not yet recognised 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 – 148,882.58 – 148,882.58 0.00 0.00 – 148,882.58

As of 31 Dec. 2012 12,229,978.00 72,339,105.48 – 28,898,784.24 – 121,669.19 – 148,882.58 43,169,769.47 – 920,839.66 489,088.29 54,967,996.10

Attributable to owners of the Company

in EUR

Shared 
capital  

 

Capital 
reserves  

 

 Accumulated 
deficit  

 

Currency 
translation 

reserve  

Revaluation 
reserve  

 

Total 
 
 

Consolidated 
net loss 

(prior year:  
net income) 

Non-controlling 
interests  

 

Equity 
total  

 

As of 1 Jan. 2011 8,466,910.00 49,409,568.23 – 19,280,374.95 – 120,450.74 63,100.38 30,071,842.92 882,800.63 0.00 39,421,553.55

Rebooking prior-year profit 0.00 0.00 882,800.63 0.00 0.00 882,800.63 – 882,800.63 0.00 0.00

Capital from the issuance of new shares 3,763,068.00 22,954,714.80 0.00 0.00 0.00 22,954,714.80 0.00 0.00 26,717,782.80

Issuance costs – 25,177.55 0.00 0.00 0.00 – 25,177.55 0.00 0.00 – 25,177.55

Group profit or Loss 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 – 10,501,209.92 0.00 – 10,501,209.92

Minority interests 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 680,327.66 680,327.66

Currency profit / loss 0.00 0.00 0.00 68,198.50 0.00 68,198.50 0.00 0.00 68,198.50

Unrealised gains (losses) from assets held for sale 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 – 63,100.38 – 63,100.38 0.00 0.00 – 63,100.38

As of 31 Dec. 2011 12,229,978.00 72,339,105.48 – 18,397,574.32 – 52,252.24 0.00 53,889,278.92 – 10,501,209.92 680,327.66 56,298,374.66

Consolidated statement of changes in equity as of 31 December 2012

Consolidated statement of changes in equity as of 31 December 2011
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Attributable to owners of the Company

in EUR

Shared 
capital 

  

Capital 
reserves  

 Accumulated 
deficit  

Currency  
translation 

reserve 

Other  
reserve 

Total 
 

Consolidated  
net loss  

Non-controlling 
interests  

Equity  
total  

As of 1 Jan. 2012 12,229,978.00 72,339,105.48 – 18,397,574.32 – 52,252.24 0.00 53,889,278.92 – 10,501,209.92 680,327.66 56,298,374.66

Rebooking prior-year loss 0.00 0.00 – 10,501,209.92 0.00 0.00 – 10,501,209.92 10,501,209.92 0.00 0.00

Group profit or loss 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 – 920,839.66 – 41,549.79 – 962,389.45

Minority interests 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 – 149,689.58 – 149,689.58

Currency profit / loss 0.00 0.00 0.00 – 69,416.95 0.00 – 69,416.95 0.00 0.00 – 69,416.95

Actuarial gain / loss not yet recognised 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 – 148,882.58 – 148,882.58 0.00 0.00 – 148,882.58

As of 31 Dec. 2012 12,229,978.00 72,339,105.48 – 28,898,784.24 – 121,669.19 – 148,882.58 43,169,769.47 – 920,839.66 489,088.29 54,967,996.10

Attributable to owners of the Company

in EUR

Shared 
capital  

 

Capital 
reserves  

 

 Accumulated 
deficit  

 

Currency 
translation 

reserve  

Revaluation 
reserve  

 

Total 
 
 

Consolidated 
net loss 

(prior year:  
net income) 

Non-controlling 
interests  

 

Equity 
total  

 

As of 1 Jan. 2011 8,466,910.00 49,409,568.23 – 19,280,374.95 – 120,450.74 63,100.38 30,071,842.92 882,800.63 0.00 39,421,553.55

Rebooking prior-year profit 0.00 0.00 882,800.63 0.00 0.00 882,800.63 – 882,800.63 0.00 0.00

Capital from the issuance of new shares 3,763,068.00 22,954,714.80 0.00 0.00 0.00 22,954,714.80 0.00 0.00 26,717,782.80

Issuance costs – 25,177.55 0.00 0.00 0.00 – 25,177.55 0.00 0.00 – 25,177.55

Group profit or Loss 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 – 10,501,209.92 0.00 – 10,501,209.92

Minority interests 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 680,327.66 680,327.66

Currency profit / loss 0.00 0.00 0.00 68,198.50 0.00 68,198.50 0.00 0.00 68,198.50

Unrealised gains (losses) from assets held for sale 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 – 63,100.38 – 63,100.38 0.00 0.00 – 63,100.38

As of 31 Dec. 2011 12,229,978.00 72,339,105.48 – 18,397,574.32 – 52,252.24 0.00 53,889,278.92 – 10,501,209.92 680,327.66 56,298,374.66
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Acquisition and production cost Depreciation and amortisation Book value

in EUR

Balance 
as of  

1 Jan. 2012

Additions 
 

Disposals 
 

IFRS 5 
in 

Transfers 
 

Consolidation 
 

Exchange 
differences 

Balance 
as of  

31 Dec. 2012

Balance 
as of  

1 Jan. 2012

Additions 
 

IAS 36 
in 

Write-ups 
from over-

depreciation

Disposals 
 

IFRS 5
in 

Transfers 
 

Exchange 
differences 

Balance 
as of 

31 Dec. 2012

Balance 
as of 

31 Dec. 2012

Balance  
as of

31 Dec. 2011

I.	 Tangible assets 

	P roperty, plant and equipment 112,380.70 266,013.54 – 56,176.35 0.00 0.00 0.00 239.35 322,457.24 84,055.23 24,081.11 0.00 0.00 – 56,176.35 0.00 0.00 87.85 52,047.84 270,409.40 28,325.47

	�T echnical equipment  
and machinery 4,794,523.68 598,309.24 – 2,546,486.55 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,957.90 2,848,304.27 3,850,788.97 463,384.74 0.00 0.00 – 2,524,366.81 0.00 0.00 1,705.14 1,791,512.04 1,056,792.23 943,734.71

	�O ther equipment,  
office furniture and equipment 1,460,859.19 667,074.46 – 374,485.45 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,711.01 1,755,159.21 925,828.19 233,271.37 0.00 0.00 – 351,926.68 0.00 0.00 1,166.35 808,339.23 946,819.98 535,031.00

	P repayments 1,527,401.63 996,155.97 – 101,131.89 0.00 – 1,265,184.23 0.00 1,017.70 1,158,259.18 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,158,259.18 1,527,401.63

7,895,165.20 2,527,553.21 – 3,078,280.24 0.00 – 1,265,184.23 0.00 4,925.96 6,084,179.90 4,860,672.39 720,737.22 0.00 0.00 – 2,932,469.84 0.00 0.00 2,959.34 2,651,899.11 3,432,280.79 3,034,492.81

II.	 Intangible assets 

	� Industry property rights  
and licences 29,561,154.13 9,267,029.34 – 2,732,846.13 895,000.00 0.00 0.00 – 6,435.51 36,983,901.83 18,321,171.82 5,033,342.44 0.00 0.00 – 2,386,069.44 888,133.36 0.00 – 310.86 21,856,267.32 15,127,634.51 11,239,982.31

	 Software 2,442,549.86 1,605,736.65 – 4,004,038.61 2,651,017.40 1,265,184.23 0.00 946.43 3,961,395.96 1,647,853.81 602,236.02 0.00 0.00 – 3,978,342.24 2,620,499.59 0.00 235.68 892,482.86 3,068,913.10 794,696.05

	 Self-developed software 13,534,619.88 6,584,262.59 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 20,118,882.47 6,448,596.81 2,667,014.51 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 9,115,611.32 11,003,271.15 7,086,023.07

45,538,323.87 17,457,028.58 – 6,736,884.74 3,546,017.40 1,265,184.23 0.00 – 5,489.08 61,064,180.26 26,417,622.44 8,302,592.97 0.00 0.00 – 6,364,411.68 3,508,632.95 0.00 – 75.18 31,864,361.50 29,199,818.76 19,120,701.43

III.	� Goodwill

	 Goodwill 31,101,113.75 26,506.11 – 165,925.64 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 30,961,694.22 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 30,961,694.22 31,101,113.75

IV.	 At-equity investments

	� Financial assets carried using 
the equity method 75,439.51 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 75,439.51 75,439.51 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 75,439.51 0.00 0.00

V.	 Non-current financial assets 

	 Shares in associated companies 742,263.33 15,980.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 758,243.33 315,904.65 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 315,904.65 442,338.68 426,358.68

	�O ther  long-term financial assets 7,991,970.11 2,111,775.65 – 568,085.04 0.00 0.00 0.00 23,162.49 9,558,823.21 490,311.93 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 23,162.49 513,474.42 9,045,348.79 7,501,658.18

8,734,233.44 2,127,755.65 – 568,085.04 0.00 0.00 0.00 23,162.49 10,317,066.54 806,216.58 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 23,162.49 829,379.07 9,487,687.47 7,928,016.86

93,344,275.77 22,138,843.55 – 10,549,175.66 3,546,017.40 0.00 0.00 22,599.37 108,502,560.43 32,159,950.92 9,023,330.19 0.00 0.00 – 9,296,881.52 3,508,632.95 0.00 26,046.65 35,421,079.19 73,081,481.24 61,184,324.85
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Acquisition and production cost Depreciation and amortisation Book value

in EUR

Balance 
as of  

1 Jan. 2012

Additions 
 

Disposals 
 

IFRS 5 
in 

Transfers 
 

Consolidation 
 

Exchange 
differences 

Balance 
as of  

31 Dec. 2012

Balance 
as of  

1 Jan. 2012

Additions 
 

IAS 36 
in 

Write-ups 
from over-

depreciation

Disposals 
 

IFRS 5
in 

Transfers 
 

Exchange 
differences 

Balance 
as of 

31 Dec. 2012

Balance 
as of 

31 Dec. 2012

Balance  
as of

31 Dec. 2011

I.	 Tangible assets 

	P roperty, plant and equipment 112,380.70 266,013.54 – 56,176.35 0.00 0.00 0.00 239.35 322,457.24 84,055.23 24,081.11 0.00 0.00 – 56,176.35 0.00 0.00 87.85 52,047.84 270,409.40 28,325.47

	�T echnical equipment  
and machinery 4,794,523.68 598,309.24 – 2,546,486.55 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,957.90 2,848,304.27 3,850,788.97 463,384.74 0.00 0.00 – 2,524,366.81 0.00 0.00 1,705.14 1,791,512.04 1,056,792.23 943,734.71

	�O ther equipment,  
office furniture and equipment 1,460,859.19 667,074.46 – 374,485.45 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,711.01 1,755,159.21 925,828.19 233,271.37 0.00 0.00 – 351,926.68 0.00 0.00 1,166.35 808,339.23 946,819.98 535,031.00

	P repayments 1,527,401.63 996,155.97 – 101,131.89 0.00 – 1,265,184.23 0.00 1,017.70 1,158,259.18 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,158,259.18 1,527,401.63

7,895,165.20 2,527,553.21 – 3,078,280.24 0.00 – 1,265,184.23 0.00 4,925.96 6,084,179.90 4,860,672.39 720,737.22 0.00 0.00 – 2,932,469.84 0.00 0.00 2,959.34 2,651,899.11 3,432,280.79 3,034,492.81

II.	 Intangible assets 

	� Industry property rights  
and licences 29,561,154.13 9,267,029.34 – 2,732,846.13 895,000.00 0.00 0.00 – 6,435.51 36,983,901.83 18,321,171.82 5,033,342.44 0.00 0.00 – 2,386,069.44 888,133.36 0.00 – 310.86 21,856,267.32 15,127,634.51 11,239,982.31

	 Software 2,442,549.86 1,605,736.65 – 4,004,038.61 2,651,017.40 1,265,184.23 0.00 946.43 3,961,395.96 1,647,853.81 602,236.02 0.00 0.00 – 3,978,342.24 2,620,499.59 0.00 235.68 892,482.86 3,068,913.10 794,696.05

	 Self-developed software 13,534,619.88 6,584,262.59 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 20,118,882.47 6,448,596.81 2,667,014.51 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 9,115,611.32 11,003,271.15 7,086,023.07

45,538,323.87 17,457,028.58 – 6,736,884.74 3,546,017.40 1,265,184.23 0.00 – 5,489.08 61,064,180.26 26,417,622.44 8,302,592.97 0.00 0.00 – 6,364,411.68 3,508,632.95 0.00 – 75.18 31,864,361.50 29,199,818.76 19,120,701.43

III.	� Goodwill

	 Goodwill 31,101,113.75 26,506.11 – 165,925.64 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 30,961,694.22 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 30,961,694.22 31,101,113.75

IV.	 At-equity investments

	� Financial assets carried using 
the equity method 75,439.51 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 75,439.51 75,439.51 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 75,439.51 0.00 0.00

V.	 Non-current financial assets 

	 Shares in associated companies 742,263.33 15,980.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 758,243.33 315,904.65 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 315,904.65 442,338.68 426,358.68

	�O ther  long-term financial assets 7,991,970.11 2,111,775.65 – 568,085.04 0.00 0.00 0.00 23,162.49 9,558,823.21 490,311.93 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 23,162.49 513,474.42 9,045,348.79 7,501,658.18

8,734,233.44 2,127,755.65 – 568,085.04 0.00 0.00 0.00 23,162.49 10,317,066.54 806,216.58 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 23,162.49 829,379.07 9,487,687.47 7,928,016.86

93,344,275.77 22,138,843.55 – 10,549,175.66 3,546,017.40 0.00 0.00 22,599.37 108,502,560.43 32,159,950.92 9,023,330.19 0.00 0.00 – 9,296,881.52 3,508,632.95 0.00 26,046.65 35,421,079.19 73,081,481.24 61,184,324.85
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Acquisition and production cost Depreciation and amortisation Bookvalue

in EUR

Balance  
as of 

1 Jan. 2012

Additions 
 

Disposals 
 

IFRS 5 
downs 

Transfers 
 

Consolidation 
 

Exchange  
differences  

Balance 
as of 

31 Dec. 2011

Balance 
as of 

1 Jan. 2011

Additions 
 

IAS 36 
In 

Write-ups 
from over-

depreciation

Disposals 
 

IFRS 5 
downs 

Transfers 
 

Exchange 
differences 

Balance 
as of 

31 Dec. 2011

Balance 
as of 

31 Dec. 2011

Stand 
Balance as of 
31 Dec. 2010

I.	 Tangible assets 

	P roperty, plant and equipment 59,000.71 35,133.25 0.00 0.00 16,708.74 0.00 1,538.00 112,380.70 52,951.71 14,476.54 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 16,363.55 263.43 84,055.23 28,325.47 6,049.00

	�T echnical equipment  
and machinery 3,041,950.68 305,240.53 0.00 0.00 1,441,123.78 0.00 6,208.69 4,794,523.68 2,239,912.57 398,458.24 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,208,897.41 3,520.75 3,850,788.97 943,734.71 802,038.11

	�O ther equipment,  
office furniture and equipment 2,386,290.70 502,388.59 – 4,726.76 0.00 – 1,457,832.52 31,573.73 3,165.45 1,460,859.19 1,838,773.54 311,398.43 0.00 0.00 – 1,022.58 0.00 – 1,225,260.96 1,939.76 925,828.19 535,031.00 547,517.16

	P repayments 411,730.99 1,115,162.26 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 508.38 1,527,401.63 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,527,401.63 411,730.99

5,898,973.08 1,957,924.63 – 4,726.76 0.00 0.00 31,573.73 11,420.52 7,895,165.20 4,131,637.82 724,333.21 0.00 0.00 – 1,022.58 0.00 0.00 5,723.94 4,860,672.39 3,034,492.81 1,767,335.26

II.	 Intangible assets 

	� Industry property rights  
and licences 28,321,258.05 2,717,146.64 0.00 – 2,265,000.00 543,000.00 244,318.77 430.67 29,561,154.13 9,908,234.91 5,361,756.11 5,191,876.62 0.00 – 195,539.76 – 2,192,749.99 247,594.10 – 0.17 18,321,171.82 11,239,982.31 18,413,023.14

	 Software 6,360,670.32 577,128.15 – 1,651,583.54 – 2,893,283.70 0.00 47,022.33 2,596.30 2,442,549.86 4,852,297.11 497,855.60 309,448.80 0.00 – 1,151,583.54 – 2,861,071.65 0.00 907.49 1,647,853.81 794,696.05 1,508,373.21

	 Self-developed software 10,207,051.62 3,870,568.26 0.00 0.00 – 543,000.00 0.00 0.00 13,534,619.88 4,648,858.22 2,047,332.69 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 – 247,594.10 0.00 6,448,596.81 7,086,023.07 5,558,193.40

44,888,979.99 7,164,843.05 – 1,651,583.54 – 5,158,283.70 0.00 291,341.10 3,026.97 45,538,323.87 19,409,390.24 7,906,944.40 5,501,325.42 0.00 – 1,347,123.30 – 5,053,821.64 0.00 907.32 26,417,622.44 19,120,701.43 25,479,589.75

III.	� Goodwill

	 Goodwill 15,091,307.76 16,009,805.99 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 31,101,113.75 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 31,101,113.75 15,091,307.76

IV.	 At-equity investments

	� Financial assets carried using 
the equity method 75,439.51 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 75,439.51 75,439.51 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 75,439.51 0.00 0.00

V.	 Non-current financial assets 

	 Shares in associated  companies 1,404,950.45 0.00 – 942,499.80 0.00 0.00 279,812.68 0.00 742,263.33 208,892.45 130,000.00 0.00 0.00 – 22,987.80 0.00 0.00 0.00 315,904.65 426,358.68 1,196,058.00

	O ther long-term financial assets 457,581.12 2,391,724.72 – 196,285.91 0.00 5,096,219.37 242,730.81 7,991,970.11 – 815,320.00 183,310.57 0.00 0.00 880,000.00 0.00 0.00 242,321.36 490,311.93 7,501,658.18 1,272,901.12

1,862,531.57 2,391,724.72 – 1,138,785.71 0.00 0.00 5,376,032.05 242,730.81 8,734,233.44 – 606,427.55 313,310.57 0.00 0.00 857,012.20 0.00 0.00 242,321.36 806,216.58 7,928,016.86 2,468,959.12

67,817,231.91 27,524,298.39 – 2,795,096.01 – 5,158,283.70 0.00 5,698,946.88 257,178.30 93,344,275.77 23,010,040.02 8,944,588.18 5,501,325.42 0.00 – 491,133.68 – 5,053,821.64 0.00 248,952.62 32,159,950.92 61,184,324.85 44,807,191.89
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Acquisition and production cost Depreciation and amortisation Bookvalue

in EUR

Balance  
as of 

1 Jan. 2012

Additions 
 

Disposals 
 

IFRS 5 
downs 

Transfers 
 

Consolidation 
 

Exchange  
differences  

Balance 
as of 

31 Dec. 2011

Balance 
as of 

1 Jan. 2011

Additions 
 

IAS 36 
In 

Write-ups 
from over-

depreciation

Disposals 
 

IFRS 5 
downs 

Transfers 
 

Exchange 
differences 

Balance 
as of 

31 Dec. 2011

Balance 
as of 

31 Dec. 2011

Stand 
Balance as of 
31 Dec. 2010

I.	 Tangible assets 

	P roperty, plant and equipment 59,000.71 35,133.25 0.00 0.00 16,708.74 0.00 1,538.00 112,380.70 52,951.71 14,476.54 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 16,363.55 263.43 84,055.23 28,325.47 6,049.00

	�T echnical equipment  
and machinery 3,041,950.68 305,240.53 0.00 0.00 1,441,123.78 0.00 6,208.69 4,794,523.68 2,239,912.57 398,458.24 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,208,897.41 3,520.75 3,850,788.97 943,734.71 802,038.11

	�O ther equipment,  
office furniture and equipment 2,386,290.70 502,388.59 – 4,726.76 0.00 – 1,457,832.52 31,573.73 3,165.45 1,460,859.19 1,838,773.54 311,398.43 0.00 0.00 – 1,022.58 0.00 – 1,225,260.96 1,939.76 925,828.19 535,031.00 547,517.16

	P repayments 411,730.99 1,115,162.26 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 508.38 1,527,401.63 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,527,401.63 411,730.99

5,898,973.08 1,957,924.63 – 4,726.76 0.00 0.00 31,573.73 11,420.52 7,895,165.20 4,131,637.82 724,333.21 0.00 0.00 – 1,022.58 0.00 0.00 5,723.94 4,860,672.39 3,034,492.81 1,767,335.26

II.	 Intangible assets 

	� Industry property rights  
and licences 28,321,258.05 2,717,146.64 0.00 – 2,265,000.00 543,000.00 244,318.77 430.67 29,561,154.13 9,908,234.91 5,361,756.11 5,191,876.62 0.00 – 195,539.76 – 2,192,749.99 247,594.10 – 0.17 18,321,171.82 11,239,982.31 18,413,023.14

	 Software 6,360,670.32 577,128.15 – 1,651,583.54 – 2,893,283.70 0.00 47,022.33 2,596.30 2,442,549.86 4,852,297.11 497,855.60 309,448.80 0.00 – 1,151,583.54 – 2,861,071.65 0.00 907.49 1,647,853.81 794,696.05 1,508,373.21

	 Self-developed software 10,207,051.62 3,870,568.26 0.00 0.00 – 543,000.00 0.00 0.00 13,534,619.88 4,648,858.22 2,047,332.69 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 – 247,594.10 0.00 6,448,596.81 7,086,023.07 5,558,193.40

44,888,979.99 7,164,843.05 – 1,651,583.54 – 5,158,283.70 0.00 291,341.10 3,026.97 45,538,323.87 19,409,390.24 7,906,944.40 5,501,325.42 0.00 – 1,347,123.30 – 5,053,821.64 0.00 907.32 26,417,622.44 19,120,701.43 25,479,589.75

III.	� Goodwill

	 Goodwill 15,091,307.76 16,009,805.99 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 31,101,113.75 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 31,101,113.75 15,091,307.76

IV.	 At-equity investments

	� Financial assets carried using 
the equity method 75,439.51 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 75,439.51 75,439.51 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 75,439.51 0.00 0.00

V.	 Non-current financial assets 

	 Shares in associated  companies 1,404,950.45 0.00 – 942,499.80 0.00 0.00 279,812.68 0.00 742,263.33 208,892.45 130,000.00 0.00 0.00 – 22,987.80 0.00 0.00 0.00 315,904.65 426,358.68 1,196,058.00

	O ther long-term financial assets 457,581.12 2,391,724.72 – 196,285.91 0.00 5,096,219.37 242,730.81 7,991,970.11 – 815,320.00 183,310.57 0.00 0.00 880,000.00 0.00 0.00 242,321.36 490,311.93 7,501,658.18 1,272,901.12

1,862,531.57 2,391,724.72 – 1,138,785.71 0.00 0.00 5,376,032.05 242,730.81 8,734,233.44 – 606,427.55 313,310.57 0.00 0.00 857,012.20 0.00 0.00 242,321.36 806,216.58 7,928,016.86 2,468,959.12

67,817,231.91 27,524,298.39 – 2,795,096.01 – 5,158,283.70 0.00 5,698,946.88 257,178.30 93,344,275.77 23,010,040.02 8,944,588.18 5,501,325.42 0.00 – 491,133.68 – 5,053,821.64 0.00 248,952.62 32,159,950.92 61,184,324.85 44,807,191.89
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in EUR 2012 2011

Group loss – 920,839.66 – 10,501,209.92

+	 Depreciation of intangible assets and tangible fixed assets 9,023,330.19 14,132,603.03

+/–	O ther non-cash-item expense / earnings and exchange-rate-related asset changes – 1,296,996.82 – 3,155,921.96

–/+	P rofit / loss from divestiture of tangible fixed assets 0.00 3,554.85

–/+	 Increase / decrease of receivables from delivery of goods and services – 5,111,499.34 – 8,431,322.94

–/+	 Increase / decrease of inventories – 1,300,273.75 856,755.60

–/+	 Increase / decrease of deferred tax assets 70,191.23 – 1,408,560.66

–/+	 Increase / decrease of other assets not allocated to investments or financing activities – 1,515,039.57 1,816,254.82

+/–	 Increase / decrease of obligations from delivery of goods and services 3,533,673.19 12,796,012.58

+/–	 Increase / decrease of other liabilities not allocated to investments or financing activities 2,500,289.14 – 3,256,028.87

+/–	 Increase / decrease of deferred tax liabilities 0.00 – 2,415,003.85

=	 Cash flow from current business activities before interest charges 4,982,834.61 437,132.68

+	R eceipts from the divestiture of intangible assets and tangible fixed assets 646,824.65 2,851,255.40

–	P ayments for the production, purchase of intangible assets and tangible fixed assets – 20,011,087.90 – 9,122,676.68

–	N et receipts from the acquisition of companies (payments less acquired liquid assets) 0.00 11,302,586.82

–	 Compensating payment from transfer of non-current assets and liabilities held for sale 0.00 – 12,685,065.77

+	R eceipts from sale of financial assets 568,085.04 1,995,388.46

–	P ayments for the acquisition of financial assets – 2,127,755.65 – 2,391,724.72

=	 Cash flow from investment activities – 20,923,933.86 – 8,050,327.49

+	R eceipts from capital changes 887,457.92 26,717,782.80

–	P ayments for issuance costs 0.00 – 25,177.55

+	R eceipts from the borrowing of debt 22,812,344.67 5,483,921.66

–	P ayments for the redemption of minority interests – 2,100,000.00 – 1,450,000.00

=	 Cash flow from financing activities 21,599,802.59 30,726,526.91

Change in liquid assets 5,658,703.34 23,113,332.10

+	 Change in liquid assets from currency exchange-rate changes 6,622.39 50,941.35

+	O ther non-cash movements from changes in the consolidation group 0.00 680,327.66

+	 Cash at the start of the period 25,162,087.25 1,317,486.14

=	 Cash at the end of the period 30,827,412.98 25,162,087.25

Composition of liquid assets

	 Cash 8,241.86 3,610,980.00

	 Deposits at central banks 17,452,052.28 12,372,385.86

	 Short-term receivables from banks / bank deposits 13,367,118.84 9,178,721.39

30,827,412.98 25,162,087.25

The cash provided by operating activities includes 

–	 Interest paid 839,722.76 795,534.82

–	 Interest received 50,111.21 193,659.47

–	T axes paid 11,699.80 2,946.32

We also refer to section 3.5 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated cash flow statement for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2012
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1.	 General information

The parent company of the Group is net mobile AG, Düssel-
dorf, Germany (ISIN  DE0008137852, stock exchange code 
N1M). The Company is entered in the commercial register, sec-
tion B, of Düsseldorf Local Court under the number 48022. 
Since 10 August 2012, it has been based at Fritz-Vomfelde-Str. 
26–30, 40547 Düsseldorf, Germany.

net mobile AG has been listed on the open market of the 
Munich Stock Exchange and on M:access, the cross-segment 
quality segment of the M unich S tock E xchange. I n 2012, a 
change of the trading place from M unich to Frankfurt am 
Main took place. net mobile AG is since then listed on the En-
try Standard, which belongs to the open market of the Frank-
furt Stock Exchange.

By way of a public takeover bid, DOCOMO Deutschland GmbH, 
Düsseldorf, itself a wholly-owned subsidiary of NTT DOCOMO, 
INC., Tokyo, Japan, acquired 5,533,635 shares (around 72 % of 
all shares) in net mobile AG on 13 November 2009. DOCOMO 
Deutschland GmbH subsequently acquired additional shares 
in a number of tranches with the result that by 31  Decem-
ber 2010 it held 6,896,285 shares or 81.45 % of all the shares 
of net mobile AG.

On 26 S eptember  2011, the E xecutive Board, with the ap-
proval of the S upervisory Board, resolved to make use of 
the authorisation granted at the annual general meet-
ing on 27 M ay  2010 to increase the share capital (Autho-
rised Capital 2010). T hrough the issue of 3,763,068 bearer 
shares, the Company’s subscribed capital was increased by 
EUR 3,763,068 to EUR 12,229,978. This capital increase was 
conducted within the framework of a rights issue. By means 
of this capital increase, DOCOMO Deutschland GmbH initially 
were acquired 3,065,012 new shares plus 695,143 new shares 
that acquired as a result of the minority shareholders not 
exercising their purchase option. A s of 31  December  2011, 
DOCOMO  Deutschland  GmbH  therefore held 87.13  % of all 
shares in net mobile AG.

net mobile AG’s Executive Board, with the approval of the Su-
pervisory Board, resolved on 5 December 2012 to increase the 
Company’s equity by 218,229 shares. The issue price amounts 
to EUR 7.79 per new share and is therefore 0.89 % above the 
average stock exchange price for the last five trading days 
and 1.83  % above the closing price at the stock exchange 
prior to the issue of the new shares. T he Company’s share 
capital raises up to EU R  12,448,207. T he shares were sub-
scribed as part of a private placement by the majority share-
holder DOCOMO  Deutschland  GmbH. T hereby, the share of 
DOCOMO Deutschland GmbH in net mobile AG was increased 
by approximately 0.23 % to 87.36 %. The Company decided 
to extend the share capital by using parts of the Authorised 
Capital with exclusion of the statutory subscription rights of 

the shareholders. Since the capital increase was only regis-
tered in the commercial register on 1 February 2013, at the 
balance sheet date the previous share capital is shown. The 
amount of increase is shown under current other financial 
liabilities until the registration.

net mobile AG is a leading international full-service provider 
of mobile and interactive value-added services. The Company 
was founded in November 2000 and is regarded as an innova-
tion leader in the market. Its full managed service approach 
comprises consultation, design, applications, content, billing, 
transport and technical implementation for optimal multi-
channel marketing campaign management. As a partner to 
all the major music labels and the owner of rights for the film, 
television and games industry, net mobile AG also ensures 
full content and royalty management. I ts more than 500 
customers worldwide include national and global mobile tele-
communications providers, media companies, portals, brand-
ed companies and TV channels for which it provides end-to-
end mobile interactive TV services. Since 31 October 2011, via 
its subsidiary net-m privatbank 1891 AG (former Bankverein 
Werther A ktiengesellschaft), the Group’s range of services 
has been complemented by the provision of financial services 
subject to approval.

The Company has subsidiaries in H amburg, Frankfurt am 
Main, Bielefeld, Zurich (Switzerland), Madrid (Spain), London 
(Great Britain) and Diegem (Belgium) as well as representa-
tive offices in S hanghai (People’s Republic of China), P aris 
(France) and Vienna (Austria).

2. 	� Consolidated group and 
shareholdings

During the financial year, there was no change to the consoli-
dated group.

With respect to the fully consolidated net-m privatbank 
1891 AG – in which net mobile AG has held the majority of vot-
ing rights since 31 October 2011 and subsequently increased 
its holding in tranches with the result that as of the reporting 
date 95.16 % of the shares are held – the purchase price allo-
cation (PPA) provisionally conducted as at the date of acqui-
sition has been completed within this financial year. 

The consolidated group (GC) in the consolidated financial 
statements as at 31 December 2012 includes the affiliated com-
panies in which net mobile AG directly or indirectly holds more 
than 50 % of voting rights or which it can otherwise control. 

net mobile AG currently has no investments in joint ventures. 
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In addition, companies over which there is a significant in-
fluence are included in the consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method. 

The other shareholdings of net mobile AG are shown in the 
consolidated financial statements in line with the regulations 
of IAS 39; please see the comments below under 3.4.1.

The shareholdings are as follows:

The stated equity and net profits for the period were calcu-
lated on the basis of local accounting provisions, i. e. essen-
tially on the basis of the German Commercial Code (HGB). 
The reporting date is 31 December of each year.

8 Elements Ltd and Dadango Inc. also prepare their financial 
statements to 31 December. The annual financial statements 
of 8 Elements Ltd for the year ending 31 December 2012 are 
not yet available. The figures for the year ending 31 Decem-
ber 2011 have therefore been used. There have been no signif-
icant transactions since the end of the reporting period that 
would require an adjustment of these values. 

All companies prepare their separate financial statements in 
line with local accounting provisions (HGB, Swiss GAAP, UK 
GAAP, etc.). A ny adjustments required in order to ensure 
conformity with I FRS  (the I nternational Financial Reporting 
Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board [IASB]), as applicable in the EU, are made in the prepa-
ration of the consolidated financial statements.

First Telecom GmbH offers connections in national and inter-
national landline and mobile telecommunication networks un-
der the call-by-call number 01099. As a local exchange carrier 
and network operator, the company also offers local phone 
and service numbers and has a billing and collection agree-
ment with Deutsche Telekom for the invoicing of phone num-
bers in Germany that are billed offline, such as 0900 and 118.

As a wholly-owned subsidiary of First T elecom  GmbH, First 
Communication  GmbH  also offers connections in national 
and international landline and mobile telecommunication net-
works under the number 01039. Furthermore, the company 
also has a billing and collection agreement and is licensed as 
a local exchange carrier. The company also offers the service 
numbers 0180, 0900, 0800 and 0137. 

SN T elecom  GmbH  holds some of the IP  rights to the soft-
ware platforms of the net mobile Group (e. g. largely in the 
maxmedia platform) and manages these rights. This also in-
cludes the platform previously owned by the Minick Group, 
which can support all the functionalities required for mobile 
services. SN Telecom GmbH receives licence fees for surren-
der of use within the Group. It has no operating activities be-
yond this at the current time.

Company

Interest 
in share 
capital 

in %

Form of 
inclusion 

 

31 Dec. 2012  
equity

  
in kEUR

2012 net 
profit for 

the period  
in kEUR

First Telecom GmbH,  
Frankfurt /Main, Germany  100 GC 938 135

First Communication GmbH, 
Frankfurt / Main, Germany (3) 100 GC – 397 121

SN Telecom GmbH,  
Frankfurt / Main, Germany 100 GC – 320 222

net mobile Verwaltungs AG, 
Zurich, Switzerland 100 GC 1,145 6 (4)

net mobile Schweiz AG, 
Zurich, Switzerland (3) 100 GC 104 453 (4)

net mobile minick GmbH, 
Hamburg, Germany 100 GC 564 – 519 (2)

net mobile UK Ltd,  
London, UK (3) 100 GC – 455 51 (4)

net mobile Minick Spain 
SLU, Madrid, Spain (3) 100 (3) GC – 358 – 263

GOLDkiwi Media S.A., 
Diegem, Belgium 99.99 (1) GC – 1,028 – 844

net-m privatbank 1891 AG, 
Düsseldorf (former: Bank
verein Werther Aktiengesell
schaft, Bielefeld) Germany 95.16 GC 9,431 – 301

H2O Entertainment GmbH, 
Meerbusch, Germany 49 At equity – 424 83

8 Elements Ltd,  
Hong Kong, China 18 IAS 39 – 508 – 139 (4)

Dadango Inc. Freeport, USA 15 IAS 39
Operations have  

not yet commenced

(1)	�O ne share with a nominal value of EUR 10 is held by Executive Board �
member Frank Hartmann for technical reasons. Minority interests �
have not been reported in the consolidated financial statements on 
account of immateriality. 

(2)	Prior to profit transfer.
(3)	Indirect shareholding.
(4)	�Net profit or loss including foreign currency translation.
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net mobile minick  GmbH, net mobile V erwaltungs A G, 
net mobile S chweiz A G, net mobile U K Ltd and net mobile 
Minick S pain S LU  (previously the M inick Group) have a net-
work for the provision of mobile services in Europe, Africa and 
America and operate their own SMS and MMS messaging cen-
tres. With their offices in Germany, Switzerland, the UK and 
Spain, they maintain more than 400 mobile Internet portals 
around the world. 

GOLDkiwi M edia S . A. commenced its operating activities 
during the current financial year. Among other things, it of-
fers products such as images, videos and games for mobile 
phones and other mobile terminals, and sells these for their 
partners to the end users. 

net-m privatbank 1891 AG provides services in the area of pay-
ment transactions and factoring, credit card acceptance and 
issue and the processing of transactions which are subject to 
licensing under the German Banking Act. The regional bank-
ing business that formed part of the company at takeover has 
already been sold on as of 30 November 2011. The remain-
ing areas, in particular the payment transaction services and 
credit card business, are currently being expanded.

H2O E ntertainment  GmbH  specialises in the marketing of 
merchandising products, online portals and computer games 
for online operation. Among other things, it markets the li-
cences acquired by net mobile AG.

8 E lements Ltd, based in H ong Kong, is directly managed 
by its main shareholder and specialises in the marketing of 
high-quality mobile content. A s one of the leading regional 
wholesalers, 8 E lements distributes games and videos of 
various brands as well as high-quality non-branded content 
in the Asia-Pacific region. Operating as a flexible team, 8 Ele-
ments is one of the most experienced and biggest distribu-
tion networks for its partners and suppliers from Europe and 
Asia. 8 Elements is currently operating directly with 13 carriers, 
five service providers and 14 portals in eight countries, thereby 
reaching more than 150  million users. I ts customers include 
SmarTone-Vodafone, Telstra, Globe, maxis and SingTel Mobile.

Dadango I nc. is a start-up in the US  that specialises in the 
marketing of mobile value-added services. It has not yet com-
menced operations.

The financial information of the associated companies is as 
follows:

H2O Entertainment GmbH’s profit for the financial year 2012 
totals kEUR 83. It has incurred cumulative losses of kEUR 502 
to date. Accordingly, for the reporting company this implies 
a pro-rata financial result for the current financial year of 
kEUR 41 and a cumulative loss of kEUR 246. Due to full write-
down of the amount recognised at equity, the current finan-
cial result had no further effect.

3.	�S ummary of the key accounting 
policies

3.1.	 Basis of accounting

The consolidated financial statements of net mobile AG as at 
31 December 2012 have been prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), taking 
into account the I nternational A ccounting S tandards (IAS) 
and the interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Commit-
tee (previously the International Financial Reporting Interpre-
tations Committee  – I FRIC and the S tanding I nterpretations 
Committee (SIC), and fully taking into account all the mandatory 
provisions of the I nternational Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) endorsed by 31 December 2012, as applicable in the Euro-
pean Union. The consolidated financial statements are consis-
tent with IFRS as applicable in the European Union.

Company 
in kEUR

Equity Assets Liabilities Sales 

H2O Entertainment GmbH, 
Meerbusch, Germany – 424 891 467 508
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The duty to prepare I FRS-consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with section § 315a S ec. 3 H GB (Handelsge-
setzbuch “German Commercial Code”) does not apply to the 
Company as its securities are traded on the open market and 
not on an EU-regulated market. The option to voluntarily pre-
pare I FRS-consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with section 315a III HGB is hereby exercised with these con-
solidated financial statements.

The financial year corresponds to the calendar year and thus 
begins on 1 January and ends on 31 December of each year. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in euro. 
The functional currency of the Group is also the euro. U n-
less stated otherwise, all amounts are stated in thousands of 
euros (kEUR).

The consolidated balance sheet is subdivided into non-cur-
rent and current items.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income has 
been prepared using the cost of sales method.

Essentially uniform accounting policies are applied by the in-
dividual subsidiaries within the Group. 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements re-
quires the use of estimates, judgements and assumptions by 
the Executive Board on matters that affect the amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet, items 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and 
information in the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments. In particular, estimates and judgements were made in 
the areas of goodwill, other intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment, receivables, provisions, deferred taxes, 
segment reporting, the breakdown of sales, the calculation 
of the values of cash-generating units and depreciation and 
amortisation. These estimates, judgements and assumptions 
may deviate from actual circumstances. Any such actual de-
viations are taken into account in profit or loss as the Com-
pany becomes aware of them, with the exception of estimates 
that are required by the relevant accounting provision to be 
recognised directly in equity (Other comprehensive income). 
If our estimates, judgements and assumptions change, the 
calculations made on the basis of them would also change. 
The carrying amounts and fair values of the above items are 
directly sensitive to their measurement bases.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
line with the consolidation methods and accounting policies 
presented below.

3.2.	N ew financial reporting requirements

Standards and interpretations effective in the 2012 
financial year

The following new or amended standards became effective 
for the first time in the financial year from 1 January to 31 De-
cember 2012: 

• �Amendments to IFRS 7 – Disclosures – Transfers of Financial 
Assets

The amendments to IFRS 7 concern additional disclosure re-
quirements with relation to the transfer of financial assets. 
They are designed to increase the comprehensibility of re-
lationships between financial assets that are not required to 
be derecognised in full and the corresponding financial liabili-
ties. The intention is also to improve evaluation of the nature 
and especially the risks of continuing involvement in the case 
of derecognised financial assets. The changes also call for ad-
ditional disclosures in the event of a disproportionately large 
number of transfers with continuing involvement (e. g. around 
the end of a reporting period). The Company is currently as-
suming that the new standards will have no significant influ-
ence on the presentation of the results and financial position.

• �Amendments to IAS 12 – Deferred Tax – Recovery of Underly-
ing Assets

With investment property, it is often difficult to assess wheth-
er existing temporary tax differences will be reversed under 
the continued use or as part of a sale. With the amendment to 
IAS 12 it is now clear that the measurement of deferred taxes 
is to be based on the rebuttable presumption that the reversal 
takes place through sale. The Company is currently assuming 
that the new standards will have no significant influence on 
the presentation of the results and financial position.

• �Amendments to IFRS 1 – Severe Hyperinflation and Removal 
of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters

Through this amendment to IFRS 1, the references previously 
used as the fixed transition date (1 January 2004) shall be 
replaced by “date of transition to IFRS”. In addition, rules for 
the cases in which a company for some time could not meet 
the requirements of I FRSs because its functional currency 
was subject to hyperinflation will now be included in IFRS 1.
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Standards and interpretations effective �
for later financial periods

The following newly published financial reporting require-
ments endorsed by the EU will be effective for future financial 
statements and have not been adopted early by the Company.

• �Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Items of Other Com-
prehensive Income

This amendment changes the presentation of other compre-
hensive income in the statement of comprehensive income. 
The items of other comprehensive income that will be reclas-
sified subsequently to profit or loss (“recycling”) in the future 
are to be presented separately of the items of other compre-
hensive income that will never be reclassified. If the items are 
reported gross, i.e. without netting with effects from deferred 
taxes, deferred taxes are now no longer to be in shown one 
lump sum, but assigned to the two groups of items.

This change is to be adopted for the first time in financial 
years beginning on or after 1 July 2012.

The Company is currently assuming that the new standards 
will have no significant influence on the presentation of the 
results and financial position.

• �IAS 19 – Employee Benefits (revised 2011)

In addition to extensive disclosure requirements for employ-
ee benefits, the following changes are arising in particular 
from the revised standard:

Currently, there are several options as to how unexpected 
changes in pension obligations, the so-called actuarial gains 
and losses, may be presented in financial statements: (a) as a 
profit or loss in the profit and loss account, (b) in other com-
prehensive income (OCI), or (c) a delay is recognised using 
the so-called corridor method. With the revised IAS   19, this 
selection of options will be abolished for a more transparent 
and comparable presentation, so that in the future only an 
immediate and complete recognition in other comprehensive 
income is allowed. In addition, past service cost is now to be 
recognised directly in profit or loss in the year of its accrual.

Moreover, currently at the beginning of the accounting pe-
riod, the expected return on plan assets is determined based 
on management’s expectations regarding the performance 
of the investment portfolio. With the application of IAS   19 
(revised 2011), only a typifying return on plan assets in the 
amount of the discount rate for pension obligations at the 
beginning of the period is allowed.

The expected amount of administrative costs of the plan as-
sets was previously included in interest income. According to 
the amendments, administrative costs of the plan assets as 
part of the re-evaluation component should be recognised in 
other comprehensive income, while other administrative ex-
penses when incurred are attributable to the operating profit.

This change is to be adopted for the first time in financial 
years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

The Company is currently assuming that the new standards 
will have no significant influence on the presentation of the 
results and financial position.

• �Amendments to IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statements

As part of the adoption of I FRS  10 – Consolidated Financial 
Statements, the regulations for the control principle and the 
requirements relating to the preparation of consolidated fi-
nancial statements are outsourced from IAS   27 and finally 
treated in I FRS  10 (see above under I FRS  10). A s a result, 
IAS 27 in future only contains the rules for the accounting of 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in the IFRS finan-
cial statements.

This change is to be adopted for the first time in financial 
years beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

The Company is currently assuming that the new standards 
will have no significant influence on the presentation of the 
results and financial position.

• �Amendments to IAS   28 – I nvestments in A ssociates and 
Joint Ventures

As part of the adoption of I FRS  11 – Joint A rrangements, 
some adjustments to IAS   28 have also been made. A s be-
fore, IAS 28 regulates the application of the equity method. 
However, the scope of the adoption of IFRS 11 is considerably 
increased, not only because future investments in associated 
companies but also in joint ventures (see I FRS  11) must be 
valued using the equity method. The application of propor-
tionate consolidation for joint ventures is therefore omitted.

In the future, potential voting rights and other derivative fi-
nancial instruments in assessing whether an entity has sig-
nificant influence are taken into account.

Another change relates to the implementation of I FRS  5, 
when only a part of a unit is determined in an associate or a 
joint venture for sale. IFRS 5 is applied partially, when only a 
portion or part of an investment in an associated company (or 
in a joint venture) meets the criterion “held for sale”.
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This change is to be adopted for the first time in financial 
years beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

The Company is currently assuming that the new standards 
will have no significant influence on the presentation of the 
results and financial position.

• �Amendments to IAS   32 and I FRS  7 – O ffsetting Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities

This supplement to IAS 32 clarifies the conditions for offset-
ting financial instruments. In addition, the importance of the 
current legal right to set-off is explained and it is clarified 
which procedures can be viewed with gross settlement as net 
settlement within the meaning of the standard. A long with 
these clarifications, the provisions regarding the notes to 
IFRS 7 have been extended.

This change of IAS  32 is to be adopted for the first time in 
financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

This change of I FRS 7 is to be adopted for the first time in 
financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

The Company is currently assuming that the new standards 
will have no significant influence on the presentation of the 
results and financial position.

• �IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements

With this standard, the concept of control is comprehensive-
ly re-defined. If a company dominates another company, the 
parent company has to consolidate the subsidiary. Under the 
new approach, control exists if the potential parent company 
holds the power of decision on the basis of voting rights or 
other rights over the potential subsidiary, participates in the 
positive or negative variable returns from the subsidiary, and 
may affect these returns through its power of decision.

This new standard may affect the scope of consolidation, i.a. 
regarding special-purpose vehicles.

The new standard is to be adopted for the first time in finan-
cial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014. If for an in-
vestment the qualification as a subsidiary is determined dif-
ferently between IAS 27 / SIC-12 and IFRS 10, IFRS 10 applies 
retrospectively. Early adoption is only permitted simultane-
ously with IFRS 11 and IFRS 12, and with IAS 27 and IAS 28 as 
amended in 2011.

The Company is currently assuming that the new standards 
will have no significant influence on the presentation of the 
results and financial position.

• �IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements

IFRS  11 redefines accounting for jointly controlled activi-
ties (Joint A rrangements). T he new approach distinguishes 
between a communal activity (Joint O peration) or a joint 
venture (JV). A  joint operation takes place when the jointly 
controlling parties have immediate rights to the assets and 
obligations for the liabilities. The individual rights and liabili-
ties are recognised proportionately in the consolidated finan-
cial statements. In a joint venture, the joint dominant parties, 
however, have rights in the net assets income. This right is 
represented by the equity method in the consolidated finan-
cial statements, so the right to vote for pro-rata inclusion in 
the consolidated financial statements is now redundant.

This new standard is to be adopted for the first time in finan-
cial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014. For the transi-
tion from, for example, the proportionate consolidation to the 
equity method, specific transitional rules exist. Early adoption 
is only permitted simultaneously with IFRS 10 and IFRS 12, and 
with IAS 27 and IAS 28 as amended in 2011.

The Company is currently assuming that the new standards 
will have no significant influence on the presentation of the 
results and financial position.

• �IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

This standard requires disclosures in relation to shares in 
other companies. T he required disclosures are significantly 
larger compared to the previous disclosures following IAS 27, 
IAS 28 and IAS 31.
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This new standard is to be adopted for the first time in finan-
cial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

The Company is currently assuming that the new standards 
will have no significant influence on the presentation of the 
results and financial position.

• �IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement

With this standard, the fair-value measurement in IFRS finan-
cial statements shall be uniformly regulated. In the future, all 
fair-value measurements required by other standards are to 
follow the uniform requirements of IFRS 13, only IAS 17 and 
IFRS 2 will continue to have their own regulations.

The fair value according to IFRS 13 is defined as the exit price, 
i. e. as the price that would be generated by the sale of an 
asset or the price that would be paid to transfer a liability. A 
hierarchical system comprising three levels, as it is currently 
used in the fair-value assessment of financial assets, is being 
introduced in order to determine the different levels of de-
pendency of observable market prices. This new assessment 
tool may yield different fair values than those accounted for 
by current regulations.

This new standard is to be adopted for the first time in finan-
cial years beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

The Company is currently assuming that the new standards 
will have no significant influence on the presentation of the 
results and financial position.

• �IFRIC 20 – Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Sur-
face Mine

This interpretation shall standardise the accounting of strip-
ping costs in the mining industry. If, as expected, the further 
use of mining waste will realise revenue, the associated strip-
ping costs shall be accounted for as inventory in accordance 
with IAS 2. Moreover, an intangible asset is created which is 
to be activated jointly with the asset of mining when access to 
additional natural resources has been facilitated and the re-
quirements defined in the interpretation have been met. This 
asset is to be amortised over the expected useful life.

IFRIC 20 is to be adopted for the first time in financial years 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

The Company is currently assuming that the new standards 
will have no influence on the presentation of the results and 
financial position.

3.3.	Pr inciples of consolidation

The financial statements of the individual companies have 
been prepared for inclusion in the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with the local accounting provi-
sions and subsequently transferred in accordance with uni-
form IFRS accounting policies.

With reference to the consolidated group, please see item 2 of 
these notes: “Consolidated group and shareholdings”.

In consolidation, capital is consolidated using the purchase 
method by offsetting the cost of the equity investment 
against the revalued equity of the consolidated subsidiar-
ies at the so-called acquisition date (the date that control is 
achieved). The recognisable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of the subsidiaries are carried at their full fair value. 
Asset differences arising upon first-time consolidation (good-
will) are capitalised and, in line with the rules of I FRS  3 in 
conjunction with IAS 36, tested for impairment annually. The 
obligation to perform an impairment test if there is evidence 
of impairment also remains. T he purchase price allocation 
(PPA) for the shares acquired during the previous financial 
year in net-m privatbank 1891 AG has been completed within 
this financial year. 

Intragroup profits, sales, expenses and income and all receiv-
ables and liabilities between the consolidated companies are 
eliminated. 

Companies that net mobile AG cannot control but over which 
it can exercise a significant influence are included in the con-
solidated financial statements using the equity method (as-
sociates).

Companies that net mobile AG cannot control and over which 
it cannot exercise a significant influence and that are not 
joint ventures are included in the consolidated financial state-
ments as described in 3.4.1. I f the fair value cannot be reli-
ably determined in subsequent measurement or if it appears 
reasonable on grounds of materiality and economy, such in-
terests can also be carried at their initial carrying amount in 
subsequent measurement (cost or fair value, possibly includ-
ing additional costs of acquisition).
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The annual financial statements of subsidiaries prepared in 
foreign currency are translated on the basis of the concept of 
functional currency in line with IAS   21 using the modified 
closing rate method. The following main exchange rates were 
used:

As all the companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements operate independently in organisational, eco-
nomic and financial respects, the functional currency is the 
same as the respective national currency of each company. 
For the sake of simplicity, therefore, assets and liabilities are 
translated at the closing rate, equity items at historical rates 
and expenses and income at the annual average rate in the 
consolidated financial statements. T he resulting translation 
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

In the financial statements of the individual Group companies, 
receivables and liabilities in foreign currency are translated 
using the current closing rates as at the end of the reporting 
period, any unrealised exchange rate gains or losses arising 
are taken to profit or loss. 

3.4. 	�Accounting policies

With the exception of the balance sheet items specified below, 
these consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
on the basis of historical cost. T he fair-value measurement 
is used in part for the items “Intangible assets”, “Goodwill”, 
“Financial assets” and “Pension provisions”. Please read the 
disclosures on these items below for information on the com-
position.

3.4.1.  Assets

Purchased intangible assets are recognised at cost. I f their 
useful lives are limited, the intangible assets are amortised 
on a straight-line basis over their estimated economic useful 
lives. For one licence acquired in 2010, a consumption-based 
amortisation is applied. T he useful life is usually between 
three and ten years. Deviating from this, purchased user soft-
ware is amortised over three years. I f a different time limit 
has been contractually agreed with regard to term of use 
(between one and ten years), this term is used to calculate 
amortisation.

Intangible assets include internally developed software. De-
velopment costs for these internally generated intangible as-
sets are capitalised at cost if it is possible to clearly allocate 
them to an expense group and both the technical feasibility 
and future utility of the newly developed products are en-
sured (IAS 38). I t must also be likely that the development 
activity will lead to future cash inflows. The costs include the 
costs directly attributable to the development process. De-
preciation is recognised on the basis of the planned technical 
useful lives of the products. The maximum useful life is five 
years. Work in progress and unfinished projects are tested for 
impairment at the end of the reporting period if there is evi-
dence that they may have become impaired.

In accordance with IAS 38, research expenses cannot be rec-
ognised as assets and are thus directly recognised as expens-
es in profit or loss for the respective period.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment if there is evi-
dence that they have become impaired.

31 Dec. 2012  
Closing rate

31 Dec. 2012  
Average price

31 Dec. 2011  
Closing rate

31 Dec. 2011  
Average price

GBP / EUR 0.81737 0.8111 0.83783 0.86821

CHF / EUR 1.20733 1.2051 1.21675 1.23358
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The assets with indefinite useful lives (customer relationships 
with U niversal and licences for rights of use to SMS , MMS 
and voice and other codes) have been assigned mainly to the 
“Payment & Interactive and “Digital Enabling” cash-generating 
units (see following remarks in connection with goodwill). The 
useful life is indefinite as the agreements concluded have no 
set term and a long-term cooperation, the end of which is not 
foreseeable, is assumed. I f there is evidence of impairment, 
individual assets will also be tested for impairment in line with 
the principle of individual measurement. I f the recoverable 
amount cannot be calculated at an individual level, the impair-
ment test is continued at the level of the previously named 
cash-generating unit. In the event of a subsequent increase in 
value, the impairment loss will be reversed up to the maximum 
amount of the amortised cost where permitted.

net mobile AG does not use the revaluation method for intan-
gible assets. 

Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, it is subject to impairment 
testing in line with IAS 36. This is carried out annually or if 
there is any indication of a reduction in value.

The total carrying amount of goodwill of kEUR 30,962 (previ-
ous year: kEUR 31,101) includes goodwill of kEUR 8,945 (un-
changed from previous year) for net mobile AG arising from 
its spinning off for reestablishment in May 2003. In line with 
IDW RS H FA  2, the option was used to account for this as 
under the IFRS 3 separate reporting entity approach, identi-
fying hidden reserves and charges and recognising goodwill. 
Shares in net mobile AG were provided as the purchase price 
for the transaction. T he purchase price was calculated as-
suming a payment by an investor for shares in net mobile AG 
in the context of its being spun off. Unchanged to the previ-
ous year, this item also includes goodwill from the acquisition 
of First T elecom  GmbH  (kEUR  1,916) and the goodwill from 
the acquisition of net mobile Verwaltungs AG (kEUR 4,230). It 
also includes the goodwill arising from the acquisition in 2011 
of net-m privatbank 1891 AG with the amount of kEUR 15,871. 
In the previous year, kEUR  16,010, resulting from the pre-
liminary purchase price allocation (PPA) of net-m privatbank 
1891 AG were shown in this position.

The following cash-generating units (CGU) were used to test 
goodwill for impairment:

• �“Payment & Interactive”, assigned goodwill of kEUR 18,852 

• �“Digital Enabeling”, assigned goodwill of kEUR 7,211

• �“Voice”, assigned goodwill of kEUR 1,580

• �“Online & TV”, assigned goodwill of kEUR 3,318

The business of net-m privatbank 1891 AG has been included 
in the CGU Interactive. 

The following cash-generating units (CGU) were used to test 
goodwill for impairment in the previous year:

• �“Payment & Interactive”, assigned goodwill of kEUR 18,991

• �“Digital Enabling”, assigned goodwill of kEUR 7,211

• �“Voice”, assigned goodwill of kEUR 4,899

The impairment test checks whether the realisable value of 
the respective cash-generating unit or group of cash-generat-
ing units covers the carrying amount including goodwill. The 
recoverable amount is calculated on the basis of the value in 
use as the net realisable value cannot be determined due to 
the lack of a representative stock market price. The measure-
ment is performed using the discounted cash flow method. 
This requires the calculation of the present value of the cash 
flow from two planning phases. The detailed planning phase 
covers the 2013 and 2014 financial years and is based on past 
experience as well as business development projections. This 
is followed by perpetual annuity. Unchanged from the previ-
ous year, a growth premium of 1 % is added. The discounting 
rate used for the 2012 financial year was 9.6  %. A  rate of 
7.0 % was used in the previous year.
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The recoverable value in use exceeds the carrying amount of 
the respective CGUs as follows:

In the previous year, the recoverable value in use exceeded 
the carrying amount of the respective CGUs as follows:

Sensitivity analysis for the cash-generating units:

�

�

�

The sensitivity analysis for the previous year was as follows:    

�

The sensitivity analysis showed that the changes considered 
would not result in any of the cash-generating units falling 
short of their carrying amounts. Even the changing parame-
ters would not, therefore, result in any further impairment 
requirement. A change of one percentage point is an appro-
priate deviation as this reflects a realistic range of fluctua-
tion.

Please see item 5 of these notes for segment reporting.

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less de-
preciation and, if appropriate, write-downs. This is based on 
the following useful lives applied uniformly throughout the 
Group: 

CGU
in %

Payment & interactive 56.07

Digital enabling 62.38

Voice 52.52 

Online & tV 12.64 

Total 45.34 

CGU
in %

Payment & Interactive 11,07

Digital Enabling 51,36

Voice 11,91

Summe 23,06

CGU
in %

Payment & interactive 11.07

Digital enabling 51.36

Voice 11.91

Total 23.06

Change in  
net realisable value
in EUR

CGU 
Payment & 
Interactive + 1 %

WACC 

Actual – 1 %

+ 1 %  47,118,586  55,086,355  65,526,185 

Growth factor Actual  42,420,900  48,936,293  57,219,097 

– 1 %  38,607,901  44,064,830  50,839,409 

Change in  
net realisable value
in EUR

CGU  
Digital 
Enabling + 1 %

WACC 

Actual – 1 %

+ 1 %  40,354,344  46,541,529  54,623,700 

Growth factor Actual  36,758,638  41,834,145  48,265,285 

– 1 %  33,840,090  38,105,427  43,382,139 

Change in  
net realisable value
in EUR

CGU  
Voice 

+ 1 %

WACC 

Actual – 1 %

+ 1 % 9,163,236 10,813,263 12,977,394 

Growth factor Actual 8,185,939 9,533,816 11,249,204 

– 1 % 7,392,690 8,520,367 9,921,986 

Change in  
net realisable value 
in EUR

CGU  
Online & TV 

+ 1 %

WACC 

Actual – 1 %

+ 1 %  38,638,344  43,902,226  50,758,033 

Growth factor Actual  35,621,457  39,952,613  45,423,163 

– 1 %  33,172,722  36,824,126  41,326,083 

Change in  
net realisable value 
in EUR

CGU 
Payment & 
Interactive + 1 %

WACC 

Actual – 1 %

+ 1 % 81,558,032 95,370,278 115,868,243 

Growth factor Actual 72,039,908 82,044,903 95,880,181

– 1 % 59,349,075 65,388,185 73,036,682

Change in  
net realisable value 
in EUR

CGU  
Digital 
Enabling + 1 %

WACC 

Actual – 1 %

+ 1 % 50,264,903 59,714,964 73,782,236 

Growth factor Actual 43,687,953 50,507,234 59,970,642 

– 1 % 34,918,687 38,997,573 44,185,964 

Change in  
net realisable value 
in EUR

CGU  
Voice 

+ 1 %

WACC 

Actual – 1 %

+ 1 % 17,273,539 20,475,076 25,235,901 

Growth factor Actual 15,052,984 17,366,298 20,572,734 

– 1 % 12,092,243 13,480,326 15,243,400 
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Property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment if 
there is evidence that they have become impaired.

net mobile AG does not use the revaluation method for prop-
erty, plant and equipment.

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a fi-
nancial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity in-
strument of another entity. Financial instruments recognised 
as financial assets on the one hand or financial liabilities on 
the other are reported separately.

Financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value. 
With regard to subsequent measurement, the financial instru-
ments are classified in one of the valuation categories speci-
fied in IAS 39. Transaction costs that can be directly allocated 
to the acquisition or issue are taken into account in ascertain-
ing the carrying amount if the financial instruments are not 
valued at fair value through profit and loss. Spot transactions 
involving financial assets are recognised at their value on the 
relevant trade date.

Non-current financial assets include, in particular, shares in 
companies that do not form part of the consolidated financial 
statements either through the application of consolidation or 
proportionate consolidation or using the equity method as 
well as securities and other financial investments and receiv-
ables from financial services.

First-time recognition of non-current financial assets is at 
their value on the respective trade date. 

Shares in companies that are not included in the consolidated 
financial statements through the application of either con-
solidation or proportionate consolidation or using the equity 
method, are recognised in line with the provisions of IAS 39. 
These are assigned to the available-for-sale category. The fi-
nancial instruments assigned to this category are valued on 
initial recognition at fair value, with non-realised profits or 
losses recognised in equity in the reserves for financial assets 
designated as available for sale. If objective indications of im-
pairment exist, these are taken into account through profit 
and loss. U pon disposal of financial assets, valuation gains 

and losses included in equity are recognised at fair value 
through profit and loss. I f it is not possible to ascertain the 
fair value of non-listed financial instruments sufficiently reli-
ably on the basis of market prices, the financial instruments 
are recognised at amortised cost.

Furthermore, as a result of the consolidation of net-m privat-
bank 1891 A G, non-current financial assets contain receiv-
ables from financial services. T hese are to be classified as 
“loans and receivables” rather than as current trade receiv-
ables. These receivables are valued on addition at fair value 
and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective inter-
est method, whereby transaction costs that can be directly al-
located to the acquisition are taken account of in the carrying 
amount. Any evidence of impairment is taken into account. 

Shares and financial investments are measured at fair value or, 
where this cannot be reasonably determined, at amortised cost. 

Derivatives, which are also included in non-current finan-
cial assets, are assigned to the “financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss” category and measured at fair value 
in profit or loss. 

The fair value is defined as the amount for which an asset 
could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowl-
edgeable, independent and willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction (other than in a forced or emergency sale) at the 
current time.

Management estimates are required to calculate fair value. 
The areas for which management decisions are required to 
a significant extent are identified, documented and reported 
to senior management as part of measurement controls and 
the monthly reporting cycle. The staff responsible for model 
validation and measurement deal mainly with issues of sub-
jectivity and estimates.

Management estimates are only required to a limited extent 
in the calculation of the fair value of financial instruments for 
which prices are listed on an active market. Similarly, limited 
subjective appraisal or estimates are required for financial 
instruments measured using standard industry models for 
which all input parameters are listed on active markets.

in years

Buildings and leasehold improvements  5

Technical equipment and machinery 5 – 10

Operating and office equipment 1 – 13
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The degree of subjective appraisal or estimates by manage-
ment increases for financial instruments measured using spe-
cial, complex models and for which some or all of the input 
parameters cannot be observed. The selection and applica-
tion of appropriate parameters, assumptions and modelling 
techniques require management assessment. In particular, if 
data originates from unusual market transactions, extrapola-
tion and interpolation methods must be applied. Furthermore, 
if no market data is available, the parameters are determined 
by examining other relevant sources of information such as 
historical data, fundamental analysis of key transaction data 
and information from similar transactions. A ppropriate ad-
justments are then made to reflect the actual financial in-
strument being measured and current market conditions. I f 
different measurement models result in a range of different 
potential fair values for a financial instrument, management 
must decide which of these estimated values within the range 
best reflects the fair value. Furthermore, certain value adjust-
ments may require management estimates to ensure the cal-
culation of the fair value. 

At the end of each reporting period, it is determined whether 
there is objective evidence of impairment of a financial as-
set. A financial asset is considered impaired and an impair-
ment loss is considered to have arisen if

• �there is objective evidence of an impairment as the result 
of a loss event that occurred after the initial recognition of 
the financial instrument and before the end of the reporting 
period (loss event)

• �the loss event influenced the estimated future cash flows of 
the financial asset 

• �the amount cannot be reliably estimated. 

The amount of the impairment in loans und receivables is the 
difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the 
present value of the anticipated future cash flows, discounted 
by the original real interest rate of the financial asset. The 
impairment is recorded through profit and loss. If the amount 
of the impairment loss decreases in one of the subsequent 
reporting periods and if this reduction can be objectively as-
cribed to an event occurring after the impairment, the previ-
ously recognised impairment is reversed through profit and 
loss. These changes are recognised in sales / cost of sales in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

If the value of an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, 
the amount previously recognised in the balance sheet is rec-
ognised in the income statement as the difference between 
cost and current fair value, less any impairment losses previ-
ously recognised in respect of financial asset. Reversals for 
equity instruments designated as available for sale are rec-
ognised in equity. Reversals in the value of borrowing instru-
ments are recognised through profit and loss if the increase 
in fair value of the instrument can be objectively related to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised in profit 
and loss. These changes are recognised in sales / cost of sales 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

In order to avoid measurement inconsistencies, the fair-value 
option is used. I t is used for financial instruments and li-
abilities, for example bonds, whose management and perfor-
mance measurement is carried out on a fair-value basis.

Deferred tax assets are recognised in line with the provi-
sions of IAS 12. Temporary or quasi-permanent measurement 
differences between the tax-carrying amounts of the Group 
companies and the I FRS-consolidated financial statements 
are measured using the current valid tax rates or those that 
have been committed to. Deferred tax assets are also recog-
nised on loss carryforwards. However, the German loss car-
ryforwards of the Group companies that arose prior to the 
acquisition were completely lost as a result of the acquisition 
of net mobile AG by the NTT  DOCOMO  Group. A ccordingly, 
deferred taxes are no longer recognised for these loss car-
ryforwards. T he deferred tax assets on German loss carry-
forwards therefore relate solely to losses incurred since the 
acquisition. O n the basis of current case law, it can be as-
sumed that the tax loss carryforwards of net-m privatbank 
1891 AG will not be lost despite the takeover. The relevant de-
ferred taxes have been recognised and, insofar as they relate 
to the period before inclusion in the consolidated financial 
statements, taken account of in the calculation of goodwill 
and the minority interests. Consequently, only the deferred 
taxes that relate to the period following first-time consolida-
tion have been recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.
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Deferred taxes that result from temporary differences in the 
IFRS and tax-carrying amounts, are calculated using the bal-
ance sheet deferral method and reported separately. Deferred 
tax assets may include tax reduction claims arising from the 
expected future use of existing tax loss carryforwards for 
which realisation is likely. Deferred taxes are calculated on 
the basis of tax rates that apply or have been announced at 
the end of the reporting period in which the realisation of the 
deferred tax assets and liabilities is expected.

The inventories of kEUR  1,446 (previous year: kEUR  145) 
mainly include down payments made (kEUR  1,141, previous 
year: kEUR  0). T he rest is related to so-called publication 
content. This refers to content and rights sold via the partner 
platforms operated. Inventories are measured at the lower of 
cost or recoverable net selling price at the end of the report-
ing period. A write-down of kEUR 896 was recognised as an 
expense in the previous financial year for content with poorer 
earnings prospects than originally assumed. No further write-
downs were undertaken or impairment losses reversed in the 
current financial year. Also, no inventories were pledged. The 
utilisation of inventories reduced results by kEUR 296 (previ-
ous year: kEUR 107). 

In line with IAS   39, trade receivables are designated as 
“Loans and receivables” and are measured on addition at fair 
value and subsequently using the effective interest method. 
Write-downs are recognised by item if there are indications of 
impairment. General write-downs based on past experience 
are recognised for immaterial receivables that have not been 
written down by item but for which there is still a statistical 
risk of default. 

Current other financial assets essentially include other fi-
nancial receivables from non-consolidated affiliated compa-
nies and third parties, bank receivables with a term of be-
tween three months and one year and other fixed-interest 
securities, and are designated as “available for sale”. T he 
financial instruments assigned to this category are valued on 
initial recognition at fair value, with non-realised profits or 
losses recognised in equity in the reserves for financial assets 
designated as available for sale. 

Other non-financial current assets essentially include accru-
al assets and receivables from the tax authorities for other 
taxes. The forecast reimbursements based on the applicable 
laws and tax rates have been reported as current tax assets. 
Here too, they are measured at fair value.

Income tax receivables relate mainly to the corporate in-
come tax credit of net-m privatbank 1891 AG and have also 
been measured at fair value. 

Cash includes in particular deposits at banks and cash in hand. 
Bank balances have an original term of up to three months. 
They are measured at cost. Accounts in foreign currency are 
measured at the closing rate.

The assets to be disposed shown in the previous year’s fi-
nancial statement have been disposed completely during the 
reporting period. They were reported separately in the pre-
vious year’s balance sheet and instead of being depreciated 
are valued at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell.

3.4.2. Equity and liabilities

Non-current financial liabilities relate mainly to banks. They 
are measured at fair value or cost on addition and subse-
quently using the effective interest method at amortised cost. 
This item includes only those portions of liabilities not repay-
able within twelve months. In the previous year, the non-cur-
rent portion of trade payables and liabilities was shown here. 
In this reporting period, the whole amount of that liability has 
to be classified as current. The portion of liabilities repayable 
within twelve months is included in current trade payables or 
other financial liabilities.

Pension provisions recognised for defined-benefit plans are 
measured using the actuarial projected unit credit method. 
The corridor method is not utilised. Actuarial gains and losses 
are since this financial year no longer recognised in profit or 
loss but in the other comprehensive income (OCI). For ma-
teriality reasons, the previous year’s figures have not been 
restated. Pension provisions and plan assets are reported net 
to the extent that such offsettable plan assets exist. I n the 
financial year, this netting resulted in a deficit in pension ob-
ligations at two subsidiaries, which is reported under pension 
provisions. A t only one of these companies, corresponding 
plan assets were available.

Current provisions include current external obligations 
caused by past events if a future outflow of resources is likely 
and the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. 
They are recognised in the amount of the best estimate. This 
is the amount that an entity would rationally pay to settle the 
obligation at the end of the reporting period or to transfer it 
to a third party at that time.
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In line with IAS 39, trade payables are measured at fair value 
or cost as they arise and subsequently using the effective in-
terest method at amortised cost. Accruals are also reported 
in this item and measured in line with trade payables.

The measurement of current liabilities to banks and other 
financial liabilities is in line with IAS 39. These liabilities are 
recognised at fair value as they arise and subsequently using 
the effective interest method at amortised cost. 

Other current financial liabilities relate to liabilities from ac-
cruals. The IFRS do not include a separate standard for the 
accrual basis of accounting. The need for this is derived from 
various standards and the framework. 

Tax liabilities are included in the accruals under other finan-
cial liabilities and relate mainly to other taxes.

3.4.3. �Consolidated statement of �
comprehensive income 

End customers are billed on the basis of individual services. 
Sales and income are recognised if the service was rendered 
or the rights transferred, the amount of the sales or income 
can be reliably determined and the economic benefit is likely 
to flow to the Group. Sales are recognised at the value of the 
consideration received. Specifically, sales are recognised as 
described below. 

Sales in the area of landline telephony, service number and 
voice applications, called “Voice” area, include sales from 
connecting and leasing landline numbers within the Company 
network and associated or related services. The net mobile AG 
group considers the services provided to end customers, pay-
ment for which is collected by the carriers, and the income 
from related services to be sales.

The “Payment & Interactive” area includes sales from value-
added services that are generated by sending content, infor-
mation, services or applications in the form of text or pic-
ture messages, as well as the provision of financial services, 
against payment. The technical connection to the customers 
is via telecommunication companies. The content of the text 
and picture messages is essentially purchased from content 
providers. The net mobile Group considers the amounts billed 
to carriers as sales. Sales from “Messaging” primarily result 
from the sending of text messages. The sales are generated 
from the reselling of the service purchased by the carriers 
at wholesale prices. The financial services sales relate to the 
banking business of net-m privatbank 1891 AG and fall entirely 
within this segment. They include sales from loans, realised 
using the effective interest method, sales from the billing of 
payment transaction services, factoring, commissions and 
proceeds from the reversals of receivables.

Sales in the “Digital Enabling” segment result from the sale 
of mobile content and rights. net mobile AG purchases its ex-
ploitation rights either for a flat fee or as part of a revenue 
share model and resells these to its customers. The sales here 
consist of the proceeds plus any separately invoiced rights or 
licences (e. g. GEMA fees). 

The sales achieved in the “Online & TV” segment result from 
two different divisions. The core business of the TV division 
is marketing own products on TV partners. The realised rev-
enues result primarily from classic DRTV  advertising and 
sponsorship for the SMS & Voice products in the B2B2C area. 
This means that advertisements are placed in TV  stations 
to sell products to the end customer. net mobile AG takes 
over the planning, management and control of the relevant 
TV campaigns. Moreover, also the role of a media agency is 
taken. Partners and customers of the net mobile group are 
given the opportunity to produce commercials and also re-
ceive appropriate advertising time on the stations. The sales 
achieved here result from a corresponding fee or agency 
commission. The second division is online and mobile. Here 
the revenues primarily result from B2B2C business. T his 
means that net mobile AG offers its customers – especially 
webmasters and marketing networks – a variety of portals in 
various content categories to optimally monetise their mar-
keting measures. In this context, net mobile AG offers its cus-
tomers a full managed service, based on a platform provid-
ing the possibility of content and portal management, traffic 
optimisation, as well as optimised performance analysis and 
billing processes.
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In the context of cooperation deals and outsourcing solutions, 
net mobile AG also operates as a full provider and sells its own 
services and its partners’ services as a complete service under 
its own name. The sales from this business are the full amount 
invoiced to the customer including the service rendered by the 
cooperation partner. In some of these contractual structures, 
net mobile AG assumes all opportunities and risks relating to 
the marketing of value-added services (e. g. the credit risk of 
customers). For this reason, sales are reported gross, i. e. with-
out deducting the service fees to be paid to partners. Where 
third-party services are included in these deals, they increase 
the cost of sales of net mobile AG. These services are reported 
mainly in the “Digital Enabling” segment. 

Cost of sales are recognised in profit or loss when the sales 
are generated. In addition to the “Cost of materials” (e. g. con-
tent costs and service charges), the cost of sales primarily 
includes the bonuses for the marketing partners and resellers 
plus the carriers’ collection costs and interest and commis-
sion expenses relating to the provision of financial services.

Selling costs and general administration cost are recognised 
in profit or loss at the time they are incurred.

Research and development costs: Research costs are rec-
ognised in profit or loss. E xpenses for the development of 
new products and procedures, which includes significant im-
provements to and the enhancement of existing products and 
software developments, are recognised as expenses if the re-
quirements for capitalisation under IAS 38 are not met.

Interest income and expenses includes interest expense on 
liabilities owed and interest income from securities and cash 
and cash equivalents. I t also comprises the interest com-
ponent of defined-benefit pension plans and similar obliga-
tions. The commercial banking business of net-m privatbank 
1891 AG constitutes an exception to this rule. Here, the inter-
est income and interest expenses relating to financial servic-
es are reported in sales / cost of sales.

All expenses and income from financial transactions not 
included in net interest income, e. g. expenses from the ac-
crual of provisions for other risks, is reported in other fi-
nancial result.

3.4.4. Earnings per share

Earnings per share is calculated on the basis of the weighted 
average number of shares outstanding, including potential 
shares outstanding for diluted earnings per share.

3.5.	Consolidated cash flow statement

The cash flow statement reports investments as a cash flow 
from investing activities only if they lead to a direct outflow 
of cash. In some cases, however, investments have been ac-
quired with the result that a corresponding rise in liabilities 
has initially been recognised and not an outflow of cash. Ac-
cordingly, these transactions are not shown in the consoli-
dated cash flow statement.

3.6.	� Consolidated statement of changes �
in equity 

Regarding the individual equity components, please see the 
consolidated balance sheet. T hese components must be 
shown separately either in the consolidated balance sheet or 
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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3.7.	� Changes in the consolidated group

Additions
As of 31 O ctober  2011 (acquisition date), net mobile AG in-
creased its shareholding in Bankverein Werther Aktiengesell-
schaft, Bielefeld (now net-m privatbank 1891 A G), Germany, 
from 9.99 % to 93.13 %, and has directly held the majority 
interest in net-m privatbank 1891 AG shares since that date. 
As of the acquisition date, the 9.99 % holding was recognised 
in the last year at a fair value of kEUR 743. The resulting re-
valuation surplus in equity of kEUR 619 was released due to 
the acquisition of the majority shares as of 31 October 2011 
and recognised in profit and loss. Following the majority ac-
quisition of the bank, net-m privatbank 1891 A G has been 
fully consolidated in previous year’s financial statements of 
net mobile AG for the first time. The acquisition costs amount-
ed to kEUR 23,973, of which the amount of kEUR 18,127 was 
paid in 2011. The remaining acquisition costs refer to shares 
already acquired in previous years. During this financial year, 
net mobile was continuously acquiring additional shares of 
net-m privatbank 1891 A G at the stock exchange. A t an ex-
traordinary general meeting on 21 November 2012, at which 
time net mobile AG already held 95.16 % of the shares, it was 
decided to transfer the remaining 191,922 shares of the mi-
nority shareholders to net mobile AG against an appropriate 
cash compensation. The purchase price was set at EUR 6.49 
per share, i. e. a total of kEUR 1,246. The complete assignment 
was made only after the balance sheet date. net-m privatbank 
1891 AG was already fully consolidated in 2011, it is merely a 
purchase.

During financial year 2012, net-m privatbank 1891 AG’s main 
operating activities comprised the expansion and further de-
velopment of the two principal business areas Cards & Pay-
ment and Strategic Partnerships. The acquisition was made 
in order to utilise these services within the Group.
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Main balance sheet items of net-m privatbank 1891 AG 
(final purchase price allocation)

31 Oct. 2011  

in kEUR

Carrying 
amounts

before initial
consolidation

Final  
purchase  

price
allocation

Carrying 
amounts

after initial
consolidation

Non-current assets 5,699 – 135 5,564

Property, plant and equipment 32 0 32

Intangible assets 291 0 291

Other non-current assets 5,376 – 135 5,241

Current assets 40,538 1,142 41,680

Other current assets (financial) 10,980 200 11,180

Other current assets (non-financial) 35 0 35

Income tax receivables 94 0 94

Deferred tax assets 0 942 942

Cash and cash equivalents 29,429 0 29,429

Non-current assets held for sale and  
discontinued business divisions 24,900 3,500 28,400

Non-current liabilities 7,194 200 7,394

Current liabilities 25,126 0 25,126

Liabilities designated for sale 35,317 0 35,317

Shareholding in net-m privatbank 1891 AG (in %)  93.13 %

Fair value of net assets at the date of acquisition  7,809

Goodwill 15,871
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The preliminary PPA resulted in the following main 
balance sheet items of net-m privatbank 1891 AG

31 Oct. 2011  
 

in kEUR

Carrying 
amounts

before initial
consolidation

Provisional 
purchase  

price
allocation

Carrying 
amounts

after initial
consolidation 

Non-current assets 5,699 0 5,699

Property, plant and equipment 32 0 32

Intangible assets 291 0 291

Other non-current assets 5,376 0 5,376

Current assets 40,538 963 41,501

Other current assets (financial) 10,980 0 10,980

Other current assets (non-financial) 35 0 35

Income tax receivables 94 0 94

Deferred tax assets 0 963 963

Cash and cash equivalents 29,429 0 29,429

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued business divisions 24,900 3,500 28,400

Non-current liabilities 7,194 0 7,194

Current liabilities 25,126 0 25,126

Liabilities designated for sale 35,317 0 35,317

Shareholding in net-m privatbank 1891 AG (in %)  93.13 %

Fair value of net assets at the date of acquisition  7,963

Goodwill 16,010

Goodwill derives mainly from utilisation of the principal 
business areas “Cards & Payment” and “Strategic P artner-
ships”. I t is assumed that the tax-related goodwill will be 
kEUR 13,353. In accordance with IFRS 3.19, minority interests 
of kEUR 536 were calculated at the time of acquisition using 
the full goodwill method.

During the 2012 financial year, net-m privatbank 1891 AG gen-
erated sales of kEUR 2,529 and a loss of kEUR 858.
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4. 	� Disclosures on the individual items of 
the consolidated balance sheet and 
consolidated statement of comprehen-
sive income 

4.1. 	Assets
The breakdown of non-current assets and changes during the 
2012 financial year are presented in the consolidated state-
ment of changes in non-current assets. 

(1)	�T he additions to property, plant and equipment mainly 
relate to the acquisition of technical equipment and ad-
ditional office and operating equipment, such as hard-
ware. 

(2)	�T he additions to intangible assets of kEUR 17,457 (previ-
ous year: kEUR 7,165) result from:

	 • �purchased marketing rights and licences (kEUR 9,267, 
previous year: kEUR  2,961) necessary for the further 
development of the Group’s platforms,

	 • �internally generated software (kEUR  6,584, previous 
year: kEUR 3,871) and

	 • �purchased software (kEUR  1,606, previous year: 
kEUR  624). I n addition there has been a rebooking 
from the prepayments and construction in progress of 
kEUR 1,265 (previous year: kEUR 0).

The policy practised in previous years of not recognising 
amortisation for one specific exclusive right (Universal) on 
account of the transition to an indefinite useful life as the re-
sult of a contract amendment was not adhered to in the prior 
financial year. An impairment test conducted in accordance 
with IAS   36, which states that such a test is to be carried 
out annually or where there are indications of impairment, 
revealed that an impairment was necessary in the previous 
year. As at 31 December 2012, the exclusive right had a carry-
ing amount of kEUR 0 (previous year: kEUR 0) as no future 
income is anticipated from this right. 

kEUR  3,092 (previous year: kEUR  5,701) of the carrying 
amount for marketing rights and licences relates to a con-
tract with an international content provider. This was for the 
acquisition of the brand licence and exclusive international 
distribution rights. The term of this contract is 38 months and 
the remaining term is twelve months. It is subject to usage-
based amortisation over its useful life.

The licences for the rights to the SMS, MMS, voice and other 
codes are not limited in terms of time. The total amount of 
intangible assets with an indefinite useful life is kEUR 1,264 
(previous year: kEUR  1,177). These assets are tested for im-
pairment annually.

Restricted titles only exist to the extent that the exclusive 
rights can be used but not transferred.

Development expenses of kEUR 6,584 (previous year: 
kEUR 3,871) were capitalised for internally generated soft-
ware. Depreciation for internally generated software in the 
current financial year amounted to kEUR 2,667 (previous 
year: kEUR 2,047). The carrying amount is kEUR 11,003 (pre-
vious year: kEUR 7,086). T he overview below shows the 
breakdown of development costs for the financial year:

The carrying amounts of the individual platforms are as fol-
lows:

�

Platform 
in kEUR

2012 2011

Billing 140 82

maxmedia 3,853 1,607

net mobile minick / net mobile Schweiz 739 1,027

Transport 1,280 818

Tom (GOLDkiwi) 244 0

Voice 328 337

6,584 3,871

Platform 
in kEUR

31 Dec. 
2012

31 Dec. 
2011

Billing 276 225

maxmedia 5,394 2,224 

net mobile minick / net mobile Schweiz 2,100 2,307

Transport 2,232 1,555

Tom (GOLDkiwi) 233 0

Voice 768 775

11,003 7,086
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Impairments were not recognised (previous year: kEUR 5,501) 
during the financial year. 

(3)	� The goodwill that arose in the spin-off of net mobile AG 
or from the acquisition of subsidiaries was not impaired 
in the year under review. S ee 3.4.1. for information on 
the assumptions used in impairment testing. 

(4)	� The fair value of financial instruments, namely kEUR 442 
(previous year: kEUR 426) for equity investments and 
kEUR 9,045 (previous year: kEUR 7,502) for other non-
current financial assets, therefore kEUR 9,487 (previ-
ous year: kEUR 7,928) in total, represents the maximum 
market risk of these balance sheet items.

�The carrying amounts of the financial instruments recog-
nised in line with IAS 39 and their measurement in the previ-
ous year were as follows:

The carrying amounts of the financial instruments recog-
nised in line with IAS 39 and their measurement in the previ-
ous year were as follows:

The hierarchy for non-current financial assets measured at 
fair value is as follows:

Level 1:	�Q uoted market prices (unadjusted) from active 
markets for identical financial instruments

Level 2:	�M odel valuation using observed direct and indirect 
input parameters

Level 3: 	�Model valuation using unobserved input parameters

in EUR Cost
Carrying 
amount 

Financial assets carried using  
the equity method 75,439.51 0.00

Equity investments (available for sale) 758,243.33 442,338.68

- of which measured at fair value 0.00 0.00

- of which measured at cost 758,243.33 442,338.68

Other non-current financial assets  
(available for sale) 6,999,568.75 6,999,568.75

Other non-current financial assets  
(loans and receivables and derivatives  
at fair value through profit and loss) 2,551,890.78 2,045,780.04

- of which measured at fair value 0.00 0.00

- of which measured at cost 2,551,890.78 2,045,780.04

10,385,142.37 9,487,687.47

in EUR Cost
Carrying 
amount

Financial assets carried using  
the equity method 75,439.51 0.00

Equity investments (available for sale) 742,263.33 426,358.68

- of which measured at fair value 0.00 0.00

- of which measured at cost 742,263.33 426,358.68

Other non-current financial assets  
(available for sale) 7,451,658.18 7,451,658.18

Other non-current financial assets  
(loans and receivables and derivatives  
at fair value through profit and loss) 298,252.61 50,000.00

- of which measured at fair value 0.00 0.00

- of which measured at cost 298,252.61 50,000.00

8,567,613.63 7,928,016.86
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The equity investments in 8 Elements Ltd and Dadango Inc. in 
the amount of kEUR 147 (previous year: kEUR 147) are classi-
fied as non-current financial assets available for sale. There 
is currently no active market for these equity investments. 
Thus, no information can be given on the fair value of these 
financial instruments as this cannot be reliably determined. 
Given the lack of market prices, these investments are car-
ried at amortised cost. There are no plans to dispose of these 
equity investments at the current time.

In addition, the interests in GAD eG Münster, FIDUCIA Mail-
ing Services eG, IT Förder- und Beteiligungs eG, Lloyd Fonds 
Britische Kapital Leben and, since this financial year, in Trax-
pay are also classified in the “available for sale” category in 
the amount of kEUR 101 (previous year: kEUR 85). There is 
currently no active market for these interests. Thus, no infor-
mation can be given on the fair value of these financial instru-
ments as this cannot be reliably determined. Given the lack 
of market prices, these interests are carried at cost. T here 
are no plans to dispose of these interests at the current time.

The non-current financial assets include loans to other in-
vestees and investors (in the “Loans and receivables” catego-
ry) of kEUR 1,346 (previous year: kEUR 50) and loans to third 
parties of kEUR 700 (previous year: kEUR 0). 

The fair value of the receivables from financial services with 
fixed interest rates are calculated on the basis of discounted 
future cash flows. The discount rate is based on comparable 
current interest rates. To the extent that the receivables from 
financial services carry variable interest rates, for the sake 
of simplification it is assumed that fair value corresponds to 
the carrying value, as the agreed interest rates correspond 
closely to the interest rates achievable in the marketplace.

The category “Other non-current assets” shows kEUR 7,000 
(previous year: kEUR 7,452), due to net-m privatbank 1891 AG. 
These consist mainly of loans and receivables that do not 
qualify as trade receivables.

As a result of the ongoing loss situation, the only associat-
ed company has an at-equity value of zero as at 31 Decem-
ber 2012 (previous year: kEUR 0). The current year’s result 
of this company amounts to kEUR 83. It has incurred cumu-
lative losses of kEUR 502 to date. Thus, a pro-rata profit for 
the current financial year of kEUR 41 and a cumulative loss of 
kEUR 246 relates to the reporting company. Due to the on-
going loss situation, a non-current loan to the company was 
written down with the result that the loans to this company 
are now 100 % written down.

For risk reporting, see the Group management report.

(5)	� The result before current and deferred income taxes is 
kEUR – 745 for the 2012 financial year and kEUR – 13,981 
for 2011.

The income taxes consist of: 

The deferred tax expense results mainly from the profits 
made by the Group companies and the associated decrease 
in loss carryforwards that will lead to future tax reductions. 
Deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards were capital-
ised based on the expectation of sufficient taxable profits in 
future. As only 50 % utilisation of loss carryforwards is an-
ticipated for net mobile Schweiz AG and net mobile UK Ltd 
based on forecasts, only 50 % of loss carryforwards were 
included in the basis of assessment for the calculation of de-
ferred tax assets. Only 71 % utilisation of loss carryforwards 
is anticipated for net-m privatbank 1891 based on forecasts, 
so only 71 % of loss carryforwards were included in the basis 
of assessment for the calculation of deferred tax assets. No 
utilisation of tax loss carryforwards is anticipated for the 
foreseeable future at GOLDkiwi Media S.A., net mobile Ver-
waltungs A G and net mobile M inick S pain S LU  on account 
of the negative planning situation. Hence, no loss carryfor-
wards were included for these companies in the calculation 
of deferred tax assets. If included, the excluded loss carry-
forwards would have resulted, in part due to exchange rate 
changes, in deferred tax assets of kEUR 261 (previous year: 
kEUR 2,472).

in EUR Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

31 December 2012

Available-for-sale  
financial instruments 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Derivative financial 
instruments 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Loans and receivables 0.00 6,999,568.75 0.00 6,999,568.75

31 December 2011

Available-for-sale  
financial instruments 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Derivative financial 
instruments 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Loans and receivables 0.00 7,451,658.18 0.00 7,451,658.18

in kEUR 2012 2011

Deferred tax expense (PY: income), Germany – 125 4,236

Deferred tax expense, outside Germany – 69 – 469

Current tax expenses, Germany – 21 – 12

Current tax expenses, outside Germany – 3 – 276

– 218 3,479
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The deferred taxes on temporary differences have developed 
as follows:	

For the previous year, the deferred taxes on temporary differ-
ences have developed as follows:

The tax loss carryforwards break down as follows:

In S witzerland, tax loss carryforwards expire after seven 
years. The loss carryforwards of net mobile Verwaltungs AG 
stem entirely from 2008 and would therefore lapse in 2015 
if not previously utilised. At a tax rate of 25 %, the deferred 
taxes on these loss carryforwards would amount to kCHF 897 
or kEUR 743 had they not been 100 % written off. In the case 
of net mobile Schweiz AG, the losses stem entirely from 2011 
and therefore lapse at the end of 2018 if not utilised. The cor-
responding deferred taxes amount to kCHF 296 or kEUR 245, 
of which 50 %, i.e. kEUR 123, has been written off.

For the previous year, the tax loss carryforwards were as fol-
lows:

in kEUR 2012

Deferred taxes on temporary differences, 31 Dec. 2011 394

Deferred taxes on temporary differences, 31 Dec. 2012 332

Change 62

Composed of:

Tax expense according to income statement in 2012 – 218

Plus expenditure on current taxes in 2012 24

Plus deferred tax decrease for loss carryforwards in 2012 132

Other write-downs and adjustments in 2012 221

Other comprehensive income in 2012 – 68

Revaluation surplus in 2012 – 44

Other in 2012 15

62

in kEUR 2011

Deferred taxes on temporary differences, 31 Dec. 2010 1,737

Deferred taxes on temporary differences, 31 Dec. 2011 394

Change 1,343

Composed of:

Tax income according to income statement in 2011 3,479

Plus expenditure on current taxes in 2011 288

Less deferred tax income for loss carryforwards in 2011 – 3,442

Deferred taxes on temporary differences from first-time 
consolidation net-m privatbank 1891 AG in 2011 947

Other write-downs and adjustments in 2011 86

Revaluation surplus in 2011 – 1

Other in 2011 – 14

1,343

Loss 
carryforward

Of which  
not included

net mobile AG 10,391,223.75 EUR 0.00 EUR

SN Telecom GmbH 188,385.27 EUR 0.00 EUR

GOLDkiwi Media SA 1,089,399.73 EUR 1,089,399.73 EUR

First Telecom GmbH 144,247.03 EUR 0.00 EUR

First Communication GmbH 0.00 EUR 0.00 EUR

net-m privatbank 1891 AG 8,160,348.77 EUR 5,759,074.88 EUR

net mobile Verwaltungs AG 3,589,190.09 CHF 3,589,190.09 CHF

net mobile Schweiz AG 1,185,155.49 CHF 592,577.75 CHF

net mobile UK Ltd 1,990,413.71 GBP 995,206.86 GBP

net mobile Minick Spain SLU 1,011,256.98 EUR 1,011,256.98 EUR

Loss 
carryforward

Of which  
not included

net mobile AG 9,564,929.85 EUR 0 EUR

SN Telecom GmbH 410,440.65 EUR 410,440.65 EUR

GOLDkiwi Media SA 245,738.07 EUR 245,738.07 EUR

First Telecom GmbH 316,696.35 EUR 0 EUR

First Communication GmbH 78,886.56 EUR 0 EUR

net-m privatbank 1891 AG 7,850,075.59 EUR 4,450,216.12 EUR

net mobile Verwaltungs AG 3,595,775.21 CHF 3,595,775.21 CHF

net mobile Schweiz AG 1,712,044.91 CHF 856,022.46 CHF

net mobile UK Ltd 2,073,855.07 GBP 1,036,927.54 GBP

net mobile Minick Spain SLU 748,292.97 EUR 748,292.97 EUR
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95.0 % of the profit distributed by a corporation is tax-free 
for the shareholder. For all other profits, the company is sub-
ject to a corporate income tax rate of 15.0 % plus the solidar-
ity surcharge of 5.5 % on the tax liability. This results in a 
combined tax rate of 15.82 %.

net mobile AG is also subject to trade tax, which is no longer 
deducted from the calculation of corporation tax profit on ac-
count of the 2008 tax reform. The effective trade tax rate is 
therefore 15.575 %. The combined income tax rate is there-
fore unchanged at 31.4 %. 

The table below shows the main differences between the ex-
pected tax expense from corporate income tax plus the soli-
darity surcharge and trade tax for 2012 and 2011 and the cur-
rent tax expense.

The following amounts were reported in the consolidated 
balance sheet prior to offsetting deferred tax assets and de-
ferred tax liabilities in the amount of kEUR 1,935 (previous 
year: kEUR 1,903):

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from the following 
items:

The net mobile Group reports a surplus of deferred tax assets 
over deferred tax liabilities, even though it made a loss in the 
current financial year. Deferred tax liabilities were generated 
solely by net mobile AG. Based on planning for subsequent 
years, it can be assumed that in this company as well as in the 
entire net mobile Group sufficient profits will be generated 
for these deferred tax assets to be realised.

(6)	� The inventories in the amount of kEUR  1,446 (previ-
ous year: kEUR 145) relate to down-payments made 
(kEUR 1,141, previous year: kEUR 0) and prepaid ring 
tones, download rights and merchandise-like assets 
(kEUR 305 (previous year: kEUR 145).

(7)	� Trade receivables can be broken down as follows:

in kEUR 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

Consolidated net income (+) / loss (-) before taxes – 745 – 13,981

Group tax rate 31.4 % 31.4 %

Expected tax income 234 4,390

Effect from tax-free income – 16 785

Effect of first-time recognition of deferred  
taxes on loss carryforwards 0 48

Effect from prior-period tax assets – 58 0

Deviations from different tax rates – 19 – 119

Payment of tax arrears from previous years – 8 – 286

Change in write-downs on deferred  
tax assets on loss carryforwards – 130 – 1,253

Other write-downs and adjustments – 221 – 86

Current tax expense (PY: income) – 218 3,479

in kEUR 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

Deferred tax assets:

from deductible temporary differences 1,603 1,509

from tax loss carryforwards 4,501 4,633

6,104 6,142

Deferred tax liabilities:

from taxable temporary differences 1,935 1,903

in kEUR 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

Deferred tax assets:

Intangible assets 1,446 1,688

Other assets 157 0

Loss carryforwards 8,105 7,644

Subtotal 9,708 9,332

Write-downs – 3,604 – 3,190

Subtotal 6,104 6,142

Offset against deferred tax liabilities – 1,935 – 1,903

4,169 4,239

Deferred tax liabilities:

Intangible assets 1,935 1,955

Pension obligations 0 – 52

Subtotal 1,935 1,903

Offset against deferred tax assets – 1,935 – 1,903

0 0

Deferred taxes (net) 4,169 4,239

in kEUR

31 Dec. 2012
Carrying
amount 

31 Dec. 2012
Fair

value

31 Dec. 2011
Carrying
amount 

31 Dec. 2011
Fair 

value

Gross receivables  
from third parties 33,650 33,650 28,334 28,334

Specific write-downs – 1,575 – 1,575 – 1,373 – 1,373

Lump sum  
individual reserves – 109 – 109 – 106 – 106

31,966 31,966 26,855 26,855
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Due to the short term involved, it is assumed that the carry-
ing amount and fair value of trade receivables are the same.

Please see item (23) for information on the composition of 
the write-downs recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 

The receivables all have a term of less than one year and are 
therefore considered current. Under the unlikely assumption 
that all parties owing receivables become insolvent, there is 
a risk of default of kEUR 31,966 (previous year: kEUR 26,855) 
as no collateral has been provided.

On the basis of the generally anticipated rates of default, 
there are risks in the amount of the write-downs reported 
above. 

If these receivables are not offset by corresponding liabili-
ties or there are other reasons that make the default of the 
receivables appear remote, specific write-downs have been 
recognised on these receivables at 100 % of the net amount. 
The write-downs for net-m privatbank 1891 AG were deducted 
directly from the corresponding receivables. I n the case of 
all the other companies, the amounts are shown separately.

(8)	� The items other current financial and non-financial 
assets have a combined amount of kEUR 15,033 (pre-
vious year: kEUR 12,556). kEUR 14,157 (previous year: 
kEUR 11,104) of this relates to financial assets and 
kEUR 876 (previous year: kEUR 1,452) to non-financial 
assets.

Current financial assets mainly include receivables from 
customers of net-m privatbank 1891 A G’s financial servic-
es business in the amount of kEUR 11,507 (previous year: 
kEUR 11,720).

The non-financial assets include receivables from the tax au-
thorities of kEUR 391 (previous year: kEUR 282), kEUR 182 
(previous year: kEUR 0) in unsold contents acquired from a 
distributor, and prepaid expenses of kEUR 303 (previous year: 
kEUR 1,170). 

No collateral was received in either financial or non-financial 
assets.

(9)	 �Claims arising from corporate income tax credit under 
section 37 KStG total kEUR 80 as at 31 December 2012 
(previous year: kEUR 94). These are reported under in-
come tax receivables. 

(10)	 �Cash of kEUR 30,827 (previous year: kEUR 25,162) are 
primarily composed of current bank account balances, de-
posits at central banks and cash with a term of up to three 
months.

(11)	� The assets to be disposed shown in the previous year 
were measured at cost. T hey included intangible as-
sets (kEUR 604), inventories (kEUR 246) and other 
non-financial assets (kEUR 105). Of this, kEUR 918 were 
disposed in the current financial year and the unsold 
assets were again reclassified as fixed assets.

4.2. 	Equity and liabilities

(12)	 Equity 

Authorised Capital 2010

By way of resolution by the A nnual General M eeting of 
27 M ay  2010 (document number Z 1299 / 2010 of the no-
tary Dr. N orbert Zimmermann, Düsseldorf), the E xecutive 
Board was authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory 
Board, to increase the share capital against cash or non-cash 
contributions once or in partial amounts by a total of up to 
EUR 4,233,454 by issuing up to EUR 4,233,454 new no-par-
value shares until 26 May 2015 (Authorised Capital 2010). 

On 26 September 2011, the Executive Board, with the approval 
of the Supervisory Board, resolved to make use of the above 
authorisation. Through the issue of 3,763,068 bearer shares, 
the Company’s equity was increased by EUR 3,763,068.00 to 
EUR  12,229,978. This capital increase was conducted within 
the framework of a rights issue. 

The issue amount of the new shares was fixed at EUR 1.00 per 
new share. The new shares have carried an entitlement to a 
share in the profits since 1 January 2011. The new shares were 
offered to shareholders by means of a direct rights issue. The 
subscription price was EUR 7.10 per new share. 

By way of resolution by the A nnual General M eeting of 
9  July  2012 (document number Z 1756 / 2012 of the notary 
Dr. Norbert Zimmermann, Düsseldorf), the Authorised Capital 
2010 was repealed with effect from the date of registration of 
the new Authorised Capital in the commercial register.
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Authorised Capital 2012

By way of resolution by the A nnual General M eeting of 
9  July  2012 (document number Z 1756 / 2012 of the notary 
Dr. N orbert Zimmermann, Düsseldorf), the E xecutive Board 
was authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, 
to increase the share capital against cash or non-cash con-
tributions once or in partial amounts by a total of up to 
EUR 6,114,989.00 by issuing up to 6,114,989 new no-par-value 
shares until 8 July 2017 (Authorised Capital 2012). 

On 30 November 2012, the Executive Board, with the approval 
of the Supervisory Board, resolved to make use of the above 
authorisation. T hrough the issue of 218,229 bearer shares, 
the Company’s equity was increased by EU R  218,229.00 to 
EUR 12,448,207. This capital increase was conducted within 
the framework of a rights issue. 

The issue amount of the new shares was fixed at EUR  1.00 
per new share. The new shares have carried an entitlement 
to a share in the profits since 1 January 2013, since the imple-
mentation of the capital increase was only registered in the 
commercial register in 2013. The new shares were offered to 
shareholders by means of a direct rights issue. The subscrip-
tion price was EUR 7.79 per new share. 

Following the implementation of this capital increase, au-
thorisation remains under the resolution of the A nnual 
General M eeting of 9  July  2012, to increase capital by 
EUR 5,896,760.00 or 5,896,760 shares.

For the A uthorised Capital 2012 of EU R  5,896,760.00 or 
5,896,760 shares remaining after the implementation of the 
capital increase, the Executive Board is entitled, with the ap-
proval of the S upervisory Board, to disapply shareholders’ 
pre-emption rights,

• �insofar as it is required to equalise fractional amounts;

• �if the capital increase is against cash and the total pro-
rata amount of share capital relating to new shares for 
which pre-emption rights are disapplied does not exceed 
EUR  1,222,977 or 10  % (if lower) of the Company’s share 
capital at the time the new shares are issued and the issue 
amount of the new shares is not significantly less than the 
market price for shares of the same class and features at 
the time the issue amount is conclusively determined by the 
Executive Board in accordance with sections 203 (1) and  (2), 
186 (3) sentence 4 of the Aktiengesetz (AktG – German Stock 
Corporation A ct); the authorisation volume is reduced by 
the pro-rata amount of share capital relating to shares is-
sued or sold since 9 May 2012 with pre-emption rights dis-
applied under direct or mutatis mutandis application of sec-
tion 186 (3) sentence 4 AktG;

• �if the shares are issued against non-cash contributions for 
the purpose of acquiring companies, interests in companies 
or parts of companies;

• �for the purpose of floating the Company’s shares on German 
or foreign stock exchanges on which the Company’s shares 
have not previously been listed;

• �for the purpose of issue to strategic partners;

• �to exercise the conversion options or pre-emption rights of 
bearers of warrants, convertible bonds or convertible par-
ticipation rights issued or to be issued by the Company or 
one of its subsidiaries;

• �for payment of consultancy services;

• �for issue to lenders in lieu of interest payments in cash or in 
addition to such, particularly within the framework of mez-
zanine financing packages;

• �for the purpose of repaying loans or other liabilities.

The Executive Board is authorised, with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board, to determine the further details of the 
capital increase and its implementation. T he S upervisory 
Board is authorised to adjust the wording of the Articles of 
Association to correspond with the respective use of the Au-
thorised Capital.

Authorisation to issue a convertible bond 

By way of resolution of the A nnual General M eeting of 
27 March 2007 (document number Z882 / 2007 of the notary 
Dr. N orbert Zimmermann, Düsseldorf) the E xecutive Board 
was authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, 
to issue convertible and warrant bonds (bonds) with a total 
nominal amount of up to EU R  25,000,000 with a term of 
not more than ten years on one or several occasions until 
26 March 2012 and to grant the bearers or creditors of con-
vertible and warrant bonds conversion rights or warrants to 
new bearer shares of the Company with a pro-rata amount of 
share capital of up to EUR 2,818,143 in line with the terms and 
conditions of the convertible and warrant bonds to be speci-
fied in more detail. This authorisation has not been utilised. 

By way of resolution of the A nnual General M eeting of 
9  July  2012 (document number Z 1756 / 2012 of the notary 
Dr. N orbert Zimmermann, Düsseldorf) the E xecutive Board 
was authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, 
to issue convertible bonds, bonds with warrants, income 
bonds and / or participation rights or a combination thereof 
in one or several (bonds) with a total nominal amount of up 
to EUR 100,000,000 with a term of not more than ten years 
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on one or several occasions until 8 July 2017 and to grant 
the bearers or creditors of convertible and warrant bonds 
(owner) conversion rights or warrants to new bearer shares 
of the Company with a pro-rata amount of share capital of up 
to EUR 6,114,989 in line with the terms and conditions of the 
convertible and warrant bonds to be specified in more detail. 
The bonds and the conversion or option rights or obligations 
may be issued with or without a limited term. 

Previous year’s Contingent Capital 

By way of resolution of the A nnual General M eeting of 
9 July 2012 (document number Z 1756 / 2012 of the notary Dr. 
Norbert Zimmermann, Düsseldorf) the Contingent Capital III 
and the Contingent Capital 2007 have been revoked. There 
have been no other Contingent Capitals from previous years. 

Contingent Capital 2012

The share capital has been contingently increased by up to 
EUR  6,114,989 by issuing up to 6,114,989 new no-par-value 
bearer shares in the Company (Contingent Capital 2012). The 
conditional capital increase serves to grant shares upon the 
exercise of conversion or option rights or the fulfilment of 
conversion or option obligations to the holders due to the 
authorisation granted by the A nnual General M eeting of 
9 July 2012 issued convertible bonds, bonds with warrants, 
income bonds and / or participation rights or a combination 
of these instruments (bonds).

The issue of new shares is determined pursuant to the above 
authorisation conversion or option price. T he Contingent 
Capital increase will only be implemented to the extent that 
the holders of bonds on net mobile AG or its direct or indirect 
majority-owned companies pursuant to the resolution of the 
Annual General Meeting of 9 July 2012 until 8 July 2017 is-
sued or guaranteed to make use of their conversion or option 
rights or conversion or option obligations are fulfilled under 
such bonds, and provided no other forms of performance are 
used. The new shares issued upon exercise of conversion or 
option rights or fulfillment of conversion or option obligation 
carry dividend rights from the beginning of the fiscal year in 
which they are issued.

The Executive Board was authorised, with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board, to determine the implementation of the 
conditional capital increase. The Supervisory Board was au-
thorised to amend the Articles of Association in accordance 
with the use of Contingent Capital and after all conversion or 
option periods.

Treasury shares

By way of resolution of the A nnual General M eeting of 
27 May 2010 (document number Z 1299 / 2010 of the notary 
Dr. N orbert Zimmermann, Düsseldorf), the E xecutive Board 
was authorised to acquire treasury shares in the Company up 
to a limit of 10 % of the existing share capital at the time of 
the resolution. The shares acquired on the basis of this reso-
lution and other shares in the Company previously acquired 
by the Company and still held by it must not exceed 10 % of 
the share capital at any time. The authorisation is valid until 
26 May 2015.

Type and number of shares

On 31  December  2012, the share capital of net mobile AG 
was distributed across 12,229,978 fully paid-in no-par-value 
shares.

During financial year 2012, the authorisation to increase 
share capital was utilised under a resolution of the E xecu-
tive Board and Supervisory Board of 30 November 2012. The 
Company’s equity was increased by EUR 218,229.00 through 
the issue of 218,229 bearer shares. This capital increase was 
conducted within the framework of a rights issue. Following 
the implementation of this capital increase, authorisation re-
mains, under the resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 
9 July 2012, to increase capital by a further EUR 5,896,760.00 
or 5,896,760 shares. Since the capital increase was only reg-
istered in the commercial register on February 1, 2013, at the 
balance sheet date the previous share capital is shown. The 
amount of increase is shown under current other financial 
liabilities until the registration.
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The amount of equity described as the capital reserves is not 
the capital reserves as defined under German commercial law. 
Rather, it also contains the cumulative gains and losses of the 
Group in addition to the premiums from the issue of shares, 
capital reserves from the issue of conversion rights (differ-
ence from the issue amount of the convertible bonds and the 
estimated issue amount of a similar bond without conversion 
rights) and other contributions to equity by partners. 

Within the context of the capital increase implemented during 
the financial year, new shares were issued to shareholders at 
an issue amount of EUR 1.00 per new share. The subscription 
price was EUR 7.79 per new share. 

Foreign currency and revaluation reserve

On the one hand, the currency translation reserve includes 
differences from the translation of the annual financial state-
ments of subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the 
functional currency of the Group. I t also reports currency 
gains and losses arising in connection with the elimination of 
intragroup balances if such gains / losses are treated within 
equity under IAS 21. 	

In 2010, a revaluation surplus is recognised in equity for mea-
surement differences due to the fair-value measurement of 
non-current financial assets classified as available for sale 
in line with IAS   39. T he new deferred tax liabilities arising 
from the remeasurement reduced the reserve accordingly. 
Because these non-current financial assets were to be re-
classified during the previous financial year through the pur-
chase of further shares in affiliated companies, the revalua-
tion surplus was reversed through profit and loss. In the 2012 
financial year, actuarial gains and losses in connection with 
pension obligations are recognised in the revaluation reserve.

The number of shares outstanding in the 2012 financial year 
was 12,229,978. A fter recognising the described capital in-
crease, the number was increased to 12,448,207.

Profit distribution

net mobile AG did not distribute dividends in the past finan-
cial year.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Further details on the development of equity, including in par-
ticular the offsetting of currency differences against equity 
in the financial year, are given in the separate consolidated 
statement of changes in equity. 

(13)	� Non-current financial liabilities of the previous year in-
cluded, in particular, the non-current portion of a liability 
arising from an exclusive contract with a content part-
ner of the Group (kEUR 3,340). The contract has a total 
period of 38 months. Since the contract period ends at 
31 December 2013, the whole liability has been classified 
as current. 

The maturities of these prior-year liabilities, translated on the 
basis of the closing rate, are as follows:

Non-current liabilities to banks amount to kEUR 972 (previ-
ous year: kEUR 1,231) and result only from net-m privatbank 
1891 AG. They have a remaining term of between one and five 
years. 

There are also non-current liabilities relating to finan-
cial services in the amount of kEUR 4,651 (previous year: 
kEUR 9,016).

Maturity
in kEUR

1st quarter 2012: 2,017

2nd quarter 2012: 735

3rd quarter 2012: 721

4th quarter 2012: 707

1st quarter 2013: 694

2nd quarter 2013: 681

3rd quarter 2013: 668

4th quarter 2013: 655

1st quarter 2014:  643

7,521
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(14)	� The accrued pension provisions resulting from individu-
al commitments were offset against the associated plan 
assets. T he deficit is reported as a pension provision. 
Please read the information above regarding the recog-
nition of plan assets. Pension obligations are calculated 
and measured in line with IAS 19.54. Actuarial gains and 
losses are since this financial year no longer recognised 
in profit or loss but in the other comprehensive income. 
For materiality reasons, the previous year’s figures have 
not been restated. Plan assets are carried at fair value 
and include securities. The pension obligation was deter-
mined by way of actuarial reports by Allianz Lebensver-
sicherungs-AG (net mobile minick  GmbH) and M ercer 
Deutschland GmbH (net-m privatbank 1891 AG). The fol-
lowing parameters were used by net mobile minick 
GmbH:

The figures for the previous year were calculated on the basis 
of the following parameters:

The pension obligations and plan assets developed as follows 
in the current financial year (w / o net-m privatbank 1891 AG):

The changes in the pension obligation and plan assets are 
recognised in the income statement under staff costs, which 
are included pro rata in cost of sales, selling expenses, re-
search and development costs and general administrative 
expenses. 

in %

Discount rate 3.6

Pension trend 1.0

Salary increase rate 0.0

Career trend 0.0

Fluctuation 1.0 – 7.0

Social security trend 1.5

Inflation 0.0

Assessment ceiling trend 1.5

in %

Discount rate 4.45

Pension trend 1.0

Salary increase rate 0.0

Career trend 0.0

Fluctuation 1.0 – 7.0

Social security trend 1.5

Inflation 0.0

Assessment ceiling trend 1.5

in kEUR
Pension 

obligations
Plan  

assets
Surplus (+) / 

deficit (-) 

Balance as at 30 Sept. 2010 199 178 – 21

Pension expense 1 0 – 1

Current interest expense 2 0 – 2

Expected return on plan assets 0 2 2

Contributions paid 0 3 3

Expected balance  
as at 31 Dec. 2010 202 183 – 19

Actuarial gains /losses 0 0 0

Balance as at 31 Dec. 2010 202 183 – 19

Pension expense 5 0 – 5

Current interest expense 9 0 – 9

Expected return on plan assets 0 9 9

Contributions paid 0 15 15

Expected balance  
as at 31 Dec. 2011 216 207 – 9

Actuarial gains / losses 3 4 1

Balance as at 31 Dec. 2011 219 211 – 8

Pension expense 4 0 – 4

Current interest expense 10 0 – 10

Expected return on plan assets 0 15 15

Expected balance  
as at 31 Dec. 2012 233 226

– 7

Actuarial gains / losses 70 19 – 51

Balance as at 31 Dec. 2012 303 245 – 58
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The pension obligations of net-m privatbank 1891 A G were 
based on individually agreed pension commitments for three 
former or retired members of the board. They were determined 
by way of an actuarial report by Mercer Deutschland GmbH. 
The parameters salary increase rate, career trend, fluctuation 
and social security trend have been weighted at 0.00 %. This 
is in the light of the specific composition of the group of ben-
eficiaries, consisting of two retired persons and one person 
with vested entitlement who has left the company. 

The following parameters were used for 31 December 2012:

Previous year’s figures were calculated on the basis of the 
following parameters:

The pension obligations developed as follows in the current 
financial year:

The changes in the pension obligation are recognised in the 
income statement under staff costs, which are included pro 
rata in cost of sales, selling expenses and general adminis-
trative expenses. The actuarial gains / losses are recognised 
within other comprehensive income.

(15)	� The provisions relate mainly to a commitment from a 
lawsuit. As in the case of the actual occurrence of the 
obligation there is the possibility of recourse to sup-
pliers, the identical amount is recognised as a current 
other financial asset.

(16)	� The trade payables are all due within one year. T his 
item includes accruals of kEUR 3,815 (previous year: 
kEUR 3,824). 

in %

Discount rate 3.60

Pension trend 2.00

Inflation 0.00

in %

Discount rate 5.13

Pension trend 2.00

Inflation 0.00

in kEUR
Pension 

obligations

Balance as at 1 Nov. 2011 908

Pension expense 13

Current interest expense 46

Contributions paid – 53

Balance as at 30 Dec. 2011 914

Current interest expense 46

Contributions paid – 50

Actuarial gains / losses 174

Balance as at 30 Dec. 2012 1,084
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The table below shows the development �
of all short-term deferrals:

in kEUR
Balance at 

1 Jan. 2012 Utilisation Reversal

Adjustment 
for change in 
consolidated 

group

Addition / 
currency 

adjustments
Balance at 

31 Nov. 2012

Staff-related deferrals

Commission / bonuses 876 813 55 0 569 577

Holiday obligations 208 178 18 0 134 146

Employers’ liability insurance association 40 28 12 0 38 38

Other staff costs 178 16 7 0 63 218

Total accruals in other current liabilities (financial) 1,302 1,035 92 0 804 979

Other deferrals

Legal and pro-fessional fees 420 414 6 0 665 665

Supervisory Board remuneration 14 9 5 0 10 10

Miscellaneous other deferrals 3,390 3,016 374 0 3,140 3,140

Total deferrals in trade payables 3,824 3,439 385 0 3,815 3,815

Total deferrals 5,126 4,474 477 0 4,619 4,794

Miscellaneous other deferrals of kEUR 3,140 (previous year: 
kEUR 3,390) consist of subsequent invoices in the cost of 
goods sold in the amount of kEUR 2,856 (previous year: 
kEUR 2,580). Subsequent costs are non-received invoices for 
sales that were already settled in the period under review. 

(17)	� Current liabilities to banks of kEUR 28,245 (previ-
ous year: kEUR 7,534) include current loan liabilities 
of kEUR 22,500 (previous year: kEUR 2,100) repayable 
within twelve months and current account liabilities.

(18)	� The current other financial liabilities of kEUR 36,079 
(previous year: kEUR 25,769) include liabilities from 
staff obligations and liabilities to employees, social se-
curity liabilities and wage tax liabilities in the amount 
of kEUR 804 (previous year: kEUR 859). This item also 
includes income tax liabilities of kEUR 1,048 (previous 
year: kEUR 872) and accruals of kEUR 979 (previous 
year: kEUR 1,302). T he development of all short-term 
deferrals is shown in the table under (16). Also included 
are kEUR 31,327 (previous year: kEUR 22,736) of other 
current financial liabilities relating to the banking busi-
ness, such as liabilities to bank customers in the amount 
of kEUR 31,311 (previous year: kEUR 22,263). Further-
more, the not yet registered capital in the amount of 
kEUR 1,700, of which kEUR 218 relate to the share capital 
and kEUR 1,482 relate to the capital reserve, is reported.
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4.3.	�Consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income 

In order to achieve greater transparency in the general devel-
opment of costs, the Executive Board resolved the following:

• �Bad debt allowances for current assets as well as other 
expenses shall be shown isolated from the rest of the con-
solidated statement of comprehensive income. This type of 
presentation provides additional information which goes be-
yond the IFRS minimum reporting requirements; it is shown 
for the current financial year, as it has been done in previous 
years. Moreover, the result is also shown in connection with 
write-downs. On the one hand, this result includes losses on 
receivables and additions to specific and global write-downs 
while, on the other, it also includes cash receipts from receiv-
ables previously written off and income from the reduction 
of specific and global write-downs. Write-downs on current 
assets are also recognised here. Other expenses include IT 
rental and leasing expenses.

• �net mobile AG is currently in an investment-intensive growth 
phase. As a result, there is a high level of write-downs on 
tangible and intangible assets. In order to increase transpar-
ency, these items are also reported in isolation in the con-
solidated statement of comprehensive income.

Without these adjustments, the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income (without development of other com-
prehensive income) would look as follows: 

in EUR 2012 2011

Sales 124,764,335.14 106,648,072.20

of which banking business 2,529,198.79 601,163.81

Cost of sales – 109,845,133.24 – 101,558,029.46

of which banking business – 1,523,824.32 – 292,648.24

Gross margin 14,919,201.90 5,090,042.74

Selling expenses – 5,469,818.82 – 5,939,322.77

Research and development costs – 7,489,296.03 – 4,637,681.83

General administration costs – 1,857,606.83 – 7,119,641.23

EBIT 102,480.22 – 12,606,603.09

Interest revenue 50,111.21 193,659.47

Interest expenses – 839,722.76 – 795,534.82

Financial expenses – 60,918.51 – 776,788.47

Result from associated companies 3,527.67 4,766.40

Financial result – 847,002.39 – 1,373,897.42

Consolidated net loss before income taxes – 744,522.17 – 13,980,500.51

Income taxes – 217,867.28 3,479,290.59

Consolidated net loss before  
minority interests – 962,389.45 – 10,501,209.92

Minority interests 41,549.79 0.00

Consolidated net loss – 920,839.66 – 10,501,209.92
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The following notes relate to the extended consolidated state-
ment of comprehensive income.

(19)	 �Sales can be divided economically and by segment into 
the following units or segments:

• “Digital Enabling”

• “Payment & Interactive”

• “Voice”

• “Online & TV”

Sales break down by region as follows:

Please see segment reporting for a detailed breakdown of 
sales by product. 

Sales include kEUR 2,529 (previous year: kEUR 601) and cost 
of sales kEUR 1,524 (previous year: kEUR 261) relating to the 
banking business.

(20)	�Selling expenses break down as follows: 

(21)	� In the past financial year, research costs and (non-capi-
talisable) development costs of kEUR 6,883 (previous 
year: kEUR 4,129) were incurred. They mainly relate to 
the ongoing development of existing systems and in-
creasing the redundancy of systems. They break down 
as follows:

(22)	� General administrative expenses break down as follows:

(23)	� The write-downs recognised in the amount of kEUR 447 
(previous year: kEUR 1,952) break down as follows:

Period
in %

Domestic Rest of EU Rest of world 
not inc. EU

2012 FY 86 8 6

2011 FY 90 6 4

in kEUR 2012 2011

Staff costs 2,596 2,589

Marketing and trade fairs 579 422

Travel expenses 169 240

Costs of premises 134 81

Telecommunication / iT expenses 62 123

Consultancy / audit expenses 3 40

Other selling expenses 1,484 1,793

5,027 5,288

in kEUR 2012 2011

Staff costs 5,005 4,001

Costs of premises 324 187

Telecommunication / iT expenses 316 247

Travel expenses 104 113

Other research and development costs 7,718 3,452

Capitalised development costs – 6,584 – 3,871

6,883 4,129

in kEUR 2012 2011

Staff costs 1,213 4,232

Consultancy / audit expenses 1,124 1,536

Costs of premises 264 559

Telecommunication / iT expenses 193 146

Other administrative expenses / income (-) – 1,087 – 134

1,707 6,339

in kEUR 2012 2011

Write-downs of trade receivables 224 1,036

Write-downs of inventories 0 896

Write-downs of receivables relating  
to the banking business 223 20

447 1,952
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(24)	� Previous year’s income from financial assets measured 
through profit and loss related to income from the re-
measurement taken on the shares of net-m privatbank 
1891 AG for the period prior to first-time consolidation.

(25)	 �Depreciation does not include any impairments of non-
current assets (previous year: kEUR 5,501).

(26)	� Other expenses essentially include IT rental and leasing 
expenses shown separately for reasons of clarity. 

(27)	 Net interest result breaks down as follows: 

(28)	Net financial income breaks down as follows:

The foreign currency gains and losses included here of 
kEUR – 56 (previous year: kEUR – 470) also include differenc-
es from the elimination of intercompany profits due solely to 
consolidation. 

(29)	�Results from associated companies relate to dividend 
earnings. 

(30)	�Please see item (5) for information on income taxes.

(31)	 �Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the con-
solidated net profit by the weighted average number 
of shares outstanding. The Company holds no treasury 
shares.

Currently and in the financial year as a whole, no convert-
ible bonds or other instruments were issued that could result 
in shares in net mobile AG in future. As there are therefore 
no potential ordinary shares, diluted earnings per share are 
equal to basic earnings per share.

Please see 4.2 N ote 12 “Authorised Capital 2012” and the 
increase of share capital by 6,114,989 shares without nomi-
nal value, registered in January 2013, which would have a 
material impact on earnings per share.

in kEUR 2012 2011

Interest revenue 50 194

Interest expenses – 840 – 796

– 790 – 602

in kEUR 2012 2011

Financial income 0 0

Financial expenses – 61 – 777

– 61 – 777
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5.	S egment reporting

The Group’s reporting is for the first time divided into four 
segments. T he existing three segments were extended by 
the new segment “Online & TV”. T he net mobile Group has 
defined its reporting segments by breaking them down ac-
cording to product groups in conjunction with sales channels. 

Segment reporting by business area is as follows:

Payment & Interactive (P & I) segment

In the “Payment & Interactive” segment, net mobile has po-
sitioned itself as a product provider, offering a complete 
range of payment solutions and, to a lesser extent, content 
distribution solutions. The product range is oriented towards 
consumer marketing companies, marketing agencies, manu-
facturers of branded goods and other business clients. Since 
2011, the Group’s banking activities were allocated to this sec-
tor following the takeover of net-m privatbank 1891 AG.

In the “Payment & Interactive” segment, one customer is 
responsible for a share of more than 10 % of total segment 
shares.

The biggest customer accounts for 17.4  % (previous year: 
21.4 %) of total segment sales.

Digital Enabling (DE) segment

In the “Digital E nabling” segment, net mobile AG operates 
as an end-to-end provider for carriers, content owners and 
digital content operators in Germany and abroad, offering 
complex solutions based on its internally developed maxme-
dia platform with optional content aggregation and rights 
management. 

In the “Digital Enabling” segment, three customers are each 
responsible for a share of more than 10 % of total segment 
sales.

Customer 1 accounts for 38.7 % (previous year: 36.0 %) of 
total segment sales.

Customer 2 accounts for 30.0 % (previous year: 27.8 %) of 
total segment sales.

Customer 3 accounts for 12.5 % (previous year: 7.7 %) of total 
segment sales.

Voice segment 

In the V oice segment, net mobile AG provides alternative 
marketing opportunities for unsold advertising time. T he 
products are offered as full-service solutions (combined prod-
uct and marketing concepts). net-m also markets products 
utilising industrial property rights. net mobile AG is currently 
planning to initiate activities in the area of licensing and mer-
chandising products. 

In the “Voice” segment, one customer is responsible for a 
share of more than 8 % of total segment sales.

Customer 1 accounts for 9.8 % (previous year: 8.6 %) of total 
segment sales.

Online & TV segment

In the “Online & TV” segment, firstly reported in the current 
financial year, net mobile AG offers the selling of products via 
Internet and television advertising. The realised revenues re-
sult primarily from traditional advertising of digital goods and 
services in the area B2B2C. 

In the “Online & TV” segment, two customers are each re-
sponsible for a share of more than 9 % of total segment sales.

Customer 1 accounts for 13.0 % of total segment sales. 

Customer 2 accounts for 9.5 % of total segment sales.

Segment earnings consist of segment income less segment 
expenses and correspond to EBIT.
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Segment performance was as follows:

Segment breakdown

31 Dec. 2012
in kEUR P & I DE Voice Online & TV Other Group

Gross sales (external) 73,555 21,729 19,347 10,133 124,764

Sales (internal)

Segment operating results from  
continuing operations

D & A and leasing 2,053 6,887 382 328 9,650

of which unscheduled

EBITDA 95 6,912 202 2,543 9,752

EBITDA margin 0.1 % 31.8 % 1.0 % 25.1 % 7.8 %

Interest income / income from investments 54 54

Interest expenses / write-downs and  
expenses from currency translation – 901 – 901

Tax results – 85 – 84 – 38 – 11 – 218

�
31 Dec. 2012
in kEUR P & I DE Voice Online & TV Other Group

Group results – 2,043 – 59 – 219 2,206 – 847 – 962

Intangible assets and PPE 8,589 18,885 3,427 1,731 32,632

Goodwill 18,852 7,212 1,580 3,318 30,962

Non-current financial assets and  
deferred tax assets 7,451 2,954 2,134 1,118 13,657

Total assets by segment 70,733 58,892 14,476 12,503 156,604

Current liabilities 10,534 61,298 21,132 1,907 94,871

Non-current liabilities 6,706 59 0 0 6,765

Group liabilities 17,240 61,356 21,132 1,908 101,636

Investments 6,394 12,789 1,071 1,885 22,139

73

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



31 Dec. 2012 
in kEUR P & I DE Voice Other Group

Gross sales (external) 74,059 16,169 16,420  106,648

Sales (internal)      

Segment operating results from continuing operations      

D & A and leasing 2,962 9,984 1,596 0 14,542

of which unscheduled  5,501  0 5,501

EBITDA 3,419 – 1,231 – 252 0 1,936

EBITDA margin 4.6 % – 7.6 % – 1.5 %  1.8 %

Interest income / income from investments 0 0 0 198 198

Interest expenses / write-downs and expenses from currency translation 0 – 590 – 982 – 1,572

Tax results – 144 3,522 580 – 479 3,479

Group results 314 – 8,284 – 1,268 – 1,264 – 10,502

Intangible assets and PPE 6,057 14,026 2,072  22,155

Goodwill 18,991 7,212 4,898  31,101

Non-current financial assets and deferred tax assets 1,387 10,780 0  12,167

Total assets by segment 92,204 32,018 6,970  131,192

Current liabilities 44,058 8,638 7,688  60,384

Non-current liabilities 12,451 1,511 547  14,509

Group liabilities 56,508 10,149 8,235  74,892

Investments 29,247 3,255 503  33,005

The shares in H2O, which are carried at equity, are reported 
in the Digital Enabling segment.
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6. 	O ther disclosures

6.1. 	Executive bodies

Executive Board 

Theodor Niehues, Business Mathematics Graduate, Chairman 
of the Executive Board

Kai Markus Kulas, Graduate Economist, member of the Execu-
tive Board for the “Digital Enabling”

Dieter Plassmann, Electrical Engineering Graduate, member 
of the Executive Board for Technology

Frank Hartmann, Banker, member of the Executive Board for 
Finance 

Edgar Schnorpfeil, Telecommunications Engineering Graduate, 
member of the Executive Board for the “Payment & Banking”

The remuneration of the E xecutive Board amounted to 
kEUR 961  in the financial year (previous year: kEUR 1,464), 
plus the promise of variable remuneration of kEUR 445 (pre-
vious year kEUR 255) in connection with the achievement 
of annual targets. Of this, kEUR 27 (previous year: kEUR 33) 
is for services after termination of the working relationship. 
The remainder of the remuneration is due in the short term.

Supervisory Board

Hajime Kii, Deputy Manager of the Global Business division of 
NTT DOCOMO INC., Tokyo, Japan, Chairman 

Hiroyuki S ato, E xecutive Director Business Development in 
the Global Business division of NTT DOCOMO INC., Tokyo, Ja-
pan, Deputy Chairman

	 Other mandates: 

	 • �Managing Director of DOCOMO Deutschland GmbH, 
Düsseldorf

Alexander Straub, businessman, �
London, GB (since 14 May 2013)

	 Other mandates: 

	 • �Managing Director of truphone Ltd, �
London, GB

	 • �Managing Director of Empora Group Ltd, �
London, GB

	 • �Managing Director of Empora Ltd, �
London, GB

	 • �Managing Director of Straub Ventures Ltd, �
London, GB
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According to the A rticles of A ssociation, the members of 
the Supervisory Board are entitled to total remuneration of 
kEUR 35 for the 2012 financial year. If this remuneration and 
possibly the remuneration for the previous year has not yet 
been paid as at the end of the reporting period, appropriate 
provisions have been recognised. S upervisory Board mem-
bers Hajime Kii and Hiroyuki Sato waived their Supervisory 
Board remuneration.

The Supervisory Board members were reimbursed expenses 
incurred by them of kEUR 3 (previous year: kEUR 2).

6.2. 	Employees 

In the past financial year, the average number of employees 
was 253 (previous year: 197). Employee numbers were as fol-
lows on 31 December 2012:

They are assigned to the following areas:

6.3. 	Further disclosures

Cost of materials:

Staff costs:

The write-downs recognised in the financial statements 
break down as follows:

The fee for the auditor of the consolidated and separate finan-
cial statements (KPMG A G Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
and its affiliates) is kEUR 474 (previous year: kEUR 297). This 
fee relates solely to year-end audit services.

Contingent liabilities are as follows:

• �Refunds of kEUR 680 are still being claimed, as in the pre-
vious year, from First Telecom GmbH in proceedings pend-
ing from the previous year. It is considered highly likely that 
First Telecom GmbH will not face any payment obligation. 
First Telecom GmbH would in turn be able to claim a refund 
from its supplier if this obligation arises.

Other financial obligations predominantly relate to rental 
agreements and operating leases.

The beneficial ownership of leases remains with the lessor 
if the lessor bears the opportunities and risks related to the 
leased asset. The Group’s obligation arising from non-cancel-
lable operating leases relates to leases for the vehicle fleet. 
No purchase options or escalation clauses have been agreed. 
Expenses from operating leases recognised in profit or loss 
amounted to kEUR 627 for the current financial year (previ-
ous year: kEUR 410). Specifically, the figures for future obli-
gations from operating leases and rental agreements for of-
fice space are as follows:

31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

Employees (not incl. members of the 
Executive Board, trainees, students) 257 214

31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

Research and development 96 75

Products and services 90 69

Sales 40 39

General administration 31 31

257 214

in kEUR 2012 2011

Cost of purchased services 94,930 89,126

in kEUR 2012 2011

Wages and salaries 16,430 12,487

Social security contributions and expenses 
for pensions 2,500 1,790

- �of which pension expenses (defined-
contribution pension expenses) 2,436 1,734

18,930 14,277

in kEUR 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011

Reduction in earnings in connection  
with write-downs 447 1,952

- �of which write-downs on banking 
receivables 	  223 20

- �of which write-downs on current assets 0 896

Amortisation of intangible assets 8,302 8,071

Write-downs on intangible assets 0 5,501

Depreciation of property, plant and  
equipment 721 561

9,470 16,085
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For the previous year, these obligations were as follows:

There are no obligations arising from deposit protection 
under civil law. The customers of net-m privatbank 1891 AG 
have been duly informed. There is portfolio protection for the 
deposits in existence prior to the cancellation of the deposit 
protection as of 31 March 2012.

6.4. 	�RelateD-Party disclosures

net mobile AG conducted the following transactions with re-
lated parties: 

Expenses of kEUR 8 (previous year: kEUR 23) arose from 
commissioning a company (sole trader) of the wife of a mem-
ber of the Executive Board. As at the reporting date, there are 
no liabilities in this regard.

In addition, the preparation of ongoing accounts and finan-
cial statements has been assumed for the parent company, 
DOCOMO Deutschland GmbH, until 31 October 2012. As at the 
balance sheet date, there were outstanding receivables re-
lating to this of kEUR 12 (previous year: kEUR 4). T he total 
volume in the financial year was kEUR 105 (previous year: 
kEUR 11).

Sales of kEUR 2,011 (previous year: kEUR 1,576) were gener-
ated with NTT DOCOMO INC., Tokyo, Japan, in the financial 
year. These sales arose from the sale and disposal of man-
ga content and the performance of services. net mobile AG 
also achieved other operating income of kEUR 401 (previous 
year: kEUR 335) from charging on personnel costs. The out-
standing balance of receivables from NTT  DOCOMO IN C. is 
kEUR 648 (previous year: kEUR 403).

Interest income of kEUR 26 (previous year: kEUR 26) was 
generated from loans issued to the associate H2O Entertain-
ment GmbH. The loan values amount to kEUR 1,126 (previous 
year: kEUR 480) as at the end of the reporting period. The 
increase is related to a new loan agreement for an asset sale 

between net mobile AG and H2O Entertainment GmbH in the 
amount of kEUR 646, which equals the book value of the 
loan (previous year: kEUR 0). In addition, there are also cur-
rent account receivables in the amount of kEUR 84 (previous 
year: kEUR 52).

All business transactions with related parties have been cal-
culated and charged at arm’s length.

6.5. 	Capital management

The net mobile Group performs capital management both 
Group-wide and at a regional level. The objective of the al-
location of financial resources in general and capital in par-
ticular is to support profitable business areas that have the 
biggest positive effect on the Group’s profitability and share-
holder value. Therefore, regular budget and liquidity planning 
is performed for the individual locations and segments. 

This is the basis on which the Group’s capital strategy, ap-
proved by the Executive Board, is developed. It is the Group’s 
aim to have solid capitalisation at all times. Capital supply and 
demand are monitored at all times and adjusted if necessary 
to meet capital requirements in line with various consider-
ations. 

The allocation of capital, the stipulation of the Group’s financ-
ing plan and similar resources issues are discussed by the Ex-
ecutive Board. 

Regional capital plans that cover the capital requirements 
of the Group’s branch offices and subsidiaries are prepared 
annually and approved by the Executive Board. Where appli-
cable, legal requirements are also taken into consideration in 
the development, implementation and review of the Group’s 
capital and liquidity.

The capital management of the net mobile Group serves the 
following objectives: 

• �compliance with the statutory minimum capital require-
ments at Group level and in all Group companies of the regu-
latory group;

• �providing a sufficient buffer to ensure that all Group compa-
nies can operate at any time;

• �strategic allocation of core capital to segments and Group 
divisions in order to exploit growth opportunities.

in kEUR 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Leases 529 406 317 185 185

Rental agreements 746 365 365 329 146

1,275 771 682 514 331

in kEUR 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Leases 227 145 0 0 0

Rental agreements 1,296 1,294 1,224 1,041 985

1,523 1,439 1,224 1,041 985

77

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



The capital increase implemented in the current financial 
year increased the share capital of the net mobile Group from 
EUR 12,229,978 to EUR 12,448,207 by way of a cash capital 
increase. Given the high equity ratio and sufficient cash re-
sources, further capital increases are neither planned nor 
considered necessary by the Executive Board at the current 
time. S ince the capital increase was only registered in the 
commercial register on 1 February 2013, at the balance sheet 
date the previous share capital is shown. The amount of in-
crease is shown under current other financial liabilities until 
the registration.

In line with section 92 (1) AktG, we are required to convene 
an extraordinary general meeting immediately in the event of 
a loss of half of the share capital. In particular, capital man-
agement therefore includes the monitoring of the equity of 
net mobile AG as calculated in line with HGB provisions. The 
share capital is not only fully paid in, it is additionally backed 
by reserves. Taking into account the reserves and cumulative 
profits, the relevant equity in the single-entity HGB financial 
statements of net mobile AG amounts to around EUR 42.1 mil-
lion (previous year: EUR 44.3 million).

Taking into account the reserves and the profit for the period, 
consolidated equity calculated in line with IFRS as at 31 De-
cember  2012 amounts to EU R  56.3  million (previous year: 
EUR 56.3 million), of which EUR 0.5 million (previous year: 
EUR 0.7 million) relates to non-controlling interests. Given the 
forecast improvement in earnings from operating activities, 
the equity position of the net mobile Group can be expected 
to improve significantly.

An improvement in operating earnings is expected to enable 
the cash flow of the net mobile Group to develop positively 
on an ongoing basis. As a result, the Group’s equity resources 
will also increase, giving rise to the possibility of dividend pay-
ments to our shareholders in the medium term.

The subsidiary net-m privatbank 1891 A G is subject to the 
regulatory provisions of the KWG (German Banking Act) and 
Solvabilitätsverordnung (German S olvency Regulation) and 
its liable capital / own funds need to be calculated in accor-
dance with these requirements. T he liable capital and own 
funds of net-m privatbank 1891 AG under section 10 KWG are 
made up as follows:

As at the reporting date, net-m privatbank 1891 AG is subject 
to the following equity requirements:

in kEUR

31 Dec. 2012 
before 

adoption 
of annual 
financial

31 Dec. 2011 
after 

adoption 
of annual 
financial 

31 Dec. 2010 
after 

adoption 
of annual 
financial 

Core capital

Paid-in share capital  10,141  7,556  5,957 

Capital reserves  5,221  4,844  4,610 

less:

Net accumulated losses 5,630 5,629  6,499 

Intangible assets 248  248  329 

9,484 6,523  3,739 

Supplementary capital

Free additional reserves under sec. 340f HGB — — —

Liable capital 9,484 6,523  3,739 

Own funds 9,484 6,523  3,739 

in kEUR 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2011 31 Dec. 2010

Capital charge for counterparty risks 1,520 1,525 2,368 

Operational risks  509 509 351 

Sum of capital charges 2,029 2,034 2,719 

Total equity 9,484 6,523 3,739

Total equity ratio 37.39 % 25.67 % 11.00 %
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At 37.39 % on 31 December 2012 and 25.67 % on 31 Decem-
ber 2011, net-m privatbank 1891 AG’s total equity ratio is well 
above the required minimum of 8.00 %. 

net-m privatbank 1891 AG sees the risk tolerance analysis as a 
dynamic control tool with which to regulate and strategically 
orient its operations. T he risk tolerance analysis takes into 
account counterparty risks, market price risks, liquidity risks 
and operational risks. The risk management approach is char-
acterised by the strategic focus on more operational risk ser-
vice-oriented business. Nevertheless, the counterparty risk is 
still a significant risk to the bank. I n the reporting year, as 
every year, the risk management systems were consistently 
refined and adapted to the latest developments in the busi-
ness sectors. Particular attention was paid to the image of the 
risks of new business areas. As part of our risk management 
process, credit, market, operational and liquidity risks as ma-
jor risk types are analysed. Liquidity risks are monitored in 
net-m privatbank 1891 AG in the risk-bearing capacity and the 
regulatory liquidity ratio. Additionally, in the assessment of 
operational risk (risk of harm and risk to earnings) risks of the 
new business areas are considered.

According to the risk manual of net-m privatbank 1891 AG, the 
risks are calculated for two different scenarios:

• �The “normal case” scenario, which can occur each year and 
is of key relevance to the income statement.

• �The “problem case” scenario, which on the basis of the 
stress scenarios presents the actual ICAAP analysis.

Risk tolerance for both scenarios was assured in 2012. A s 
at 31  December  2012, utilisation of the total risk limit was 
24.50 % (previous year: 10.50 %) for the normal case sce-
nario and 46.10 % (previous year: 57.30 %) for the problem 
case scenario.

6.6. 	Financial risks

Management of financial risks

Within the context of its ordinary operations, net mobile AG 
is exposed to credit risks, liquidity risks and various market 
price risks that could significantly influence its results or fi-
nancial position. The Company’s policy is to eliminate or limit 
the risks of operations and the market price risks arising 
from the resulting financing requirements as far as possible. 
This entails the performance of regular risk analyses, which 
are used as a basis for decision-making by the management. 
Overall risk management is the responsibility of the Execu-
tive Board. 

The carrying amount of financial instruments, not including 
collateral or other agreements reducing the risk of default, 
is the equivalent for the maximum risk of default exposure at 
the end of the reporting period. Please see item (4) below for 
an exact breakdown of financial instruments. 

The concentration risk is limited by investment guidelines in 
addition to being monitored on an ongoing basis. I t is also 
relatively low overall. The risks of any investment are exam-
ined carefully before proceeding. A n investment only goes 
ahead if the E xecutive Board considers the identified risks 
acceptable. 

The specific risks in connection with financial instruments 
and their management are detailed below.
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Credit risks

The value of receivables and other financial assets can be im-
paired if transaction partners do not pay or otherwise meet 
their obligations. The maximum risk of default is equal to the 
total amount of the financial assets.

Country risks from Group loans are observed at all times, 
analysed methodically and managed centrally.

Liquid funds: Liquid funds include cash. When investing cash 
and cash equivalents, the financial institutions and issuers 
are carefully selected and diversified across set limits. T he 
limits and their degree of utilisation are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Within the context of investment selection, an 
impeccable credit risk is presupposed and to a certain extent 
minimum ratings are defined. 

Receivables from the credit business: These financial assets 
relate to the banking operations of the net mobile AG subsid-
iary net-m privatbank 1891 AG. They are reported under cur-
rent financial assets. The resulting credit risks are monitored 
and managed on the basis of defined standards, guidelines 
and processes. The credit risk is considered in the case of both 
the standard credit business, the factoring business and the 
invoice- and instalment business. The factoring business as 
well as the invoice- and instalment business are summarised 
by the net-m privatbank 1891 AG in one risk area. The risks 
resulting from this business line are managed separately and 
in accordance with the development they constitute areas of 
growing importance.

Credit risk is monitored on the basis of the portfolios sub-
ject to credit risk, which apart from the receivables from the 
credit business also include irrevocable credit commitments. 
As at 31 December 2012, the irrevocable credit commitments 
wamounted to kEUR 0, as in the previous year. 

net-m privatbank 1891 AG has a credit strategy which in con-
junction with the regulations regarding credit business pro-
cesses, rating procedures, reporting and monitoring of credit 
business, constitutes the bank’s credit risk handbook and 
therefore establishes a framework for the management of 
credit risks. The limitation of concentration risk is achieved 
primarily through the setting of limits for individual cus-
tomers. A s at 31  December  2012, the credit position of the 
ten largest customers represented 43.6  % (previous year: 
42.9  %) of the portfolio. T his business and the associated 
risks are managed on the basis of risk / return considerations.

Within the context of its credit operations (old business), net-
m privatbank 1891 AG receives collateral. The acceptance and 
measurement of the collateral are subject to clear criteria 
and limits. The collateral is measured on the basis of long-
term recoverable value that can be assumed to be realisable 
with reasonable assurance.

Loan collateral normally takes the form of sureties, guaran-
tees, cash deposits with other banks, assigned or pledged life 
insurance policies or cash deposits with net-m privatbank 
1891 AG.

With regard to the assessment of default risk, borrowers are 
evaluated on the basis of a rating system. In connection with 
investments, in addition to internal assessment, external in-
formation available from rating agencies is used. The rating 
results and collateral play a key role in the lending decision.

Early identification of the counterparty risk is primarily en-
sured by monitoring the customer’s payment history. T he 
small, manageable size of the credit portfolio and the short 
information and decision channels allow borrowers to be con-
sidered on an individual case basis in the local business. I n 
addition, the credit portfolio is analysed within the framework 
of the quarterly credit reports and, where necessary, further 
measures are taken. Conspicuous loans are monitored sepa-
rately or subjected to intensive management.

in kEUR

Maximum de-
fault position 
31 Dec. 2012

Maximum de-
fault position 

31 Dec. 2011

Cash and cash equivalents 30,827 25,162

Banking receivables 11,878 9,506

Trade receivables 31,966 26,855

Other receivables and assets 2,279 1,598

Non-current loans and receivables 7,000 7,452
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The calculation of counterparty risk is managed by an ana
lysis of our loan portfolio on the basis of expected and un-
expected losses or with PD sets (probability of default). The 
management of credit risk at the overall portfolio level is sup-
ported by a variety of analyses. Receivables from factoring or 
instalment- / invoice purchase are valued, externally supplied 
PD sets.

Commitments are written down if there are objective indica-
tions that the amounts owing cannot be collected in accor-
dance with the terms of the contract. In particular, objective 
indications are provided by the payment behaviour of the 
customer. S hould the need for a write-down be identified, 
measures will be taken to either restructure or wind up the 
commitment.

Trade receivables: Assets that are neither impaired nor over-
due are classified as having retained their full value. General 
interest rate risks and risks of default are reflected by a global 
write-down. 

Receivables older than one year have been written down in 
full except where there are clear indications that they have 
retained their value. These write-downs amount to kEUR 1,575 
(previous year: kEUR 1,373) and relate in full to trade receiv-
ables. 

The past-due analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

31 Dec. 2012 

in kEUR

Not due
 

Overdue by up 
to 90 days 

Overdue by up 
to 180 days

Overdue by up 
to 270 days

Overdue by 
more than 

270 days

Total 

Trade receivables 18,893 9,422 312 15 5,008 33,650

Write-downs – 1,684

31,966

31 Dec. 2011 

in kEUR

Not due Overdue by up 
to 90 days

Overdue by up 
to 180 days

Overdue by up 
to 270 days

Overdue by 
more than 

270 days

Total 

Trade receivables 17,679 7,406 – 1,999 597 4,652 28,335

Write-downs – 1,480

26,855

There are no further past-due other financial assets.

Liquidity risks

Liquidity risk, i.e. the risk of not being able to meet current 
or future payment obligations on account of the insufficient 
availability of cash and cash equivalents, is managed cen-
trally at net mobile AG. To ensure solvency at all times, cash 
and cash equivalents are kept available to meet all planned 
payment obligations throughout the Group as they mature. 
These lie both in operating cash flows and changes in short-
term financial liabilities. Furthermore, a reserve is held for 
unplanned reductions in income or additional expenses. This 
is based on historical summaries, adjusted to take into ac-
count changes in the business structure. Variance analyses 
are also performed. T he liquidity reserve, which covers a 

negative deviation from planned cash flows with a set prob-
ability, is calculated from this. The amount of this reserve is 
regularly reviewed and adjusted in line with current circum-
stances as required. Liquidity is mainly held in the form of call 
money and term money investments. In addition, the Group 
also has available bank credit lines in 2012 in the amount of 
EUR 32 million (previous year: EUR 12 million). All the finan-
cial liabilities have a term of less than one year. 

81

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



The subsidiary net-m privatbank 1891 AG monitors its liquidity 
situation on an ongoing basis. The primary cause of liquidity 
risks are changes in customer behaviour, which can lead to 
unexpected outflows. Inflows and outflows of funds are there-
fore monitored regularly. T he liquidity risk is primarily due 
to the dependence on funding opportunities in the market 
and the need for monitoring maturity-congruent refinancing. 
Based on the comparison of cash inflows and outflows, the 
sustainable solvency of the Bank is (lower limit according to 
the liquidity regulation: 1.0) characterised by a liquidity ra-
tio. As at the balance sheet date, this ratio was 6.3. Liquid-
ity was ensured at all times. To further analyse and quantify 
the liquidity risks, a weekly liquidity reporting focuses on 
preview values derived from the planning stage, and adjusts 
them as needed. Free funds are invested primarily in liquid 
tradable financial instruments and bank deposits. I nvest-
ments are diversified in order to limit risk. As at the report-
ing date, net-m privatbank 1891 AG has kEUR 27,619 (previous 
year: kEUR 23,713) in cash and cash equivalents, made up of 
kEUR 17,452 (previous year: kEUR 12,372) in deposits with 
central banks, kEUR 10,167 (previous year: kEUR 5,721) in bank 
receivables on call, kEUR 0 (previous year: kEUR 3,611) in cash 
in hand and kEUR 0 (previous year: kEUR 2,009) in bank re-
ceivables with a term of up to three months.

Market risks

Market risk resides in the fact that the fair value or future 
cash flows of a financial instrument fluctuates owing to 
changes in market prices. Market risk includes currency risk, 
interest rate risk and other price risk. 

We use market information and additional analysis data to 
manage our risks.

We refine our risk assessment and reporting methods on an 
ongoing basis; this includes regularly reviewing the underly-
ing assumptions and parameters used.

Currency risks

As the net mobile Group performs some of its business out-
side the euro nations, currency fluctuations can have a mate-
rial influence on earnings. Currency risks from financial in-
struments exist with regard to receivables, liabilities and cash 
and cash equivalents not denominated in the functional cur-
rency of a company. Currency risk is particularly significant 
for S wiss francs, the US  dollar and the Japanese yen. Cur-
rency risks are systematically tracked, analysed and managed 
centrally. Currency risks are not currently hedged through the 
use of currency forwards, derivatives, hedge accounting, etc. 

Interest rate risks

Interest rate risks mainly apply to financial assets. T he in-
terest rate risk is analysed centrally and managed by the 
Finance division. I n connection with the banking operations 
of net-m privatbank 1891 AG, interest rate risk derives in par-
ticular from maturity transformation. Here, risks develop with 
rises and changes in direction in the yield curve. The mea-
sured risks are compared against the defined risk limit and 
managed and monitored accordingly. The interest rate risk is 
calculated on the basis of dynamic interest rate elasticity tak-
ing into consideration a range of interest scenarios. Scenarios 
based on different interest rate developments are calculated 
in order to assess and quantify the interest rate risk. In addi-
tion, the interest rate risk is also measured in terms of pres-
ent value, using the banking regulatory authority’s interest 
rate shock parameters. T he interest rate shock scenario is 
calculated on a monthly cycle. Interest rate risk is measured 
quarterly.

As at 31 December 2012, an interest rate shock of 200 basis 
points would increase present value by kEUR 42, with an in-
terest rate risk coefficient of 0.45. In the event of an interest 
rate shock of – 200 basis points, the negative change in pres-
ent value would be kEUR 12, with an interest rate risk coef-
ficient of – 0.13.
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6.7. 	Events after the reporting period

The capital increase declared and paid in in December 2012 
was entered in the commercial register in 2013. I n addition, 
the squeeze-out at the subsidiary net-m privatbank 1891 AG 
was registered in the commercial register in 2013. As of April 
2013, the net mobile Group is included in the global cash man-
agement system of the NTT DOCOMO Group. 

7.	 Release 

The Executive Board of net mobile AG approved the consoli-
dated financial statements for submission to the Supervisory 
Board on 17 May  2013. 

Düsseldorf, 17 May 2013

Theodor Niehues 		 Frank Hartmann 		

Dieter Plassmann 	E dgar Schnorpfeil 

Kai Markus Kulas 
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GLOSSARY

Applications	  
Applications software; software that performs a useful func-
tion for the user.

Billing	  
Business process extending in telecommunications from the 
receipt of usage data to the issuing of an invoice.

Billing and collection agreement 
Contract between service provider and invoicing service relat-
ing to the billing and collection (without remaindering, claims 
handling and receivables management) of third-party services.

Call-by-call	  
Case-by-case selection of an operator in telephony; possibility 
of using a different telephony provider by dialling a prefix.

Carrier	  
Operator of telephone networks.

Chat 
Electronic communication in real time.

Content 
Information material in the form of text, images, audio, video, etc.

Content aggregation 
The gathering of web content from different sources.

Content distribution 
Diffusion / delivery of content.

Content management 
The bringing together of processes and the corresponding 
tools in digital form, enabling the simple organisation, sort-
ing and structuring of all information / content.

Content partner 
A provider who supplies content for onward use.

Full-service provider 
Provider of a comprehensive range of services.

Hardware 
Mechanical and electronic equipment of a system.

 
Interactive 
Allowing for two-way interaction.

IP rights 
Intellectual property rights in the commercial field typically 
include patents, utility models, protected designs and trade
marks. The term also covers copyright.

maxmedia 
Group-owned platform for the marketing and distribution of 
multimedia content.

Messaging 
The sending of messages.

MMS 
Multimedia Messaging Service; telecommunications service 
for the sending of multimedia messages.

OECD 
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. 
An international organisation with 33 member states recog-
nising an obligation to promote democracy and the market 
economy. 

Outsourcing 
The contracting out of company functions and tasks to a 
third party. 

Payment provider 
Provider of a payment processing service whereby the 
system provider manages and processes payments as a 
service.

Reselling�
Onward distribution / sale.

Revenue share models 
Distribution of commission, whereby profit is divided 
among the participants.

SMS 
Short Message Service; telecommunications service for the 
sending of text messages.

Voice 
Voice-based communication.
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Auditors’ report 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements pre-
pared by net mobile AG, Düsseldorf, comprising the consoli-
dated balance sheet, the consolidated statement of compre-
hensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity, the consolidated cash flow statement and the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements, together with the 
group management report for the business period from 1 
January  to 31 December  2012. T he preparation of the con-
solidated financial statements and the group management 
report in accordance with IFRS, as adopted by the EU, and the 
additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant 
to section 315a (3) HGB (Handelsgesetzbuch “German Com-
mercial Code”) are the responsibility of the parent company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the consolidated financial statements and on the group man-
agement report based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with section 317 HGB and German gen-
erally accepted standards for the audit of financial state-
ments promulgated by the I nstitut der Wirtschaftsprüfer 
(“Institute of P ublic A uditors in Germany”) (IDW). T hose 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit such 
that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of 
the net assets, financial position and results of operations 
in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
the applicable financial reporting framework and in the group 
management report are detected with reasonable assurance. 
Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and 
legal environment of the group and expectations as to pos-
sible misstatements are taken into account in the determina-
tion of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-
related internal control system and the evidence supporting 
the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and 
the management report are examined primarily on a test 
basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes 
assessing the annual financial statements of those entities 
included in consolidation, the determination of entities to be 
included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation 
principles used and significant estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements and group management 
report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis 
for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consoli-
dated financial statements comply with IFRS, as adopted by 
the EU, and the additional requirements of German commer-
cial law pursuant to section 315a (3) HGB (Handelsgesetzbuch 
“German Commercial Code”) and give a true and fair view of 
the net assets, financial position and results of operations of 
the Group in accordance with these requirements. The group 
management report is consistent with the consolidated finan-
cial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the 
group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and 
risks of future development.

Without qualifying our opinion, we refer to the explanations 
included in the management report. In section C of this report 
it is stated that if the financial support of the NTT DOCOMO 
Group will not be provided in the future and no sufficient funds 
will be available from banks or intercompany loans or similar 
actions, net mobile AG’s ability to continue as a going concern 
is impaired due to illiquidity.

�
Düsseldorf, 29 May 2013

KPMG AG �
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Kuntz	N ölgen�
German Public Auditor	 German Public Auditor
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